
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 
 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: February 13, 2008 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens,  Evaluation Manager  
Elaine Prause, Sr. Industrial Sector Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to the 2003-2005 Production Efficiency Impact Evaluation 
 
The impact evaluation of the Production Efficiency (PE) program covered the first three 
years of the program. These three years covered the ramp up period through 2005, when 
the program was forced to reduce its activities due to availability of funds, ushering in the 
reservation system. Through this time the number of projects and savings grew significantly 
every year while the satisfaction level with the program and its implementation contractors 
has remained quite high. 
 
The evaluation shows that program is doing a good job at delivering the predicted savings 
with a 93% realization rate. The program is also getting industry to increase its efficiency 
level as compared to standard practice with only 18% of the non-megaproject savings 
associated with free-riders. This free-rider rate is at a similar level to that of Energy Trust’s 
Existing Buildings program.  
 
One issue identified by the evaluation is the high variation in actual to predicted savings. 
Much of the variance was due to baseline assumptions and not measure performance. 
Energy Trust is working with the Program Delivery Consultants (PDCs) to develop 
standards for documenting and analyzing projects. For some projects that have fairly 
predictable savings Energy Trust is considering developing prescriptive savings. Energy Trust 
is currently doing research on the small compressed air market to identify such measures. 
 
Improving communication with the customers is also seen as a priority. Clearly informing 
them that participation may require site visits for verification and evaluation as part of 
Energy Trust’s QA/QC and due diligence on the part of investing ratepayer dollars will help 
with evaluation. Also letting customers know that they can consult us on other renewable 
and efficiency projects and about the availability of funding for projects outside of the Energy 
Trust such as BETC or federal tax credits may increase participants’ investment into 
efficiency and renewables. As of 2008 Energy Trust staff is more involved in the daily 
implementation of the program and anticipates the program to have more direct 
communications with and develop long-term relationships with industrial participants. 
 
The depth of analysis for both developing a project as well as evaluating a project were also 
an issue with Megaprojects. Evaluation is now planning to treat Megaprojects more like a 
program unto themselves. Evaluation will: 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
Facsimile: 503-543-6862 


www.energytrust.org 







Staff Response to the 2003-2005 Production Efficiency Impact Evaluation      February 13, 2008 
 


2 


§ Review Megaproject proposals to ensure that appropriate baseline conditions have 
been estimated, savings methods are valid, and that an appropriate monitoring and 
verification (M&V) plan has been proposed 


§ Review Megaprojects as they are implemented to ensure that the M&V plan is being 
implemented 


§ Estimation of the project impacts one year after implementation and possibly 
periodically after this first year. 


 








Energy Trust of Oregon 


Production Efficiency 
Program 2003-2005 


Impact Evaluation  
Final Report 


Funded By 


Prepared For 
Philipp Degens 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 


Prepared By 
Steven Scott, PE 
Brian Crumrine 


 
 
 
 


December 14, 2007 







ENERGY TRUST – PRODUCTION EFFICIENCY EVALUATION  


  
Page i 


 


Executive Summary 
Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (Energy Trust) is an independent nonprofit 
501(c)(3) corporation dedicated to energy efficiency and renewable energy 
development in Oregon. Under an agreement established with the Oregon Public 
Utility Commission in January 2002, Energy Trust receives funding from a 3% 
public purpose charge paid by the customers of Portland General Electric and 
PacifiCorp, Oregon’s two major investor-owned electric utilities. These funds are 
in turn invested by Energy Trust in energy efficiency and renewable energy.  


Energy Trust’s Production Efficiency (PE) Program offers energy efficiency 
services for industrial processes, including manufacturing, agricultural and 
water/wastewater treatment. The program funds studies to identify electrical 
energy efficiency opportunities and provides financial incentives to implement 
these opportunities.  


This impact evaluation covers industrial projects completed under the PE Program 
between January 1, 2003 and December 31, 2005. The evaluation included all 
projects at industrial facilities including compressed air, refrigeration, motor 
systems, pumps, and fans, as well as industrial process modifications. Some 
prescriptive measures, such as motors and lighting, are also included in these 
results.  


Energy Trust has two overall goals for this impact evaluation:  


• To develop reliable estimates of program savings, and 


• To report observations and make recommendations on improving energy 
savings estimates and future evaluations.  


 
Evaluation Approach 
 
As the majority of the energy savings were realized by a relatively small number 
of customer sites, stratification by energy savings was used for the sampling 
approach.  


A total of 98 site visits were performed for this evaluation. This includes 6 sites 
visited for an earlier process evaluation. Another sample was used for telephone 
interviews of 22 smaller participants using the same questions as were asked 
during the site visits.  


In addition to the participant site visits and telephone interviews, the evaluation 
also performed telephone interviews with 33 “audit-only participants” that 







  


ENERGY TRUST – PRODUCTION EFFICIENCY EVALUATION  


  
Page ii 


received an Energy Trust-funded energy study but did not apply for an incentive 
on a recommended project.  
 


Results Summary 


Table I summarizes PE Program energy savings achievements by end-use, and 
Table II provides an overall program summary. The PE Program has achieved an 
overall realization rate of 92.8% for projects implemented in calendar years 2003-
2005 with an overall free-ridership for the program of 17.2% (7.8% with Mega-
projects included). 


Table I: Program Results by End-use, PE Program 2003-2005 


Measure Category 
Working 


kWh 


Engineering 
Adjustment 
/Realization 


Rate 


Gross 
Savings, 


kWh 
Compressed Air  27,089,414  99.95%   27,075,110  


Fresh Water    4,519,322  63.25%     2,762,685  


HVAC    9,564,380  100.00%     9,564,380  


Hydraulics    3,579,654  104.16%     3,728,634  


Lighting  10,567,189  93.20%     9,848,620  


Motors        805,943  77.40%      623,800  


Pneumatic Conveyance  16,122,115  89.24%   14,386,953  


Process Fans    5,768,788  84.78%     4,890,877  


Process Modification 184,955,244  93.76% 173,419,192  


Process Pumping    6,251,153  63.81%     3,989,023  


Refrigeration    5,566,445  97.23%     5,411,981  


Wastewater    4,144,378  77.48%     3,211,238  
 







  


ENERGY TRUST – PRODUCTION EFFICIENCY EVALUATION  


  
Page iii 


Table II: Overall Program Results, PE Program 2003-2005 


 


Evaluation Observations 


This is a summary of the evaluation observations of the PE Program. Detailed 
recommendations to address these observations and for Energy Trust to consider 
for current and future program design and implementation are in the expanded 
version on page 28 of this report.  


The observations are grouped into three categories: program satisfaction, those 
related to evaluation, and customer service. 


Program Satisfaction Observations 
 


• Satisfaction with the PE Program is very high. 


• Regard for PE Program representatives is very high. 


• For a number of customers, this is their first experience with an 
energy efficiency incentive program and it has been positive.  


• Some customers have concerns with perceived variation in Energy 
Trust programs and policies.  


• Some customers have concerns about the number of different 
people representing Energy Trust interests.  


                                                   


1 Mega-projects include two projects at pulp and paper mills and one project at a wood 
products facility. There is no free-ridership associated with Mega-projects. 


 
Working 


kWh 


Engineering 
Adjustment 
/Realization 


Rate 


Gross 
Savings, 


kWh 


Overall 
Market 


Adjustment 
Factor 


Net 
Program 
Savings, 


kWh 


Total,               
Mega-projects1 153,073,574 92.3% 141,307,774 100% 141,307,774 


Total, without  
Mega-projects 125,860,451 93.4% 117,604,718 82.8% 97,362,788 


Total, all projects 278,934,025  92.8% 258,912,492  92.2% 238,670,562  







  


ENERGY TRUST – PRODUCTION EFFICIENCY EVALUATION  


  
Page iv 


 
Evaluation Observations  
 


• Project evaluability is an issue: key information for impact 
evaluation was not uniformly present in project documents. 


• Project data has been inconsistently recorded – the database should 
be redesigned to accommodate all program needs, including 
evaluation. 


• Much of the variance in project realization rate is not due to 
performance, but to baseline assumptions, measure operating 
assumptions and inappropriate analysis approaches – Energy Trust 
should establish standards for level of effort, documentation, and 
analysis of project savings. 


• Many program audit-only participants have installed or are 
planning to install recommended efficiency measures without 
incentives – Energy Trust should consider performing an impact 
evaluation of the projects implemented by the audit-only 
participants. 


• Very large projects should have evaluation oversight assigned 
early in the design and development process. 


Customer Service Observations 
 


• Knowledge and use of the Oregon Business Energy Tax Credits 
(BETC) program is not universal and there is uneven awareness 
that it can be used for projects that save natural gas. 


• Not all customers understand that the PE Program can help with 
efficiency projects beyond their current effort. A communications 
plan could help resolve this issue.  


• For “major accounts” a regular and formal review of project 
opportunities should be undertaken. 


• Projects identified by the evaluation as “not operating as designed” 
and “not achieving savings” should be revisited.







 


ENERGY TRUST – PRODUCTION EFFICIENCY EVALUATION  


  
 


 








 


 


 
 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: February 13, 2008 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens,  Evaluation Manager  
Greg Stiles, Sr. Business Sector Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to the 2004-2005 Building Efficiency Impact Evaluation 
 
The Building Efficiency program (now renamed the Existing Buildings (EB) program) was 
very active in 2004 and 2005 providing incentives for measures in over 1,300 nonresidential 
buildings. The evaluation has shown that the program is running smoothly in the realm of 
delivering the predicted electric savings. 
 
Realization rates of 99% and 104% were respectively achieved for electric measures in 2004 
and 2005. These realization rates will be used in truing-up the 2004 and 2005 savings as well 
as calculating the reportable savings for 2007 and 2008. For lighting measures assumed 
hours and wattages tended to be quite similar to those found during evaluation site visits 
and metering. As a result future evaluations will commit fewer resources to validate these 
numbers.  
 
In the area of gas savings the results vary a bit more, as the realization rate for gas measures 
was 95% in 2004 but only 75% in 2005. No specific overarching reason for this lower 
realization rate was determined as savings came from a variety of custom HVAC measures 
from a diverse group of buildings. The variability is attributed to the program still learning 
how to estimate gas energy savings. This parallels the commercial natural gas industry as 
knowledge of sizing of gas furnaces/boilers, system control parameters, and how systems are 
actually operated and maintained is still a growing field.  
 
The results of the participant electric billing analysis were inconclusive in that the estimated 
drop in energy consumption after installation was far in excess of the savings that could be 
attributed to the measures installed. Energy Trust is in agreement with the evaluators that 
other factors are present that are reducing the electricity consumption of the participants. 
In the 2006-2007 program evaluation a billing analysis will also be performed. We hope that 
a larger sample and the inclusion of more building characteristics data will yield better 
results.  
 
Participant satisfaction with the program was high in 2004 and 2005 with 85% of the 
surveyed participants stating that they were satisfied or very satisfied. Additionally 
participants representing over 21% of the savings reported that the program had influenced 
them to install additional energy efficiency measures for which they did not receive 
incentives. Market spillover rates from comparable studies were used in calculations of 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
Facsimile: 503-543-6862 


www.energytrust.org 







Staff Response to the 2004-2005 Building Efficiency Impact Evaluation       February 13, 2008 
 


2 


reportable and trued-up savings. Program spillover will be researched in greater in the 2006-
2007 evaluation through the use of nonparticipant surveys and inspecting measures that did 
not receive incentives when performing site visits. 
 
The evaluation estimated a free rider rate of 16% and 20% for electric measures in 2004 and 
2005. The 2003-2004 program process evaluation estimated a free rider rate of 17% which 
falls within the range of these two estimates. Gas measure free rider rates varied more from 
year to year with a 35% rate estimated in 2004 and 5% in 2005. With a greater number of 
participants and savings in 2005 we would expect the later estimate to be a better indicator 
of the free rider rate. These realization rates will be used in truing-up the 2004 and 2005 
savings as well as calculating the reportable savings for 2007 and 2008.  
 








 


 
 
 
80th Board Meeting – Annual Meeting 
Wednesday, February 13, 2008 12:00 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Acknowledgement of Tom Foley and Bill Nesmith 
 
12:30 p.m. Call to Order (Tom Foley) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• December 12 meeting minutes   Action 


 


12:40 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 


   
12:45 p.m. Consent Agenda. The consent agenda may be approved by 2 Action 
 A single motion, second and vote of the board. Any item on the  
 Consent agenda will be moved to the regular agenda upon the 
 Request from any member of the board. (Tom Foley) 


• Amending contract execution policy (R465) 
 
12:50 p.m. President’s Report  
 


1:00 p.m. Committee Reports  
   
 ? Board Nominating Committee (Rick Applegate) 3 


• Election to new terms of office (R462)  Action 
• Election of officers (R463)  Action 


 


 ? Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)  Information 
 
 ? Finance Committee (John Klosterman) 4 Information 
 


 ? Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 5 Information 
 


 ? Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 6  
• Amending cost effectiveness policy (R464)  Action 
 


 


2:00 p.m. Renewable Energy Program (John Reynolds) 7 
• Swalley hydro project funding (R467)  Action 
• Juniper Ridge hydropower project funding (R466)  Action 


 







Agenda  February 13, 2008 


   2 


2:30 p.m. Staff Report (Margie Harris) 8 Information 
• Feature presentation: Corvallis Energy Challenge, Jan 
   Schaeffer, Director Marketing & Communications 
• Year-end update 
• Highlights 


 


3:30 p.m. Adjourn 
  


Please note: the next regular and annual meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Wednesday, April 9, 2008, 12:00 noon 


at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor,  
Portland, Oregon 







Agenda  February 13, 2008 


   3 


INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             
Tab 1 Call to order 


• Agenda 
• December 12 meeting minutes   


 
Tab 2 Consent Agenda 


• Amending contract execution policy (R465)  
 
Tab 3 Board Nominating Committee  


• Election to new terms of office (R462) 
• Election of officers (R463)   


 
Tab 4 Finance Committee 


• Dashboard (provided quarterly) 
• November finance report 
• November monthly financials 
• December finance report 
• Unaudited December monthly 
• Financial glossary  


 
Tab 5  Program Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from January 18 
• Business Energy Solutions – Production Efficiency Impact Evaluation and staff response 
• Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Impact Evaluation and staff response 
• Business Energy Solutions – New Buildings Impact Evaluation and staff response 
• Home Energy Solutions – ENERGY STAR Homes Evaluation and staff response 
• 2006 Economic Impact Study (ECONorthwest) and staff response 


 
Tab 6 Policy Committee  


• Notes from January 22 meeting 
• Amending cost effectiveness policy (R464)  
 


Tab 7 Renewable Energy program 
• Swalley hydro project funding (R467) 
• Juniper Ridge hydropower project funding (R466)   
 


Tab 8 Staff report 
• Highlights 
• 4th Quarter report to be distributed at board meeting 


 
Tab 9 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes January 23 
 
 








 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


EVALUATION OF  
BUILDING EFFICIENCY 


PROGRAM 
2004 & 2005 


 
 
 
 
 
 


Final Report  


(Final Draft) 


November 2007 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Prepared for: 


Energy Trust of Oregon 


Prepared by: 


ADM Associates, Inc. 
3239 Ramos Circle 


Sacramento, CA 95827 
916-363-8383 







Appendix D  D-1 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


This report presents the results of the impact evaluation of the Building Efficiency (BE) 
Program that Energy Trust of Oregon (Energy Trust) offered for commercial buildings in 
Oregon during 2004 and 2005.  


The main features of the approach used for the impact evaluation are as follows: 


• Data for the study have been collected through interviews with BE program staff, 
review of program materials and processes, on-site inspections, end-use metering, and 
interviews with participating firms. Based on data provided by Energy Trust, sample 
designs were developed for on-site data collection for the impact evaluation and for 
the telephone survey to collect decision-making information for the net-to-gross 
analysis (and process evaluation). Sample sizes were determined that would provide 
savings estimates for the BE Program with ±10 precision at the 90% confidence level.  


• On-site visits were used to collect data for savings impacts calculations, while 
telephone surveys provided the information for the net-to-gross analysis and process 
evaluation. The on-site visits were used to verify installations and to determine any 
changes to the operating parameters since the measures were first installed. Facility 
staff were interviewed to determine the operating hours of the installed system and to 
locate any additional benefits or shortcomings with the installed system. For some 
sites, monitoring of lighting, HVAC equipment, or motors/VFDs was conducted to 
obtain more accurate information on hours of operation. Table ES-1 shows the sample 
sizes for these various types of data collection. The 67 sites visited from the 2004 BE 
program accounted for about 77% of expected kWh savings and 44% of expected 
therm savings for program year 2004.  The 80 sites visited from the 2005 BE program 
accounted for about 56% of expected kWh savings and 60% of expected therm 
savings for program year 2005. 


Table ES-1.  Sample Sizes for Data Collection Efforts 


Type of Data Collection 2004 2005 
Project file review  132 207 
Participant site visits 67 80 
Short-term metering:   


HVAC 6 6 
Lighting 17 16 
Motors  2 
VFD 3 4 
Custom building 3  


Survey of participant decision makers 52 90 


The major findings and recommendations from the study of the 2004 and 2005 BE 
projects were as follows. 







 


Appendix D  D-2 


• Discrepancies between expected and verified savings were examined on a site-by-site 
basis for a sample of projects. 
− For lighting projects, the examination of individual sites focused on major 


discrepancies between expected and verified energy savings that could be 
attributed to (1) differences in the operating hours for the areas where the energy 
efficiency light fixtures were installed and (2) the use of fixture wattages that can 
be inconsistent from project to project.  Data on operating hours for lighting were 
verified using monitored data, information obtained by interviewing facility 
personnel, and some physical evidence (e.g., posted operating hours of the 
facility).  The monitored data revealed that in a majority of cases the difference 
between monitored and expected operating hours was at or less than 10% of the 
expected operating hours.  Based on these results, it was concluded that the 
expected operating hours are highly consistent with the actual operating hours at 
the site.  


− For HVAC, Building, and VFD measures, most discrepancies were found where 
engineering calculations were used to estimate the energy savings in lieu of 
modeling, especially for those projects where weather data was not used as the 
basis of calculations. In such instances, very broad assumptions were made, which 
may not be applicable or consistent year round.  However, discrepancies of more 
than 10% were found in 16 out 51 sites where HVAC, Building, Motor and VFD 
projects were implemented, and the majority of these discrepancies fall within the 
plus and minus 10-30% range.  The source of discrepancies cannot be generalized 
for these measures. However, it is recommended that all of the measures other 
than lighting projects be reviewed and analyzed on a case-by-case basis. 


− Estimated realization rates for gas-saving 2005 BE projects, realization rates were 
lower than the realization rates for 2004 gas-saving projects or for electric-saving 
projects.  Most of the gas-saving projects with lower realization rates were projects 
in which custom measures were installed to save gas.  Because the measures were 
custom, the reasons for the lower realization rates differed case by case and no 
general reasons provide a complete explanation.  However, in several cases it did 
appear that the heating usage estimated in this study through DOE-2 simulations 
was somewhat higher than had been used in developing the ex ante expected 
savings for the measures. 


• Analysis of billing data for a set of participants confirmed the engineering analyses in 
showing that reductions in electric and gas usage occurred after energy efficiency 
measures were installed.  However, the analysis of electricity billing data showed 
reductions, particularly for larger users, that were larger than expected, suggesting that 
other factors were also working to reduce energy use. The analysis of gas billing data 
showed reductions in gas usage that were consistent with but somewhat lower than 
the reductions estimated through the engineering analysis.   


• In general, the monitoring performed for the 2004 and 2005 projects resulted in 
confirmation of the expected energy savings.  







 


Appendix D  D-3 


− The monitored data for lighting projects revealed that on average, the monitored 
data are consistent with the claimed hours.   


− The monitored data for Building, HVAC and VFD projects confirmed the 
expected variation in operating loads introduced by the addition of the energy 
efficient hardware and/or improved control system.   


• Although the monitored data are not used in the savings calculations for HVAC 
categories, which rely more on DOE-2 modeling, they serve as a good confirmation 
that the monitored system is operating as intended (e.g. HVAC, lighting or other 
building system).  It is recommended that for the next evaluation, monitoring be 
performed whenever possible for all measures as an additional confirmation that the 
system is functioning properly, especially where an Energy Management System that 
provides data trending is not available. 


Gross savings were estimated using proven techniques, including engineering calculations 
using industry standards and verification of computer simulations developed by program 
contractors to determine energy savings. 


Survey-based techniques for estimating free-ridership in a program were applied to the 
data collected through a telephone survey of decision-makers. Data collected through this 
survey were also used to assess qualitatively the extent of program spillover effects.  


The results of the impact evaluation of the Building Efficiency Program for 2004 and 2005 
are summarized in Table ES-2. 


Table ES-2. Summary of kWh and Therm Savings and kW Reductions 
for Building Efficiency Program in 2004 and 2005 


 Expected  
Gross  


Realization  
Rate 


Achieved  
Gross  


Net-to-Gross  
Ratio 


Achieved  
Net 


2004 


kWh savings 37,499,950 98.9% 37,082,583  84.1% 31,191,919 
Therm savings 85,529 94.5% 80,821  64.7% 52,291 
kW reductions Not available Not applicable 6,213 84.1% 5,226 


2005 


kWh savings 56,462,658 104.4% 58,967,894 79.8% 47,076,661 
Therm savings 442,955 75.4% 334,028 94.7% 316,325 
kW reductions Not available Not applicable 18,183 79.8% 14,516 


 








  
 
 


 
Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 79th Meeting 
December 12, 2007 
 
Board members present: Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Tom Foley, Julie Hammond, Al Jubitz (via 
teleconference), Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman, Vickie Liskey, Caddy McKeown, Alan Meyer,  
Preston Michie, Bill Nesmith and John Reynolds 
 
Board members absent:  John Savage 
 
Staff attending:  Pete Catching, Diane Ferington, Lakin Garth, Fred Gordon, Margie Harris,  
Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Linda Rudawitz, Pati Presnail, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan Schaeffer, John Volkman, 
Peter West, Kendall Youngblood 
 
Others attending:  Paul Berkowitz, CSG; Michael Early, ICNU; Don Jones Jr., Pacific Power;  
Lori Koho, OPUC; Bob Stull, PECI; Cliff Schrock, E. C. Company; Alecia Dodd, CSG 
 
 
Business Meeting 
President Tom Foley called the meeting to order at 12:10 pm.  
 
November 14, 2007, meeting minutes. 
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the November 14, 2007, meeting.  
 


Moved by: Caddy McKeown Seconded by: Alan Meyer 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on December 12, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 


General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  
 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
The consent agenda may be approved by a single motion, second and vote of the board. Any item on the consent 
agenda will be moved to the regular agenda upon the request from any member of the board. 
 







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


2 


Alan Meyer asked to move resolution 460, authorizing the president to sign an updated employment 
agreement with the executive director, and resolution 459, offering individual 401(k) investment advice 
option, to the regular agenda.  
 
Tom Foley asked the board to meet in executive session to discuss personnel matters related to 
resolution 460. 
 
The board met in executive session until 12:45 pm. 
 
Debbie Kitchin arrived during the executive session. 
 
Rick Applegate left the meeting at the end of the executive session. 
 
Establishing 2008 401(k) employer contribution. 


 
RESOLUTION #458 


APPROVING EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION TO 401(k) PLAN FOR 2008 


WHEREAS  
1. The Energy Trust wishes to provide a reasonable compensation package to its 


employees; and 
2. The Tompkins Group previously recommended an employer contribution of 6% 


of base salary (gross salary excluding benefits) to the Energy Trust 401(k) 
retirement savings plan as comparable to contributions made by similar 
organizations. The board, and its Compensation Committee, have reviewed 
more recent information showing that a contribution of 6% of base salary 
remains reasonable. 


3. In 2007, Energy Trust arranged for an independent survey of 
compensation/benefit packages in comparable organizations, but the survey did 
not lend itself to a comprehensive comparison of 401(k) contributions.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. That for the plan year ending December 31, 2008, the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
Board of Directors authorizes an employer contribution to the 401(k) plan equal to six 
percent (6%) of calendar year 2008 base salary for all eligible employees. 


2. The board requests that the compensation committee by fall, 2008 oversee a further 
comparison of 401(k) contribution levels in the context of overall compensation/benefit 
packages, and consider the advisability of a 401(k) employer matching contribution. 


 
 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Preston Michie 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


Adopted on December 12, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


3 


Authorize offering individual 401(k) investment advice option. Alan Meyer requested clarification of 
who pays: Energy Trust or individual employees seeking this investment advice. Margie said Energy Trust 
would pay about $2,700/year for the service, an amount that would grow as the plan’s assets grow. Each 
participating employee (there presently are nine indicating a desire to participate) would pay $10/month 
for the services. Alan asked if there are liability issues for Energy Trust. John Volkman said there are 
none; several years ago the law changed to allow 401k providers to get in this business. Preston Michie 
noted Energy Trust would not be giving the advice but, rather, would hire an expert to give the advice. 
He noted the risk to Energy Trust is no different than the risk of contributing 6% into the 401k. John 
Klosterman said he supported the proposal as a learning opportunity, and noted it will sunset in two 
years unless the board chooses to extend it.  


 
RESOLUTION #459 


APPROVING OPTION FOR INDIVIDUAL 401(k) INVESTMENT ADVICE 


WHEREAS  
1. The Energy Trust wishes to offer an optional service to help employees make 


individual 401(k) plan investment decisions in the context of their other 
investments; and 


2. Invesmart offers such a service at a cost to Energy Trust of about $2,700 in the 
first year (the fee would grow in future years with the size of the plan’s assets). 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors: 


1. Authorizes the executive director to sign a contract with Invesmart to provide 
the Mainspring investment option to all eligible employees, and to renew this 
service for up to two years. 


2. Supports employees paying a monthly fee to participate in the program. 


3. Requests the compensation committee to review Energy Trust employees’ 
experience with this service and, not later than December 1, 2009, recommend to 
the board whether this service should continue to be offered. 


4. This option will be continued beyond 2009 only if the board affirmatively decides 
to do so. 


 
 


Moved by: Caddy McKeown Seconded by: John Reynolds 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
 
Adopted on December 12, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


4 


Authorize Tom Foley to sign executive director’s employment agreement.  


 
RESOLUTION #460 


AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT TO SIGN AN UPDATED EMPLOYMENT 
AGREEMENT WITH THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 


WHEREAS  
1. The current employment agreement with the Energy Trust executive director was 


executed in 2001 and has not been revised since.  
2. The current agreement does not address some subjects, establishes detailed 


procedures for issues for which the organization now has its own more appropriate 
procedures, and has terms that were appropriate in 2001 but now seem 
inappropriate or unnecessary.  


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors: 


1. Authorizes the President to sign the updated agreement with executive director, as 
discussed in connection with this meeting. 


2. The updated agreement shall be effective beginning January 1, 2008. 
 


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Vickie Liskey 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on December 12, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 


2008-2009 Action Plan and 2008 Budget 
 
Approving 2008 budget. Margie presented a summary of changes between the draft and proposed final 
budgets: 
 


• A net revenue increase of $1.6 million 
• A $5.7 million increase in expenses: Electric efficiency increased $5.5 million, gas efficiency 


increased $100,000, and renewable energy programs up $100,000. Most of the resulting changes 
stemmed from projected carryover funds being added to PGE.  


• Adjustments to savings/generation targets: The electric savings best case goal went up by 2.3 
aMW, gas savings projections increased by 36,000 annual therms and the renewable generation 
best case scenario increased slightly by .4 aMW. 


 
Margie noted Jason Eisdorfer had requested this summary be added to the presentation, with the 
further agreement that a summary of changes between the draft and proposed final budget be included 
in the board packet concerning the final budget. This will make it easy for the board and the public to 
track changes between the two documents.  







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


5 


Al Jubitz noted he was able to watch Margie’s presentation on his computer and was pleased with the 
use of this technology. (Al participated in the board meeting via teleconference.) 
 
Margie reviewed projections for year end 2007. We expect to exceed our best case electric savings goal 
(33.7 aMW) by 3-7%. We expect to achieve 85-90% of our best case gas goal of 2.1 million annual 
therms. Renewable energy programs are anticipated to exceed the conservative accounting-based goal 
and fall short of the activity-based goal. This is primarily due to the withdrawal of a utility scale project 
late in the year by Pacific Power and with no replacement project identified. 
 
Margie then summarized public comments received, including: 
 


• For renewables, there was support for emphasizing commercial solar and biopower projects as 
well as retaining overall diversity of program offerings 


• For efficiency, the emphasis on commercial was supported, along with increased market 
research and simplifying forms and participation 


• The energy efficiency incentive budget should be increased if program demand warranted 
 
She summarized OPUC staff and Commissioner comments on the draft budget and action plan as 
follows: 
 


• Lee Beyer said we are pushing the maximum he is comfortable spending on marketing and 
outreach 


• Interest in and discussion of the particular functions provided by proposed IT staff and 
conversion of staff from contractor positions 


 
Lori Koho commented that it might be useful to do a small demo for the Commission of what it is like 
to mine data from the information systems. This might help the Commission to understand the 
complexity of our work in this area. Margie said we would consider doing this.  
 
Margie then noted the renewable themes for the budget, indicating they have not changed between the 
draft and proposed final budgets. Total renewable energy budgets for 2008 remain essentially the same. 
A $240,000 difference from the draft budget reflects an increase in utility revenue forecasts and a 
corresponding adjustment of program and allocated costs. There are new revenues from both electric 
utilities for 2008. Preston Michie noted that the restoration of the conservation rate credit could affect 
utility revenues, if the utilities reduce rates they increased last year when the rate credit was removed.  
 
Lori said OPUC is working now on achieving consistency in the way utilities calculate their public 
purpose charges. 
 
Margie said there are no changes in the 2008-09 efficiency themes. She highlighted a $1.3 million 
increase in efficiency revenue, achieved by directing more carryover funds for PGE territory, and 
reducing the base activity in Pacific Power territory by $1.5 million. The net change in expenses is $5.5 
million, with a corresponding savings increase of 2.3 aMW. She reviewed the proposed final efficiency 
budget by utility, reflecting changes in the balance of activity between electric utilities as well as new 
revenues coming from updated utility forecasts. She reviewed the net re-distribution of funds among 
efficiency programs.  
 
Alan Meyer wondered if there is an error in the New Homes & Products number. He referenced the 
one-pager for New Homes, showing lower savings and increased spending on marketing and program 
delivery. Margie said the change reflects adjustment to the downturn in the real estate market, involving 







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


6 


increased emphasis on reaching builders and filling the pipeline for ’09. Margie said last quarter we signed 
up nine more homebuilders committed to building 100% ENERGY STAR new homes. Debbie Kitchin 
noted the phenomenon that, in a down market, more premium homes are built that might achieve 
higher efficiency levels compared to standard homes. Tom Foley asked staff to look more closely at 
Alan’s questions before preparing a revised budget next spring. Fred Gordon mentioned the residential 
code change to take effect in April, in response to which we are focused on reaching as many builders as 
possible to help them meet the new code and make sure the code works. He said we intend to claim 
savings from the new code because we believe the code change would not have gone forward without 
our preparing the market through the New Homes program.  
 
Margie reviewed the 2008 best case program goals. 
 
She then asked Lori for an update on the SB 838 tariffs recently filed by PGE and Pacific Power. Lori said 
there were questions about whether all elements of PGE’s filing met the definition of cost effective 
efficiency. The proposed tariff would take effect June 1. Pacific Power had the “cleaner” filing, with fewer 
data requests from OPUC. Lori thought their tariff would take effect January 26, the Monday after the 
last public hearing in January.  
 
Jason Eisdorfer noted that in both filings, the utilities propose to retain some of the funds for use within 
the utility to facilitate and direct projects to Energy Trust. In both cases, the money retained by the 
utility counts as part of calculating Energy Trust performance measures.  
 
Margie reported on a recent worksession in our offices with representatives of the OPUC, CUB, PGE 
and Energy Trust. Participants discussed some of these same issues, defining next steps.  
 
Tom Foley asked when we will know how much SB 838 funding will come to Energy Trust. Lori said 
February 1 for Pacific Power, and that PGE is farther away. Lori noted that not all of the proposed  
incremental utility funds retained by the utility would apply to Energy Trust cost effectiveness analysis, 
such as funds for low income.  
 
Margie reviewed Energy Trust growth indicators, which show a five-fold increase in the number of 
projects completed between 2004 and 2008; a seven-fold increase in the number of transactions/checks 
written from 2004 to 2008; and, a 10-fold increase in number of contacts over that four year period. 
 
Margie reviewed 2008 proposed staffing, unchanged from the draft budget. She noted that, by the end of 
2009, we expect to: 
 


• Complete Renewable Energy Act transitions 
• Effectively manage growth, expectations and resources 
• Achieve greater results in new markets with new partners 
• Exceed customer expectations 


 
Fred Gordon discussed a spreadsheet presenting cost effectiveness calculations and levelized cost by 
program at the current assumed 3% discount rate. He noted Energy Trust and OPUC are getting closer 
to resolving what assumptions to use for discount rates and levelized cost ceilings in the future.  
 
Preston Michie asked about market variability for commodities. Fred said we do not attempt to model 
this complexity.  
 







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


7 


Alan Meyer observed that the percentage for program delivery is increasing fairly significantly compared 
to increases in incentives—roughly a 10% increase in program management cost compared to 
incentives. He asked what accounts for this. Margie said Lori had asked that same question in a CAC 
meeting. She said the changes reflect the need to ramp up and be ready for increased investment of SB 
838 monies. This includes identifying new markets that are harder to reach. Alan thought the budget did 
not include SB 838 funds. Sue said this is true on the revenue side and, on the expense side, we are 
using carryover funding to ramp up. Jason said he thinks it is prudent to do this, knowing that the SB 838 
filings have been made.  
 
Alan noted the discrepancy gets worse in 2009. Steve said that is because we create 2009 numbers by 
applying an escalation factor across most programs. We expect to be more specific when we know the 
amount of SB 838 funds we will receive. Tom said he believes it unnecessary to dwell on 2009 numbers 
now because they are going to change.  


RESOLUTION #457 


ADOPTION OF 2008 BUDGET 


 BE IT RESOLVED: That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors 
 approves the 2008 budget as presented in the board packet. 


 


Moved by: Vickie Liskey 


 


Seconded by: Preston Michie 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 
 


Adopted on December 12, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 


Approving 2008-2009 action plan. Margie noted the action plan will need to be updated to reflect SB 
838 funds.  


 
RESOLUTION #456 


ADOPTING 2008-2009 ACTION PLAN 


BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors approves the 
two-year 2008-2009 Action Plan as presented in the board packet. 
 


Moved by: John Reynolds Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on December 12, 2007, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


8 


Preston Michie thanked Margie for inviting and the board for receiving the presentation at the last 
meeting by Don Hammerstrom, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, USDOE. Tom Foley 
commented that the presentation may have been too technical and detailed for audiences like ours.  


Board members reflected on how smoothly the budget process has gone in the last two years compared 
to early years. Margie said many staff have a part in this and mentioned some of them, including Sue 
Meyer Sample and Pati Presnail. John Klosterman and Jason Eisdorfer commended Margie personally on 
her depth of knowledge about what is in the budget.  


Lori Koho noted there are a lot of things in the upcoming year that will require partnerships. This is not 
easy and is time-consuming. She suggested we should be aware of this.  
 
Break 
The board took a short break at 2:00 pm. 
 
President’s Report 
 
Tom Foley said he took part in the energy efficiency cluster roundtable at last week’s Oregon Business 
Leadership Summit. A chief concern was lack of trained staff; one of the outcomes will likely be an 
increase in training opportunities for energy efficiency technicians. The summit itself was interesting. 
Both U.S. Senators Blumenauer and DeFazio spoke. He would recommend all board members and 
Margie go to the summit next year. It provides an opportunity to explain what Energy Trust is to high-
level officials and business leaders.  
 
Tom also noted the state is supporting a green building initiative run through universities. He has set a 
meeting with Jennifer Allen at PSU to talk about this.  
 
Jason Eisdorfer left the meeting at 2:30 pm. 
 
Bill Nesmith commented on the legislative session starting in February. It is supposed to be a short 
session lasting four weeks. However, the chair of the House Revenue Committee has reopened 
discussion of BETC. Legislation adopted in 2007 offers a 50% tax break to any renewable manufacturing 
company seeking to come to Oregon. This has triggered an incredible response from solar companies 
seeking to locate in Oregon—about a billion dollars worth of applications. The rules propose a limit of 
two $20 million tax credits per year per company. Some feel this amount is too little and felt they were 
promised more. Bill noted the impact on revenues now appears much larger than was represented 
during the 2007 session. He said the main BETC program also has seen some increase in applications, 
but nothing like what has happened in the new renewables manufacturing sector.  
 
Bill said the governor’s office is interested in putting together an energy efficiency bill like this year’s 
Renewable Energy Act. Preston asked if this includes demand response. Bill said the bill will include 
whatever the governor’s office decides to include. For the Renewable Energy Act (REA) the governor 
created a renewable energy working group; something similar will be created for the efficiency bill.  
 
On the federal level, Congress has debated a national energy bill. By the end of last week support for 
the bill, which included a renewable energy portfolio requirement, disintegrated. He has heard from 
some Congressional staff that average bills take seven years from idea to enactment; energy bills take 12 
years.  
 







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


9 


Bill is on the board of the National Association of State Energy Officials (NASEO). They have an affiliates 
program, whereby some other organizations can participate. He has suggested to Margie that Energy 
Trust consider joining. The cost is $2,500.  
 
Committee Reports 
 
Audit Committee. Julie Hammond said the committee met today. Representatives of our auditor 
participated and explained some of their new tasks, including looking at the interface between FastTrack 
project management and Great Plains accounting software. The committee also discussed the 
management audit required by the OPUC grant agreement for 2009. There was considerable discussion 
about how the audit might be done differently from last time.  
 
Compensation Committee. John Klosterman noted this committee met a couple weeks ago. The 
committee will look harder at the 6% employer contribution to the 401k plan and whether an employee 
match should be required. He noted the benefit package continues to fall below the 28% cap and actually 
fell a little in 2007. They discussed the bi-annual compensation survey done by the MBL Group, which 
included an abbreviated benefits survey. The committee’s next meeting is in early February. 
  
Finance Committee. John Klosterman noted the hockey stick effect is coming in later this year. He 
stated results continue to lag forecasts. He would like to achieve greater predictability. He asked board 
members to review the finance glossary (included in the packet) once or twice a year.  
  
Policy Committee. John Volkman said the policy committee had met twice since last time. They 
discussed the discount rate of 3%, which we have used historically, noting OPUC would like us to use a 
discount rate that is consistent with the one utilities use in developing integrated resource plans. We 
expect the new performance measures to set a higher levelized cost cap, allowing us to use a higher 
discount rate. He noted we have scheduled a meeting January 9 to talk with ODOE and utilities about 
carbon credits. 
 


Staff Report 
 
Feature presentation. Betsy Kauffman, Energy Trust’s renewable energy outreach and program 
manager, and Dave Bugni. Mr. Bugni is a structural engineer and an Energy Trust program participant. 
About a year ago his family decided to undertake a small hydropower project. Betsy explained the open 
solicitation program, which she manages. She calls it the non-dairy creamer program—it’s defined by 
what it’s not. It’s an incubator for technologies. She showed examples: Kettle Foods solar, Stoller 
Winery solar, Sunderland Yard small wind, Gresham wastewater biogas project. In the past year the 
program has approved four projects: the Portland Habilitation Center and East Portland Community 
Center solar third party projects, the Swalley Irrigation District hydro project and David Bugni’s micro-
hydro project. 
 
She noted the project is 4.4 kW in capacity and is expected to produce 25,000 kWh per year. Project 
cost was $53,000; Energy Trust provided $13,391. It is net-metered and will power all of the Bugni’s 
home and home-based business electrical needs. They are going to create electrical resistance heat for 
air and water to cut their oil use in half. Dave said because this was a self-install, payback will take only a 
few years. He expects to be generating electricity in January.  
 







Discussion Minutes                        December 12, 2007 
 


10 


Betsy then showed photos of the intake box (captures 20% of the streamflow in summer, 3-5% in 
winter), a pipe that goes 750 running feet and 40 feet down in elevation to the turbine (moved into 
place by the local Estacada football team), and two turbines (run one in summer, both in winter).  
 
John Klosterman asked if Dave would accept tours. He said he would. He does structural engineering 
for PGE; PGE was contacted by an individual in the Dundee area interested in microhydro technology, 
and Dave provided a tour.  
 
Margie asked if Dave had any suggestions for how to improve his experience working with Energy Trust. 
He said his only suggestion is to avoid duplication of questions in the two-step application process.  
 
Al Jubitz asked how Dave sized his system, noting there is much more water in the winter. David said 
factors included not wanting two hugely differently sized pumps, the desire to involve his whole family in 
construction, which suggested small scale, and other factors. He noted there was only one micro-sized 
turbine manufacturer, which influenced him to use pumps.  
 
Highlights of staff report. Margie noted she participated in the first meeting of the new, smaller 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) board. New expert committees will soon be organized in 
key functional areas. She reported Margie Gardner has accepted the position of executive director at 
Bonneville Environmental Foundation.  
 
Margie described that Energy Trust has released an RFP for research on efforts nationwide to position 
energy efficiency as a solution to global climate change. We are undertaking this research with several 
other regional organizations, including Bonneville Power Administration, NEEA, PECI and the 
Northwest Power and Conservation Council.  
 
She noted that she and staff are exploring ways to potentially coordinate with California’s new energy 
efficiency initiatives. She also drew attention to our work in Corvallis to establish a community energy 
project.  
 
She introduced Steve Lacey, who explained staff’s wish to extend SAIC’s program management contract 
for a third year. Resolution #365 was adopted December 14, 2005. That resolution asserted that staff 
would report to the board in July 2007 on SAIC’s progress toward achieving contract renewal criteria. 
John Reynolds asked if, when we rebid the contract in 2008, whether we expect competition among 
bidders. Steve said we do expect competition, although he noted SAIC has performed well.  
 
Margie continued with staff report highlights. She noted growth in activity, mentioned the research by 
Smart Power on attracting solar participants, and noted progress in filling approved positions.  
 
Lastly, Margie read a note from a family that is developing acreage in Clackamas County. Energy Trust 
hired Nathan Good, architect, to conduct an interactive “charrette” with designers, planners and others 
working to make this a net zero, carbon neutral, light footprint mixed-use community.  
 


Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 3:45 pm. 
 
Next meeting. The next regular and annual meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be 
held Wednesday, February 13, 2008, 12:00 noon at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 
12th Floor, Portland, Oregon. The meeting is open to the public. 
 








 
 
Board Decision 
Amending Contract Execution Policy  
February 13, 2008 


Summary 
 


Clarify the contract execution policy that the board amended in October. 
 


Background 
 
The contract execution policy allows the Executive Director, General Counsel or other officer 
designated by the Executive Director to execute “personnel contracts and agreements” without Board 
review or approval of basic terms. This is basically a normal part of the hiring process.  


 
Board members thought the policy’s language should be clarified to make clear that it addresses only 
hiring of staff and in-house contractors, not consultant or other third-party contracts. 


 
Analysis 
 
The language shown below in redline would delete “personnel contracts and agreements” and substitute 
“staff and in-house contractors,” to clarify that the personnel addressed by this paragraph are only in-
house personnel. 


 


Recommendation 
 
Amend the contract policy by adopting resolution number 465. The proposed amendment was favorably 
reviewed by the Policy Committee in November, 2007. 


 


RESOLUTION #465 


APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE ENERGY TRUST 
CONTRACT EXECUTION POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust Board of Directors has delegated to the executive 
director authority to execute all contracts on behalf of the organization 
consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement, governing law and 
board policy.  


2. The board last amended the contract execution policy in October, 2007. 
The board now wishes to clarify that section 6 of the policy authorizes 
the executive director or her designee to sign staff or in-house contractor 







Amending Contract Execution Policy  February 13, 2008 


employment agreements, not agreements for other types of professional 
services.  


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of 
Oregon, Inc.:  amends the Energy Trust contract execution policy as follows:  


 
 
 
5.05.009-P Contract Execution and Oversight Policy  
 
History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review Date 
Board Decision September 8, 2004  September 2007 
Board Decision February 13, 2008 Amended (R465) February 2011 


 
Purpose:  The Energy Trust Board of Directors has delegated to the Executive Director authority to execute all 
contracts on behalf of the organization consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement and governing law. This 
policy regulates the implementation of this authority. 
 
Policy: 
1. All contracts shall be consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement and governing law. 
 
2. The Energy Trust legal department shall review as to form all contracts before submitting them 


to the Executive Director. 
 
3. Contracts over the amount of $500,000:   


• No contract will be executed unless the Board of Directors has first reviewed and approved 
its basic terms.  


• When it approves basic contract terms, the Board may instruct the Executive Director to 
bring a final contract back to the Board for review and approval before the contract is 
executed. 


• The Executive Director shall not execute contract amendments that make major changes in 
contract terms (e.g., more than 10% change in funds obligated, more than 20% change in 
energy saved or produced, time by which savings will be achieved) unless the Board of 
Directors has first reviewed and approved the basic terms of the change. 


 
4. Contracts under $500,000:  The Executive Director or, if the Executive Director is 
 unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the Executive 
 Director, is authorized to execute contracts involving less than $500,000 without Board 
 review or approval of basic terms. 


 
5. For programs managed directly by Energy Trust staff, incentive agreements that involve less than 


$500,000, and are processed in accordance with standardized program forms and procedures 
that have been reviewed by the legal department may be approved by the relevant department 
director or management-level staff designated by the department director.  
 


6. Staff and in-house contractor employment agreements:  The Executive Director or, if the 
Executive Director is unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the 
Executive Director, may execute staff and in-house contractor employment agreements without 
Board review or approval of basic terms. 







Amending Contract Execution Policy  February 13, 2008 


 
7. Contracts not involving a dollar expenditure may be signed by the relevant director or his/her 


designated manager(s). 
 
8. The Executive Director shall maintain contract records required for an independent audit. 
 
 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 


 


 
 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: February 13, 2008 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens,  Evaluation Manager  
Spencer Moersfelder, Business Sector Manager 


Subject: Staff Response for the 2004-2005 New Buildings Program Impact Evaluation 
 
The evaluation has shown that the New Buildings (NB) program is running smoothly in the 
realm of delivering the predicted electric savings. Realization rates above 100% were 
estimated for electric measures in both 2004 and 2005. For lighting measures assumed 
hours and wattages tended to be quite similar to those found from the site visit and 
metering. As a result future evaluations will focus fewer resources to validate these 
numbers.  
 
In the area of gas savings the results vary a bit more, as the realization rate for gas measures 
was just over 100% in 2004 but only 42% in 2005. No specific overarching reason for this 
lower realization rate was determined as savings came from a variety of custom HVAC 
measures from a diverse group of buildings. With the small number of gas incentives high 
year to year variances are not unexpected. Lower gas realization rates were also estimated 
in the Existing Buildings (EB) program and the Boiler Tune-up portion of the Building Tune-
Up and Operations (BTO) program (now part of the EB program). Staff believes that we are 
still learning how best to calculate gas energy savings. Knowledge of the commercial gas 
market in the area of sizing of gas furnaces/boilers, their system control parameters, and 
how systems are actually are operated and maintained is still a growing field. Evaluation 
expects to focus more on gas projects in the future to firm up many of the operating 
assumptions and system parameters that are used to estimate savings. For example 
evaluation of the BTO program indicated that gas boiler systems’ hours of operation and 
loads were much lower than expect. 
 
Participant satisfaction with the program was high in 2004 and decreased in 2005. 
Comparisons with prior evaluations could not be made due to different wording of the 
satisfaction question. What the exact reasons for this decrease in reported satisfaction with 
the overall program will be researched more in the current process evaluation. However, 
the program did manage to provide incentives to buildings representing nearly 20% of all of 
Oregon’s nonresidential new construction completed in 2005. 
 
The evaluation estimated a free rider rate of 23% and 21% for 2004 and 2005. This falls 
within the range of other studies of commercial new construction programs around the 
nation and not that much more than the EB program. Additionally participants representing 
5% of the savings reported that the NB program had influenced them to install additional 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
Facsimile: 503-543-6862 


www.energytrust.org 







Staff Response for the 2004-2005 New Buildings Program Impact Evaluation      February 13, 2008 
 


2 


energy efficiency measures. A later review of modeled energy consumption showed that 
buildings generated an average 9% additional savings from measures that did not receive 
program incentives. Spillover will receive a greater emphasis in the evaluation of 2006 and 
2007 participants. 
 
 
 
 
 
 








 
 
 
Board Decision 
Elect John Klosterman, Preston Michie and Al 
Jubitz to New Three-Year Terms on the Energy 
Trust Board of Directors 
 
February 13, 2008 
 


Purpose   
 
Re-elect John Klosterman, Preston Michie and Al Jubitz to new three-year terms on the Energy 
Trust Board of Directors; and request the nominating committee to explore candidates to fill 
Tom Foley’s board position. 


 


Background  
 
When the Energy Trust board was created in 2001, three members were given one-year terms, 
three had two-year terms, and three had three-year terms. In February 2002, the board set 
future terms at three years in order to maintain the staggered schedule. 
 
John Klosterman, Preston Michie, Al Jubitz and Tom Foley occupy terms that end in 2008. Tom 
has announced that he is resigning from the board and a new nominee will be needed. The 
other three members have indicated to the board nominating committee their willingness to 
continue to serve, and the board needs to decide whether to elect them to new three-year 
terms. 
 


Recommendation  
 


Adopt the resolution below.  
 







R462 Election of Board Members and Officers  February 13, 2008 


2 


 


RESOLUTION #462 
 ELECTING JOHN KLOSTERMAN, PRESTON MICHIE AND AL 
JUBITZ TO NEW TERMS ON THE ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF 


DIRECTORS 
 


WHEREAS:  
 
1. The terms of incumbent board members John Klosterman, 


Preston Michie, Al Jubitz and Tom Foley expire in 2008. 
 


2. Tom Foley has announced his intention to retire from the board. 
The board nominating committee has recommended that the 
other three members’ terms be renewed. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
Board of Directors:   
 


1. Elects John Klosterman, Preston Michie and Al Jubitz, incumbent 
board members, to new terms of office that begin in 2008 and end 
in 2011; 


 
2. Requests the nominating committee to explore candidates to fill 


the vacancy left by Tom Foley, who is retiring. 
 
 


Moved by: _____________   Seconded by: _______________ 
 


Vote:    In favor: _____   Abstained: ______ 
 


  Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for no vote] 
 
 








 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


IMPACT EVALUATION  
OF NEW BUILDING  


EFFICIENCY PROGRAM 
FOR 2004 AND 2005 


 
 
 
 
 
 


Final Report 


(Final Version)  


November 2007 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Prepared for: 
Energy Trust of Oregon 


Prepared by: 
ADM Associates, Inc. 


3239 Ramos Circle 
Sacramento, CA 95827 


916-363-8383 







Appendix E E-1 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


This report presents the results of the impact evaluation of the New Building Efficiency (NBE) 
Program that Energy Trust of Oregon (Energy Trust) offered for businesses in Oregon during 
2004 and 2005.  


Data for the study were collected through interviews with NBE program staff, review of program 
materials and processes, on-site inspections, end-use metering, and interviews with participating 
firms.   
• On-site visits were used to collect data for savings impacts calculations. The on-site visits 


were used to verify installations and to determine any changes to the operating parameters 
since the measures were first installed. Facility staff were interviewed to determine the 
operating hours of the installed system and to locate any additional benefits or shortcomings 
with the installed system.  


• Monitoring of lighting, HVAC equipment, or motors/VFDs was conducted to obtain more 
accurate information on hours of operation.  


• Electric and gas billing data for some participants were provided by The Energy Trust. 
• Using the on-site, monitored, and billing data, gross savings were estimated using proven 


techniques, including computer simulations using DOE-2.   
• A survey of decision makers for sites in the NBE Program in 2004 and 2005 provided the 


information for the net-to-gross analysis. Survey-based techniques for estimating free-
ridership in a program were applied to the data collected through the survey of decision-
makers.  


• Data collected through the survey of decision makers were also used to assess qualitatively 
the extent of program spillover effects. Participants representing about 5.6% of realized kWh 
savings for 2004 projects and about 4.5% for 2005 projects provided answers that indicated 
some spillover was occurring at their sites. 


Table ES-1 provides summary statistics on the numbers and square footages for sites for which 
different types of data collection were conducted. 


The results of the impact evaluation of the New Building Efficiency Program for 2004 and 2005 
are summarized in Table ES-2.   
• In general, the evaluation of the projects in the NBE Program in 2004 and 2005 resulted in 


confirmation of the expected energy savings, with realization rates for gross savings being 
just over 100% for kWh savings in 2004 and 2005 and therm savings in 2004.  Therm savings 
in 2005 showed a lower realization rate of 41.9%. 


• Net-to-gross ratios were also similar between the two years. 







 


Appendix E E-2 


Table ES-1.  Summary of Data Collection Effort 


2004 2005  


Number of Sites Square Footage 
of Sites Number of Sites Square Footage 


of Sites 
Program Participants 


 18 999,461 85 3,866,462 


Sites where Data Collected On-Site 


 18 999,461 72 3,585,523 


Sites Monitored 


Monitored  
for lighting 4 256,928 27 1,708,912 


Monitored  
for HVAC, 
VFDs, etc. 


0 0 3 48,204 


Monitored  
for both lighting 
and HVAC 


2 76,545 5 432,651 


Totals for 
monitored sites 6 333,473 35 2,189,767 


Sites with electric billing data 


 9 495,731 41 2,662,281 
Sites Represented in Decision Makers Survey 


 14 818,833 70 3,366,565 


Table ES-2. Summary of kWh and Therm Savings and kW Reductions 
for New Building Efficiency Program in 2004 and 2005 


 Expected  
Gross  


Realization  
Rate 


Achieved  
Gross  


Net-to-Gross  
Ratio 


Achieved  
Net 


2004 
kWh savings 3,007,619 108.4% 3,259,592 67.2% 2,190,793 
kW reductions n/a n/a 1,030 67.2% 692 
Therm savings 25,573 100.7% 25,759 67.2% 17,310 


2005 
kWh savings 8,719,145 103.6% 9,035,782 68.8% 6,216,949 
kW reductions n/a n/a 2,401 68.8% 1,652 
Therm savings 124,854 41.9% 52,341 69.1% 36,168 


 


 








 
 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: February 13, 2008 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens,  Evaluation Manager  
Kendall Youngblood, Residential Sector Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to ENERGY STAR Homes Evaluation 
 
The evaluation of the Energy Trust’s ENERGY STAR homes program provides only a 
snapshot in time of a dynamic program operating in a very dynamic market place. The 
change in the Oregon energy code set to take place in April 2008 will have a major impact 
on the Energy Star program. As of that date, all homes built in Oregon will be built to a level 
comparable to the current Northwest Energy Star specification. The Program’s success in 
builder recruitment and achieving a high market share helped support the decision to 
increase the Oregon residential building energy code. Improving energy code was a long-
term program market transformation goal that was achieved many years earlier than 
anticipated. 
 
This market transformation success comes with its own program challenges. Changes in 
energy codes will require new Energy Star specifications. Incorporation of a new more 
advanced building specification for Oregon into the Energy Star program will take time it will 
require negotiations with NEEA and EPA. The types and cost effectiveness of new 
specifications and features also need to be worked out and agreed upon by the multiple 
parties involved.  
 
Energy Trust will retain the current Energy Star specification in the program to assist in the 
transition to the new energy code and plans to introduce the more advanced Energy Star 
specification in 2009 as a program requirement. The new advanced Energy Star specification 
will be developed and piloted during the 2008 program year. This experience will help in 
designing the 2009 builder support services (training, marketing etc.) as well as the builder 
option packages that will be offered. 
 
The program has also been successful in aligning its program goals with many of its partners. 
As of 2008, Earth Advantage is requiring that all Earth Advantage homes be Energy Star 
compliant. In 2007 the Portland area Multiple Listing Services has also decided to include a 
field in its database that identifies a home as Energy Star. This MLS feature will help home 
buyers to identify energy efficient homes as well as enable realtors to sell homes based on 
Energy Star features. 
  
Staff is in agreement that program marketing needs to be improved to increase the home 
buyer awareness of Energy Star and its’ associated benefits. In keeping with our contractor 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
Facsimile: 503-543-6862 


www.energytrust.org 







Staff Response to ENERGY STAR Homes Evaluation           February 13, 2008 
 


2 


driven model, staff views outreach to realtors and coop advertising with and marketing 
support for builders to be the major channels for marketing. In the 2008 transition period 
marketing will focus on the 3rd party verification aspect of the program and builders building 
to the new advanced Energy Star specification. During this time of transition staff does not 
believe that the program would benefit by restricting Earth Advantage from carrying out its 
present roles of verifier and Builder Outreach Specialist. In 2009 the results of NEEA’s 
impact evaluation of Energy Star homes will also be available for use in marketing. In the 
mean time the program is rewriting the ENERGY STAR home owner manual and updating 
the website.  
 
The slow down in the housing market is affecting the ENERGY STAR homes program. Staff 
agrees that program goals should be supplemented with a penetration goal to reflect a 
percentage of the new homes market, in addition to energy savings goals. 
 
Energy Trust is phasing out buyer incentives for Energy Star manufactured homes in 2008. 
The program is focusing its efforts on providing support to participating retailers and 
manufacturers. 
 








 
 
 


 
 


Board Decision 
Election of Board Officers 
February 13, 2008 


 
RESOLUTION #463 


ELECTING OFFICERS OF  
ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 


 
WHEREAS: 
 


1. Officers of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (other than the 
Executive Director and a Chief Financial Officer) are elected by 
the Board of Directors at the board’s annual meeting.  


 
2. The Board of Directors nominating committee has nominated 


the following directors to serve as officers for 2008: 
 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Board of Directors hereby elects the following as 


officers of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., for 2008: 
 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


 
 


Moved by: _____________  Seconded by: _______________ 
 
Vote:  _____ in favor  _____ abstained 
 
Opposed: [name]______________ 
  
Adopted on (date) ___________by the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors. 


 
 








 


 


 


PROCESS EVALUATION OF  
ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON’S  


ENERGY STAR® NEW HOMES PROGRAM 


Prepared for: 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON 


Prepared by: 


OPINION DYNAMICS CORPORATION 
28202 Cabot Road   Suite #300 


Laguna Niguel, CA 92677 
 (949)365 - 5730 


www.opiniondynamics.com 


Contact: Sharyn Barata, Vice President - Marketing 


October 2007







Page 2  Process Evaluation of the ENERGY STAR Homes Program 


 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


Energy Trust of Oregon (Energy Trust) promotes the construction of ENERGY STAR® Homes 
through a four-pronged, program approach aimed at targeting single family home builders, trade 
allies, manufactured home retailers and builders and home buyers. Through the ENERGY STAR 
New Homes Program, Energy Trust offers builders, manufactured home retailers and trade 
allies’ financial incentives and technical assistance to encourage the construction ENERGY 
STAR homes. Dually, the program works to educate home buyers about the benefits of energy 
efficient homes and to encourage prospective buyers to seek out ENERGY STAR homes using 
rebate programs.  
 
Energy Trust enlisted the help of Opinion Dynamics Corporation (ODC) to conduct a process 
evaluation of the ENERGY STAR New Homes program. The ODC evaluation assessed the 
efficacy of the ENERGY STAR New Homes Program through in-depth interviews of program 
staff and strategic partners and through telephone interviews conducted with recent ENERGY 
STAR home buyers. The evaluation focused on the ENH program from January 2006-March 
2007.  The new manufactured home buyer survey was conducted between December 21, 2006 
and February 12, 2007 and the new home buyer survey was conducted between December 21, 
2006 and April 2, 2007.  All Program Management Contractor staff (PMC)and strategic partner 
interviews were conducted between May and September 2007.  This process evaluation is 
intended to be forward-looking and to provide actionable recommendations in order to guide 
Energy Trust’s future program efforts.   


Overall Recommendations 
When considering the future of the ENERGY STAR New Homes (ESH) program, ODC believes 
that the program’s continued success lies in its ability to disseminate education-based ESH 
messaging, enhance consumer and market actor’s knowledge of ENERGY STAR’s benefits, and 
re-align the ESH program goals to promote intrinsic program value by moving away from an 
incentive-based system.   
 
To assist Energy Trust in this forward-looking, education-based approach, ODC has provided 
four key recommendations: Revive Marketing and Target Strategies; Simplify Program Delivery 
and Structure; Refocus on Quality Assurance and Satisfaction; Move Away from an Incentive-
Based System.  


Revive Marketing and Target Strategies 
Many market actors reported that customers do not actively seek out ENERGY STAR homes. 
Moreover, less than two-thirds (67%) of current ENERGY STAR home owners are even aware 
that they have purchased an ENERGY STAR home. From this information, it is clear that 
growth opportunities exist for ENERGY STAR homes. However, Energy Trust faces intrinsic 
marketplace barriers evinced through home buyers’ lack of program awareness, and builder and 
market actors’ reported confusion between the program messaging, specifications, and 
requirements of other programs in the marketplace (NEEA, LEED, Earth Advantage) and 
ENERGY STAR. In order to maximize ENERGY STAR homes market potential, ODC 
recommends that Energy Trust: 


• Capitalize on program synergies, and where possible align ESH program 
specifications, messaging and promotion with other Programs: Revisit current 







Process Evaluation of the ENERGY STAR Homes Program Page 3 
 


 


program offerings and determine key synergistic areas.  For example, review Earth 
Advantage’s requirement for their builders to build homes to ENERGY STAR 
specifications.   


• Increase Marketing Efforts through Consumer Education Initiatives: Focus marketing 
efforts on educating home buyers about the benefits of ENERGY STAR homes by 
demonstrating clear, quantified differences between ENERGY STAR homes and 
others on the market. This effort will not only increase demand but also counteract 
potential disincentives builders may have in participating in the program if builders 
perceive an increase in consumer awareness.   Increased training and support of real 
estate agents is key in getting the word out to consumers. 


 
• Provide Marketing Materials to Collaborating Market Actors: Energy Trust currently 


has market actors eager and willing to disseminate awareness-raising materials to 
consumers. Realtors and builders want additional marketing materials to provide to 
their customers. Energy Trust should continue to take advantage of these pre-existing 
channels to communicate the benefits of the ESH program to prospective home 
owners.  


Simplify Program Structure and Delivery  
• Reassess Program Structure: Under the current program structure, the program’s savings 


goals are determined by the quantity of ENERGY STAR homes built, rendering goals 
unobtainable in a slow housing market. In order to combat this problem, Energy Trust 
should consider new goals independent of market trends through redefining success in 
terms of market share (i.e. - number of ENERGY STAR homes built as a percent of all 
homes built). This revised approach allows for fluctuation in the marketplace without 
creating intrinsic implementation disincentives. 
 


• Align Programs: Currently, the differences between Energy Trust, Earth Advantage and 
NEEA creates marketplace confusion and the perception of duplication. In order to 
remedy this problem, Energy Trust should attempt, where possible, to align itself to other 
program specifications.  


 
• Clarify and Streamline the Participation Process: While the interviewed builders 


reported high levels of satisfaction with the ESH program, there is still room for 
improvement. The ESH participation process appears to be a source of confusion for 
some market actors. Paperwork is sometimes perceived as duplicative and cumbersome, 
often having to be filled out multiple times for different programs. Where practical and 
possible, ESH should align and streamline forms.    Dually, the respective roles of and 
channels of communication between PMCs and builders and verifiers is obscure. One 
suggestion is to create a specific website for builders to simplify, illuminate, and clearly 
delineate the participation process and how to get in touch with a Building Outreach 
Specialist. 







Page 4  Process Evaluation of the ENERGY STAR Homes Program 


 


Refocus on Quality Assurance and Customer Satisfaction 
 
ODC’s research has revealed that quality assurance is a growing concern for consumers.  Several 
single-family home buyers do not feel that their home meets the ENERGY STAR construction 
standards citing high utility bills, air coming through the windows, and the presence of non-
ENERGY STAR appliances in their homes. To remedy these concerns, ODC recommends that 
the ESH program: 


• Require Builder Training: Under the current system, builder training is optional. Energy 
Trust should address quality control concerns by requiring builders to take part in ESH 
trainings 


• Provide Purchasers with a Better Understanding of the Program Benefits: Currently 
ENERGY STAR homes do not require appliances in the home to be ENERGY STAR.  
This is confusing for purchasers.  It is recommended that Energy Trust considers offering 
ESH purchasers a total ENERGY STAR package (BOP). Also, with or without the 
inclusion of this package, consumers should be made aware of the fact that while the 
house is being certified as ENERGY STAR, the appliances in the home are not 
necessarily ENERGY STAR.   


 
Move Away From Incentive-Based System  
 
ODC believes that Energy Trust needs to cast a wider net and move away from an incentive-
based system in order to maintain and increase market presence.  


• Cast a Wider Net: Currently the ESH program works with a fraction of its potential 
collaborators. ENERGY STAR should work with market actors whose business interests 
align with its goals and objectives, including, but not limited to, real estate agents, 
builders or any other entity that sells or markets homes. 


• Consider Moving Away From an Incentive Based System: ODC’s research revealed that 
many ENERGY STAR manufactured home buyers are not submitting their rebate forms. 
This finding may demonstrate that the rebate itself may not be the primary incentive for 
purchasing an ENERGY STAR manufactured home. ODC believes that Energy Trust 
should move away from providing incentives to market actors, builder, and home buyers 
and focus instead on developing materials to educate builders and consumers on the 
benefits of ENERGY STAR.  


 
 








commitments made in year for future years  ($millions)
2008 2009


BioPower 0.8$               0.4$               
Open Solicitation 0.6                 0.0$               
Solar PV 1.3                 -$              
Utility scale 2.2                 2.2$               
Wind 0.0                 -$              
PROJECTS 4.8$               2.6$               


Master agreement - n/a


TOTAL 4.8$               2.6$               


Renewable Energy Programs


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
Quarterly Dashboard-Fourth Quarter 2007 (UNAUDITED)


March 2002-December 2007 Progress Toward 2012 
Goals


157.4
6.6


63.8


Series2,  142.7 


Series2,  12.4 
Series2,  86.2 


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


300 
aMW


19 
Million 
Thms


150 
aMW


Fourth Quarter YTD 2007 Progress Toward 
Conservative 2007 Annual Goals


33.8 2.2


46.8


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


24.6 
aMW


1.81 
Million
Annual 
Therms


114.9 
aMW


Public Purpose Revenue and expenses - total company
Dec 2007 YTD Budget Comparison (in Millions)


58.9


68.0


63.3


56.9


$50
$52
$54
$56
$58
$60
$62
$64
$66
$68
$70


Revenue Expense


Budget Actual


Cash Balance Forecast
Jul 2006-Dec 2009 


based on
most recent incentive forecast


$0.0
$10.0
$20.0
$30.0
$40.0
$50.0
$60.0
$70.0
$80.0


Jul
06


Oct
06


Jan
07


Apr
07


Jul
07


Oct
07


Jan
08


Apr
08


Jul
08


Oct
08


Jan
09


Apr
09


Jul
09


Oct
09


Jan
10


Energy Efficiency Programs 
Incentives 2007


Actual spending as % of annual budget
cumulative for the year


0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Commitments Uncommitted budget


Energy Efficiency Programs
Incentives 2008


Commitments-to-date as % of annual draft budget
cumulative for the year


0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Commitments Uncommitted projection


Electric spending - efficiency and renewable Dec 
2007 YTD (in Millions)


44.8


12.6


36.3


10.4


$0


$10


$20


$30


$40


$50


Efficiency Renewables


Budget Actual


Gas spending - efficiency programs
Dec 2007 YTD (in Millions)


10.5


10.2


$10


$10


$10


$10


$10


$11


$11


Efficiency


Budget Actual








 
 
Finance Report 
November 30, 2007 
 
Review November 2007 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 
 


November’s balance sheet reflected an increase in activity for the month. It shows the expensing 
of approximately $260k of the $400k prepaid for the “Fall Change a Light Campaign”, as well as 
a full month’s NEEA expense. Fixed assets increased to reflect the purchase of new solar project 
management software.  Energy Trust also received the refund of the deposit paid at the old 
office space during November.  Cash and investment balances increased very slightly in 
September.  We currently expect to finish 2007 with close to $70 million in cash and escrows. 
Of that amount, about $18.5 million is anticipated to be reserved in escrow and board 
designated accounts.  


 
Income Statements 
 


With the exception of PGE, public purpose revenues for the month tracked pretty closely with 
budget again this month. On a year-to-date basis, total revenue continues to exceed budget by 
about $3.4 million, with PGE representing $3 million of that variance. PGE’s previous forecasts 
did not include the additional collections for the residential rate credit decision which was 
reversed earlier this year.  
Expenses in November were approximately 75% of budget. The increase in total expenses 
compared to prior months reflects the beginning of the projected “hockey stick” effect at the 
end of the year. However, this increase is less dramatic than what was budgeted. 


  
 Revenue 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $4.0 million (7% variance).  
o PGE 2007 YTD  November 


§ EE revenue variance $2.5 million 
§ RE revenue variance $.5 million 


o PacifiCorp 2007 YTD November 
§ EE revenue variance $.5 million 
§ RE revenue variance $.2 million 


o NW Natural YTD November 
§ EE revenue variance $.4 million 


o Cascade YTD November 
§ EE revenue variance $.03 million 


o Avista YTD November 
§ EE revenue variance - $.1 million 


• Conservation rate credit revenue variance will continue throughout year 
o Will remain below budget by $1.35 million 
o Court ruling on BPA’s residential exchange program will increase variances for 


remainder of year, unless overturned 
o Only received $550,000 of budgeted $1.1M in PGE revenue 
o Received none of budgeted $800,000 revenue from PacifiCorp 
o Not incurring/reporting any CRC related expenses for either utility 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $802 thousand (37% variance) 
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending and more revenue 







Finance Report  November 30, 2007 


 2 


  Expenses 
• Expenses overall below budget by $10.3 million (20% variance from budget) 


o By line item 
§ Program management, delivery, marketing $961 thousand (9% of expense 


variance) 
• Delivery primarily in commercial sector, then industrial and residential. 


PMC marketing costs are over budget in the commercial sector, 
particularly in the existing buildings program where efforts are 
continuing  to improve and maintain the pipeline of projects. Program 
management costs are $119 thousand over budget in the residential 
sector despite the downturn in the housing market.  


§ Incentives $5.7 million (55% of expense variance) Forecasted to be about 11% 
below budget by year end, but with all EE programs exceeding conservative 
goals and many exceeding best case electric goals. Expect to come close to 
achieving the conservative case gas goals, except in new homes program.  


• Commercial sector (24% of incentive variance) 
o Existing buildings 


§ Existing buildings-although underspent, program doing 
well in acquiring savings through lighting projects. 
Buildings in market transition are not doing expensive 
mechanical projects as expected, keeping incentive 
payments lower than budget 


• Industrial sector (31% of incentive variance) 
o Program focusing on rebuilding pipeline and creating future 


commitments; several big projects were delayed until 
December; still forecasted to come in below budget at year end 
by approximately $1.6 million 


• Residential sector (15% of incentive variance) 
o New home construction underspending due to market 


conditions 
o Spring lighting and washer campaigns continuing to do very well; 


will reflect significant activity in December as well, overcoming 
shortfall in underspending in New Homes 


o Retrofit projects also much better than expected, particularly in 
gas projects 


• Renewable energy (30% of incentive variance) 
o Solar, Wind & Open Solicitation each 30% of total Renewable 


variance. In Solar, incentives are below budget primarily due to 
decisions by businesses to delay installations until legislation to 
increase the state Business Energy Tax Credit from 35% to 50% 
was enacted.  In PGE service territory new caps and new 
incentive offerings are being implemented to improve solar 
uptake. In Wind, feasibility studies are lagging and turbine 
availability continue to contribute to delays. In the Open 
Solicitation Program feasibility studies are also lagging. 


 
§ Professional services $3 million (29% of expense variance) 


• Over 40% of variance is in evaluations and planning—delays in 
scheduling of some large evaluations  


o EB, NB and PE—work began in Fall 
• Renewables inspection and project analyses still delayed 







Finance Report  November 30, 2007 


 3 


• Delayed contracting of IT consultants resulting from delay in letting of 
contract for enterprise architecture study and its results 


• Administrative units-postponement of analysis and implementation 
based on study results and system evaluations; still evaluating possibility 
of salvaging accounting and contracting systems 


 
o By division 
§ Energy efficiency 
§ $7.5 million under spent from budget (17%) 


• Electric efficiency under spent $8.0 million 
• Continued good news-gas efficiency over spent $.5 million 


§ Renewable energy   
• $2.8 million under spent from budget (43%)—solar, wind open solicitation and 


biopower programs all underspent 
• Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 


o 6%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year November was 6.1%. Last month’s rate was 5.9%. 








 
 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: February 13, 2008 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens,  Evaluation Manager  
Matt Braman, Planner/Analyst 


Subject: Staff Response to the 2006 Economic Impact Study 
 
Energy Trust staff views that the results of this study provide information that will primarily 
be used to support policy decisions at the state and regional level.  
 
The findings are based on a well known input-output model that is frequently used to 
estimated state and regional economic impacts. The assumptions the study used to generate 
employment impacts are clearly stated and straightforward. 
 
A portion of the employment impacts are long-term in nature as they are generated by 
annual energy savings. Energy Trust will have the cumulative employment impacts estimated 
in the next economic impact study. Energy Trust is planning on performing an economic 
impact study on an annual basis. 
 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
Facsimile: 503-543-6862 


www.energytrust.org 








NOV OCT NOV Change fromChange from
2007 2007 2006 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 59,526,472 59,119,309 47,109,935 407,162 12,416,537
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 12,055,330 12,002,415 6,722,296 52,915 5,333,034
  Receivables 16,837 37,569 27,438 (20,733) (10,601)
  Prepaid Expenses 227,370 470,071 53,546 (242,701) 173,824
  Advances to Vendors 470,760 815,092 509,169 (344,332) (38,409)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
   Total Current Assets 72,296,768 72,444,456 54,422,384 (147,688) 17,874,384


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 860,748 851,248 793,883 9,500 66,865
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                   -                   
  Office Equipment and Furniture 31,805 31,805 65,620 -                   (33,815.89)        


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,005,895 996,395 972,846 9,500 33,049
  Less Depreciation (898,453) (892,877) (793,760) (5,576) (104,693)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 107,442 103,518 179,086 3,924 (71,644)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 35,500 36,412 (9,500) (10,412)
  Deferred Compensation Asset 46,438 37,725 21,080 8,713 25,358


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Total Other Assets 72,438 73,225 57,492 (787) 14,946


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Total Assets 72,476,648 72,621,200 54,658,962 (144,552) 17,817,685


============ ============ ============ ============ ============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 2,188,955 2,330,691 1,243,393 (141,735) 945,562
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 275,206 265,014 235,878 10,192 39,328
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue -                   -                   5,000 -                   (5,000)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 2,464,161 2,595,704 1,484,271 (131,544) 979,890


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 172,838 174,245 188,994 (1,407) (16,156)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 46,438 37,725 21,080 8,713 25,358
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 12,386 12,586 750 (200) 11,636


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 231,662 224,556 210,824 7,105 20,838


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Total Liabilities 2,695,823 2,820,261 1,695,095 (124,438) 1,000,728


Net Assets
  Current Yr Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 15,672,845 15,723,343 16,419,954 (50,498) (747,109)
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 12,055,330 12,002,415 6,722,296 52,915 5,333,034
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE 12,500,000 12,500,000 12,500,000 -                   -                   
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 29,325,964 29,348,495 17,094,931 (22,531) 12,231,032
  Temp, Restricted Net Assets-Beg, of Year 226,686 226,686 226,686 -                   -                   


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Total Net Assets 69,780,825 69,800,939 52,963,867 (20,114) 16,816,958


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 72,476,648 72,621,200 54,658,962 (144,552) 17,817,685


============ ============ ============ ============ ============
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
November 30, 2007


(Unaudited)







 January February March April May June July August September October November Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,935,995$     4,713,766$     3,733,210$     3,257,960$     2,244,730$     767,185$        501,447$        (206,834)$       605,993$        1,170,750$     (20,114)$         20,704,087$      


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,338            23,099            23,100            7,501              7,170              9,673              6,766              6,621              5,890              6,063              5,576              124,797            
Deferred Rent Amortization (1,406)            (1,408)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (1,408)            (1,407)            (1,407)            (15,480)             


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable (2,333)            (11,344)           8,535              (5,843)            9,599              (3,922)            (6,213)            20,528            (3,751)            (16,493)           20,734            9,497                
Other Receivables 16,967            5,067              (4,871)            (5,500)            972                2,623              (9,708)            62                  4,036              15,775            -                 25,424              
Advances to Vendors 309,115          301,027          (541,037)         224,790          (638,949)         311,239          202,773          345,545          (544,676)         217,904          344,332          532,063            
Other Assets 7,512              5,142              5,914              7,234              (30,582)           3,676              13,861            (478,060)         48,059            6,515              243,488          (167,241)           
A/P - Program Subcontracts 44,061            (478,910)         65,862            270,423          1,432,136       (611,586)         986,924          741,779          (895,972)         (1,462,943)      (51,908)           39,866              
A/P - Incentives (3,435,761)      -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (406,300)         -                 40,000            (40,000)           (3,842,062)         
A/P - Professional Services (15,222)           16,781            (13,143)           (9,489)            20,644            (28,483)           27,189            (8,497)            (2,022)            (9,578)            (2,793)            (24,613)             
A/P - Operations (75,882)           31,845            (54)                 18,070            57,697            (66,776)           (22,716)           41,992            (1,508)            3,771              (47,034)           (60,595)             
Payroll and related accruals 6,620              27,020            (10,839)           15,311            (6,262)            (3,315)            9,842              (11,155)           (2,795)            22,999            18,905            66,331              
Other long-term liabilities -                 (2,646)            -                 -                 16,944            1,296              (18,740)           75                  -                 (665)               (200)               (3,936)               


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 813,004          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202          1,690,018       44,349            (788,153)         (7,308)            469,578          17,388,139        


Investing Activites:


Acquisition/(Disposal) of Capital Assets (35,874)           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (3,356)            -                 -                 (22,728)           (9,500)            (71,458)             
Cash used in Investing Activities (35,874)           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (3,356)            -                 -                 (22,728)           (9,500)            (71,458)             


Cash at beginning of Period 54,265,120      55,042,250      59,671,689      62,936,958      66,716,008      69,828,700      70,208,902      71,895,564      71,939,913      71,151,760      71,121,724      54,265,120        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 777,130          4,629,439       3,265,269       3,779,050       3,112,692       380,202          1,686,662       44,349            (788,153)         (30,036)           460,078          17,316,681        


Cash at end of period 55,042,250$    59,671,689$    62,936,958$    66,716,008$    69,828,700$    70,208,902$    71,895,564$    71,939,913$    71,151,760$    71,121,724$    71,581,802$    71,581,802$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-06 and 2008-B-02


Forecast 
2007-F-06


2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,041,711         7,119,632         6,525,491         5,727,906         5,502,427         4,467,534         4,438,611         4,664,309         4,733,285         4,524,664         4,694,922         5,725,070       


  Investment Income 224,763            198,968            261,255            259,515            283,915            272,704            293,953            310,367            280,557            277,270            279,663            267,528          


Total cash in 6,266,474         7,318,600         6,786,746         5,987,421         5,786,342         4,740,238         4,732,564         4,974,676         5,013,842         4,801,934         4,974,585         5,992,599       


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 799,167            1,280,281         1,674,685         592,812            499,731            1,616,952         220,068            1,077,433         2,514,563         2,653,941         1,121,016         726,802          


    Incentives 4,021,536         825,038            1,283,071         1,032,259         1,394,232         1,932,340         2,083,920         3,111,688         2,603,918         1,389,664         2,554,601         5,978,427       


    Salaries and related expense 318,210            331,121            336,260            337,468            354,640            339,038            325,359            350,351            375,272            357,466            362,015            466,007          


    Professional services 146,199            198,709            152,383            201,102            308,139            332,535            321,770            250,599            253,657            263,824            278,123            30,150           


    General operating expenses 204,232            54,012             75,078             44,730             116,908            139,171            94,785             140,256            54,585             167,076            198,752            12,581           


Total cash out 5,489,344         2,689,161         3,521,477         2,208,371         2,673,650         4,360,036         3,045,902         4,930,327         5,801,995         4,831,970         4,514,507         7,213,967       


Net cash flow for the month 777,130            4,629,439         3,265,269         3,779,050         3,112,692         380,202            1,686,662         44,349             (788,153)          (30,036)            460,078            (1,221,369)      


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 54,265,120       55,042,250       59,671,689       62,936,958       66,716,008       69,828,700       70,208,902       71,895,564       71,939,913       71,151,760       71,121,724       71,581,802     


Ending cash & MM 55,042,250       59,671,689       62,936,958       66,716,008       69,828,700       70,208,902       71,895,564       71,939,913       71,151,760       71,121,724       71,581,802       70,360,433     


Escrow & Designated Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 19,247,454       19,272,701       19,295,555       19,321,014       19,332,502       19,373,606       19,399,218       19,424,889       19,450,137       19,475,642       24,502,415       24,555,330     


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      5,000,000         -                      (127,138)        


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 25,247             22,854             25,459             11,488             41,104             25,612             25,671             25,248             25,505             26,773             52,915             48,529           


Board Designated (Payments)/Funding -                      -                      (6,000,000)      


Ending Escrow & Designated Balance1
19,272,701       19,295,555       19,321,014       19,332,502       19,373,606       19,399,218       19,424,889       19,450,137       19,475,642       24,502,415       24,555,330       18,476,721     


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-06 and 200


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow & Designated Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Board Designated (Payments)/Funding


Ending Escrow & Designated Balanc
1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,510,957         6,964,634         6,532,790         5,989,955         5,110,125         4,892,367         4,695,038         4,905,005         4,948,356         4,776,640         4,803,275         5,522,022         


220,664            213,491            213,884            211,941            210,363            207,545            203,418            198,423            189,784            179,431            168,710            155,557            


6,731,621         7,178,125         6,746,674         6,201,896         5,320,487         5,099,912         4,898,457         5,103,428         5,138,140         4,956,071         4,971,985         5,677,580         


992,271            2,005,715         2,309,261         1,394,889         1,395,289         2,393,307         1,481,977         1,482,177         2,436,822         1,551,140         1,551,140         2,367,914         


9,157,691         3,405,410         3,768,372         4,352,380         2,881,961         2,940,416         3,229,600         4,416,072         4,684,843         5,231,239         5,673,793         6,628,274         


510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            510,779            


711,648            485,693            485,693            485,693            582,310            552,360            556,360            563,643            563,643            567,143            547,482            548,032            


188,031            167,933            157,827            222,394            214,528            214,312            173,166            166,451            186,793            160,456            155,314            150,117            


11,560,420       6,575,530         7,231,933         6,966,136         5,584,867         6,611,174         5,951,881         7,139,122         8,382,880         8,020,757         8,438,507         10,205,116       


(4,828,799)        602,595            (485,259)          (764,239)          (264,380)          (1,511,262)        (1,053,424)        (2,035,693)        (3,244,740)        (3,064,686)        (3,466,523)        (4,527,536)        


70,360,433       65,531,634       66,134,229       65,648,970       64,884,731       64,620,352       63,109,090       62,055,666       60,019,972       56,775,232       53,710,546       50,244,023       


65,531,634       66,134,229       65,648,970       64,884,731       64,620,352       63,109,090       62,055,666       60,019,972       56,775,232       53,710,546       50,244,023       45,716,487       


18,476,721       18,446,955       18,389,537       18,263,157       18,074,800       17,984,758       17,872,896       17,654,921       17,565,734       17,508,203       17,311,051       17,237,950       


(78,077)            (105,552)          (174,143)          (235,484)          (136,607)          (158,020)          (263,467)          (134,058)          (102,106)          (241,212)          (116,616)          (79,357)            


48,310             48,134             47,763             47,128             46,565             46,158             45,492             44,871             44,575             44,061             43,515             43,295             


-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      


18,446,955       18,389,537       18,263,157       18,074,800       17,984,758       17,872,896       17,654,921       17,565,734       17,508,203       17,311,051       17,237,950       17,201,888       


Budget 2008-B-02 (no 838)







November YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,611,425 2,237,718 373,707 29,607,676 26,596,615 3,011,061


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,515,069 1,499,687 15,381 18,523,420 17,842,339 681,081


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 483,691 389,992 93,699 8,801,957 8,444,021 357,936


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 71,668 46,424 25,244 810,347 778,097 32,250


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 13,070 27,800 (14,730) 147,093 250,200 (103,107)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 4,694,922 4,201,620 493,301 57,890,492 53,911,272 3,979,221


Conservation Rate Credit - PGE -                 -                 -                 550,000 1,100,000 (550,000)


Conservation Rate Credit - Pacificorp -                 -                 -                 -                 800,000 (800,000)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Conservation Rate Credit -                -                -                550,000 1,900,000 (1,350,000)


Revenue from Investments 258,929 193,753 65,176 2,933,432 2,131,285 802,147
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 4,953,851 4,395,374 558,477 61,373,924 57,942,556 3,431,368
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,413,240 1,497,391 84,151 14,250,412 15,211,115 960,703


Incentives 2,775,057 4,320,320 1,545,262 18,638,016 24,342,786 5,704,771


Salaries and Related Expenses 380,920 367,397 (13,522) 3,853,530 4,055,769 202,238


Professional Services 275,330 508,556 233,226 2,682,426 5,681,777 2,999,351


Supplies 2,342 3,354 1,012 23,651 45,396 21,745


Telephone 4,276 6,346 2,070 36,208 69,804 33,596


Postage and Shipping Expenses 17,132 3,413 (13,719) 47,649 48,738 1,088


Occupancy Expenses 24,439 25,654 1,214 332,655 334,228 1,574


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depreciation 45,987 18,706 (27,280) 263,465 325,988 62,523


Call Center 7,491 22,588 15,097 141,045 204,647 63,603


Printing and Publications 4,864 11,925 7,061 109,234 151,575 42,342


Travel 5,360 15,961 10,601 90,809 187,573 96,764


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp. 6,325 19,138 12,812 109,255 208,343 99,087


Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                 1,500 1,500 338 16,550 16,212


Insurance 5,499 5,000 (499) 51,506 55,000 3,494


Miscellaneous Expenses 155 2,124 1,969 2,195 22,198 20,002


Dues, Licenses and Fees 5,546 4,641 (905) 37,441 54,489 17,048
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 4,973,965 6,834,013 1,860,048 40,669,837 51,015,976 10,346,139
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSE (20,114) (2,438,639) 2,418,525 20,704,087 6,926,580 13,777,507
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 30,992,056 1,896,372 32,888,428 -                           32,888,428
Payroll and Related Expenses 852,482 608,724 1,461,206 951,285 363,655 1,314,940 2,776,146
Outsourced Services 1,276,204 493,818 1,770,022 217,075 204,502 421,577 2,191,599
Planning and Evaluation 636,410 76,580 712,990 13,204 13,204 726,194
Customer Service Management 283,242 28,419 311,661 -                           311,661


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 34,040,394 3,103,913 37,144,307 1,181,564 568,157 1,749,721 38,894,028


Program Support Costs


Supplies 4,467 3,463 7,930 4,995 2,909 7,904 15,834
Postage and Shipping Expenses 40,862 1,046 41,908 2,994 1,100 4,094 46,002
Telephone 3,327 2,513 5,840 2,360 647 3,007 8,847
Printing and Publications 64,413 8,774 73,187 4,728 24,917 29,645 102,832
Occupancy Expenses 74,928 53,848 128,776 70,829 33,109 103,938 232,714
Insurance 11,601 8,338 19,939 10,967 5,126 16,093 36,032
Equipment 2,968 23,249 26,217 2,805 1,339 4,144 30,361
Travel 29,625 17,779 47,404 23,795 3,199 26,994 74,398
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 23,150 10,947 34,097 52,766 4,950 57,716 91,813
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 250 250 88 88 338
Depreciation & Amortization 5,983 4,300 10,283 5,655 2,644 8,299 18,582
Dues, Licenses and Fees 22,394 1,606 24,000 5,710 4,001 9,711 33,711
Miscellaneous Expenses 451 150 601 1,048 101 1,149 1,750
IT Services 722,321 119,983 842,304 180,462 59,829 240,291 1,082,595


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,006,490 256,246 1,262,736 369,202 143,871 513,073 1,775,809


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 35,046,884 3,360,159 38,407,043 1,550,766 712,028 2,262,794 40,669,837


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 6.0%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2007







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $22,940,095 $14,229,736 $8,801,957 $810,347 $147,093 $46,929,227 $6,667,581 $4,293,685 $10,961,265 $57,890,492
Conservation Rate Credit 550,000 550,000 550,000
Revenue from Investments 2,933,432 2,933,432


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 23,490,095 14,229,736 8,801,957 810,347 147,093 47,479,227 6,667,581 4,293,685 10,961,265 2,933,432 61,373,924


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 1,081,255 751,474 647,666 54,211 20,799 2,555,405 390,354 218,369 608,723 3,164,128
  Program Delivery 5,176,877 3,926,119 1,666,870 157,425 72,833 11,000,124 17,785 67,241 85,026 11,085,150
  Incentives 7,971,969 5,022,172 3,606,281 198,139 28,108 16,826,669 972,219 839,128 1,811,347 18,638,016
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 468,604 320,061 259,890 15,205 4,524 1,068,284 61,087 37,482 98,569 1,166,853
  Program Marketing/Outreach 684,140 466,436 770,856 45,982 21,271 1,988,685 151,107 38,570 189,677 2,178,362
  Program Legal Services 4,950 3,417 4,580 244 57 13,248 22,090 4,422 26,512 39,760
  Program Quality Assurance 32,932 22,474 31,268 2,349 778 89,801 -                 -                 -                 89,801
  Outsourced  Services 112,775 52,981 47,363 1,727 88 214,934 179,928 75,713 255,641 470,575
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 96,623 66,612 114,692 4,697 619 283,243 14,036 14,383 28,419 311,662
  IT Services 303,813 199,939 199,067 14,781 4,721 722,321 77,675 42,308 119,983 842,304
  Other Program Expenses 101,811 94,237 69,720 17,778 625 284,170 83,515 52,747 136,262 420,432


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------
  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 16,035,749 10,925,921 7,418,254 512,537 154,423 35,046,884 1,969,796 1,390,363 3,360,159 38,407,043


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 647,478 441,157 299,528 20,695 6,235 1,415,093 79,535 56,139 135,674 1,550,766
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 286,199 173,372 107,241 9,873 1,792 578,478 81,237 52,313 133,550 712,028


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------
  Total Administrative Costs 933,676 614,530 406,769 30,568 8,027 1,993,570 160,771 108,452 269,224 2,262,794


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------
  TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXP 16,969,425 11,540,451 7,825,023 543,105 162,450 37,040,454 2,130,567 1,498,815 3,629,383 40,669,837


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 6,520,670 2,689,285 976,934 267,242 (15,357) 10,438,773 4,537,014 2,794,870 7,331,882 2,933,432 20,704,087


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/06 (Note 5) 11,385,547 (8,445,630) 6,870,551 93,292 117,839 10,021,599 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,735
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 19,646,217 (4,596,345) 7,847,485 360,534 102,482 23,360,372 30,054,640 13,683,872 43,738,510 2,681,940 69,780,825


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program / Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2007
(Unaudited)







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 2,897,963 1,994,402 4,892,365 3,999,054 126,574 4,125,628 9,017,993 10,561,222          1,543,229           
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 3,048,849 2,026,081 5,074,930 2,215,149 357,053 162,450 2,734,652 7,809,582 8,507,177           697,595              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 630,716 474,912 1,105,628 -                         1,105,628 1,020,173           (85,455)               


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Residential 6,577,528     4,495,395     11,072,923     6,214,203     483,627  162,450  6,860,280        17,933,203   20,088,572   2,155,369     


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 1,720,665 1,334,998 3,055,663 1,046,046 30,254 1,076,300 4,131,963 6,309,240           2,177,277           
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 2,249,756 1,042,247 3,292,003 538,639 29,224 567,863 3,859,866 4,470,467           610,601              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 860,806 648,165 1,508,971 -                         1,508,971 1,668,305           159,334              


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Commercial 4,831,227     3,025,410     7,856,637       1,584,685     59,478    -          1,644,163        9,500,800     12,448,012   2,947,212     


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 5,067,756 3,648,494 8,716,250 26,135 26,135 8,742,385 11,013,888          2,271,503           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 492,914 371,152 864,066 -                         864,066 990,141              126,075              


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Industrial 5,560,670     4,019,646     9,580,316       26,135          -          -          26,135             9,606,451     12,004,029   2,397,578     


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 16,969,425   11,540,451   28,509,876     7,825,023     543,105  162,450  8,530,578        37,040,454   44,540,613   7,500,159     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 283,383 71,290 354,673 -                         354,673 852,446              497,773              
Open Solicitation 451,375 56,384 507,759 -                         507,759 1,159,465           651,706              
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 1,086,737 1,109,818 2,196,555 -                         2,196,555 2,868,170           671,615              
Utility Scale Projects 152,129 30,200 182,329 -                         182,329 378,442              196,113              
Wind 156,943 231,124 388,067 -                         388,067 1,216,840           828,773              


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 2,130,567     1,498,816     3,629,383       -               -          -          -                   3,629,383     6,475,363     2,845,980     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 19,099,992   13,039,267   32,139,259     7,825,023     543,105  162,450  8,530,578        40,669,837   51,015,976   10,346,139   


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended November 30, 2007
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


YTD YTD
QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER


ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $25,868 $91,159 $65,291 $188,813 $380,749 $191,936 $23,845 $39,625 $15,780 $204,502 $226,717 $22,215


Legal Services 4,151 26,460 22,309 28,262 97,020 68,758 960 960 3,520 3,520


Salaries and Related Expenses 188,670 247,919 59,249 951,286 923,435 (27,851) 67,135 86,794 19,659 363,655 318,246 (45,410)


Supplies 49 2,762 2,714 795 10,129 9,334 150 150 946 550 (396)


Telephone 101 338 236 976 1,238 261 1,500 1,500 5,500 5,500


Postage and Shipping Expenses 377 788 411 1,826 2,888 1,062 554 650 97 554 13,583 13,030


Noncapitalized Equipment 10,000 10,000 300 300 28 1,100 1,072


Printing and Publications 30 150 120 192 550 358 920 1,975 1,055 22,796 31,642 8,845


Travel 2,752 13,525 10,773 23,788 49,592 25,804 1,459 1,625 166 3,196 5,958 2,762


Conference, Training & Mtngs 5,693 30,140 24,447 52,760 111,513 58,754 1,056 2,875 1,820 4,947 10,542 5,595


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 4,500 4,500 88 16,550 16,462


Miscellaneous Expenses 667 300 (367) 1,016 1,100 84 86 (86)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 482 1,231 749 4,998 7,955 2,956 610 1,191 582 3,668 4,368 699


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 15,397 26,743 11,346 102,301 107,368 5,067 7,457 10,815 3,358 47,821 43,419 (4,402)


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 38,503 68,172 29,670 180,462 260,923 80,461 12,765 22,601 9,836 59,829 86,504 26,676


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 2,568 4,944 2,376 13,204 18,312 5,108


------------------ -------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ---------------------- ------------------ -------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 285,308 519,130 233,823 1,550,766 1,999,321 448,554 115,800 171,062 55,262 712,028 751,649 39,621
========== ============== ============= ========== ========== ============ ========== ============== ============= ========== ========== ============


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 2nd  Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-002







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-
$10,000
$20,000
$30,000


$40,000
$50,000
$60,000
$70,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(i
n


 t
h


o
u


sa
n


d
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2007


$-
$1,000
$2,000
$3,000
$4,000
$5,000
$6,000
$7,000
$8,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2007


$-
$500


$1,000
$1,500
$2,000
$2,500
$3,000
$3,500
$4,000
$4,500
$5,000


Ja
nu


ary
Feb


rua
ry


Marc
h


Apri
l


May
Ju


ne Ju
ly


Aug
us


t
Sep


tem
be


r
Octo


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-


$5,000


$10,000


$15,000


$20,000


$25,000


$30,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Budget


Actual








 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


ECONOMICS  •  FINANCE   •  PLANNING


Economic Impacts 
From Energy Trust 
of Oregon 2006 
Program Activities  
  
Final Report 


 


 


 
 
 


888 SW Fifth Avenue, Suite 1460 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


503-222-6060 


October 1, 2007 







   


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Acknowledgements 
This report was prepared by ECONorthwest’s Portland office for Energy Trust of Oregon. Dr. 
Stephen Grover was the ECONorthwest project manager for the analysis and was the primary 
author of this report. Questions regarding the report should be directed to him at 
grover@portland.econw.com or by phoning the Portland office at (503) 222-6060. Dr. Grover 
was assisted in this project by Alec Josephson, Jonny Holz, John Boroski, and Jessica Brown.  







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 1  ECONorthwest 


1. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 
ECONorthwest was asked by Energy Trust of Oregon (Energy Trust) to estimate the effects of 
its energy efficiency and renewable energy programs in 2006 on the Oregon economy. These 
effects include impacts on employment, output, and wages in Oregon that resulted from 2006 
program spending and activities. ECONorthwest also analyzed the economic impacts of the 
energy efficiency gains (i.e., energy savings) that were realized in 2006 to estimate the benefits 
to the economy that accumulate in future years.  


For this analysis, all impacts were compared against a Base Case spending scenario, which 
assumes that the funds that were paid to Energy Trust are returned and spent by the Oregon 
ratepayers in the Oregon service territories of Portland General Electric (PGE), PacifiCorp, 
Northwest Natural, Cascade Natural Gas and Avista.  The difference in economic impacts 
between Energy Trust spending and the Base Case scenario is referred to as the net impact  of the 
spending by Energy Trust. Unless otherwise stated, the results in this report reflect net impacts. 
For example, if an impact of 5 new jobs is reported, this means that spending on Energy Trust 
programs resulted in 5 more jobs in a particular sector relative to what would have occurred had 
the money been returned and spent by Oregon ratepayers in the utility service territories.  


Energy Trust spending on its programs during 2006 totaled $47.9 million and the programs 
funded by these dollars had the following net impacts on the Oregon economy: 


• Output in Oregon’s economy increased by $37.8 million 


• 404 new full and part time jobs were created in Oregon 


• Wages increased by $11.9 million 


• Energy efficient equipment and renewable energy installations saved Oregonians 33.1 
average megawatts (aMW) of electricity (289,414 MWh annually) and 2.3 million 
therms.  This includes 48,653 MWh of annual renewable generation for which funding 
has been committed but which will not be completed until 2007 (the majority of the work 
was done during 2006).1 


The remainder of this report documents the analysis that was completed to develop these impact 
estimates.  


                                                   


1 For purposes of this impact assessment it was deemed appropriate to include these projects in 2006 as the majority 
of the staff time, analysis, and engagement of industry partners associated with these projects was incurred during 
that year. Similarly, projects that were substantially initiated in 2005 but completed in 2006 were not included in this 
analysis. The 2006 renewable energy generation and total programs expenditures ($47.9 million) reported in this 
analysis do not match figures reported in Energy Trust’s 2006 Annual Report, which only included projects 
completed (i.e., installed) in 2006. 







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 2  ECONorthwest 


2.  ENERGY TRUST 2006 PROGRAM ACTIVITIES  


2006 EXPENDITURES  
For this analysis, budget information provided by Energy Trust was aggregated into several 
general categories to facilitate economic impact modeling for similar areas of spending. Table 1 
shows the general areas of spending for Energy Trust and reflects actual expenditures for 2006. 
As shown at the bottom of the table, total spending by Energy Trust in 2006 was $47.9 million 
across all categories. 


As a general rule, spending on program incentives goes directly to equipment purchases and 
labor for installation. Common measures that receive incentives include high efficiency lighting 
(compact fluorescents and T-8’s), high efficiency HVAC systems, home weatherization, high 
efficiency industrial motors and variable speed fan drives for commercial applications. In 2006, 
program expenditures (i.e., incentives and allocated support costs) for energy efficiency 
measures totaled $43.2 million while program expenditures for renewable resources totaled $2.4 
million. 


Table 1: 2006 Energy Trust Program Spending ($ millions) 


Spending Category Total 
Program 
Expenses 


Total Support 
Costs  


Total 


Energy Efficiency Programs $43.2  $43.2 


Renewable Programs $2.4  $2.4 


Other Admin & Program Support  $2.3 $2.3 


Total $45.6 $2.3 $47.9 


Source: Energy Trust of Oregon 


ENERGY SAVINGS AND GENERATION 
Table 2 shows the total electricity saved by Energy Trust programs, in terms of both energy 
(annual kWh) and demand (aMW). A total of 33 average megawatts were saved or generated as 
a direct result of Energy Trust program activities in 2006. This includes savings for both 
residential and commercial programs as well as energy generated by renewable energy 
installations that were completed or substantially initiated in 2006. Of this, approximately 70 
percent (23 aMW) was from efficiency gains in the commercial and industrial sectors. Since 
energy savings and renewable generation are essentially identical from a customer standpoint in 
terms of economic effects (both reduce energy bills), the savings and generation kWh values 
have been combined for this analysis.  


 







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 3  ECONorthwest 


Table 2: 2006 Net Energy Savings  


Program Sector Annual kWh 
Saved 


Average MW 
Saved (aMW) 


Annual Therms 
Saved 


Residential Sector Programs 88,241,177 10.1 1,029,959 


Commercial/Industrial Sector 
Programs 


201,172,753 23.0 1,264,636 


Total Energy Saved 289,413,930 33.1 2,294,595 


Source: Energy Trust of Oregon 


The efficiency gains shown in Table 2 result in a loss of revenue to Oregon utilities due to lost 
power sales, and this loss of revenue has been accounted for in this analysis.2  If the utility sector 
had similar spending impacts as other sectors in Oregon’s economy, then the energy cost savings 
in other sectors would roughly cancel out the loss of revenue in the utility sector. For Oregon 
utilities, however, much of the spending impact flows outside the state, as PacifiCorp is owned 
by an out-of-state company and both PacifiCorp and PGE have shareholders that are widely 
distributed throughout the country. Consequently, some of the revenue loss (and the resulting 
losses in employment and economic activity) is incurred outside of Oregon.  


There is an additional long-term benefit from the efficiency gains, as they delay the need for 
building new power generation. Power generated from new sources will almost certainly be more 
expensive than existing power resources due to increased costs of capital and issues associated 
with siting new power plants. In this sense, efficiency gains can be viewed as a means for 
prolonging the use of lower-cost resources and delaying the need for switching to higher cost 
power supplied by new generation. By enabling the efficient use of lower cost resources, these 
programs help the entire Oregon economy run more efficiently. This benefit was not explicitly 
modeled for this analysis because it is directly addressed in the Energy Trust’s benefit/cost 
analysis.  It is nevertheless an important issue and is one of the primary tenets underlying 
conservation and demand-side management programs.  


3. ANALYSIS METHODS 
Estimating the economic impacts attributable to Energy Trust of Oregon’s programs is a 
complex process, as spending by Energy Trust—and subsequent changes in spending by 
program participants—unfold over a lengthy period of time. From this perspective, therefore, the 
most appropriate analytical framework for estimating the economic impacts is to classify them 
into the following categories: 


• Short-term economic impacts associated with changes in business activity as a direct 
result of changes in spending by Energy Trust programs and participants. 


                                                   


2 For this analysis, it was assumed that utilities did not sell saved power on the spot market, as estimates of the amount of power 
sold due to energy efficiency are generally unavailable. If utilities can sell conserved power on the market due to the efficiency 
programs, then there is an additional benefit in the form of increased revenues to the utility sector. As this was not included in 
this analysis, the results discussed here represent a lower bound for potential utility sector benefits. 







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 4  ECONorthwest 


• Long-term economic impacts associated with the subsequent changes in factor costs and 
optimal use of resources. 


This analysis estimates the short-term economic impacts of Energy Trust program activities 
during the 2006 program year. The short-term economic impacts are those attributed to 
additional dollars accruing to Oregon households and businesses as a result of these programs. 
The economic modeling framework that best measures these short-term economic impacts is 
called input-output modeling. Input-output models provide an empirical representation of the 
economy and its inter-sectoral relationships, enabling the user to trace the effects (economic 
impacts) of a change in the demand for commodities (goods and services). Because input-output 
models generally are not available for state and regional economies, special data techniques have 
been developed to estimate the necessary empirical relationships from a combination of national 
technological relationships and county-level measures of economic activity. This modeling 
framework, called IMPLAN (for IMpact Analysis for PLANning), is the technique that 
ECONorthwest has applied to the estimation of impacts.3 


Input-output analysis employs specific terminology to identify the different types of economic 
impacts that result from economic activities. Expenditures made through Energy Trust programs 
affect the Oregon economy directly, through the purchases of goods and services in this state, 
and indirectly, as those purchases, in turn, generate purchases of intermediate goods and services 
from other, related sectors of the economy. In addition, the direct and indirect increases in 
employment and income enhance overall economy purchasing power, thereby inducing further 
consumption- and investment- driven stimulus. This cycle continues until the spending 
eventually leaks out of the local economy as a result of taxes, savings, or purchases of non-
locally produced goods and services or “imports.” 


The IMPLAN model reports the following economic impacts: 


• Total Industrial Output (Output) is the value of production by industries for a specified 
period of time. Output can be also thought of as the value of sales including reductions or 
increases in business inventories. 


• Employee Compensation (Wages) includes workers’ wages and salaries, as well as other 
benefits such as health and life insurance, and retirement payments, and non-cash 
compensation. 


• Proprietary Income (Business Income) represents the payments received by small-
business owners or self-employed workers. Business income would include, for example, 
income received by private business owners, doctors, accountants, lawyers, etc. 


• Job impacts include both full and part time employment. 


                                                   


3 IMPLAN was developed by the Forest Service of the US Department of Agriculture in cooperation with the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency and the Bureau of Land Management of the US Department of the Interior 
to assist federal agencies in their land and resource management planning. Applications of IMPLAN by the US 
Government, public agencies and private firms span a wide range of projects, from broad, resource management 
strategies to individual projects, such as proposals for developing ski areas, coal mines, and transportation facilities, 
and harvesting timber or other resources.  







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 5  ECONorthwest 


• Tax revenues for various state and local taxing jurisdictions. 


Within this modeling framework, the following terms are used to classify impacts: 


• Gross Impacts reflect the economic impacts with no adjustment made for impacts that 
might have occurred in the Base Case scenario.  


• Net Impacts are the effects of Energy Trust program expenditures that have been adjusted 
to reflect the Base Case scenario. That is, net impacts are those impacts over and above 
what would have occurred in the Base Case scenario. 


The following types of impacts form the basis of this analysis: 


• Program operations spending as Energy Trust purchases labor and materials to carry out 
its energy efficiency programs. 


• Measure spending by participants in Energy Trust programs. 


• Reductions in energy consumption and the associated lower operating costs to businesses 
and increase in household disposable income. 


• Reductions in utility revenues as households and businesses consume less electricity. 


4. GROSS ECONOMIC IMPACTS 
The gross economic impacts attributed to the 2006 Energy Trust programs are based on the 
program costs, including administration costs and incentives issued by Energy Trust, and the 
measure spending and energy savings of program participants. Measure spending by program 
participants consists of expenditures on energy efficiency equipment such as appliances and 
furnaces/boilers, heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems, lighting 
modifications, and also industrial processing equipment.  


ECONorthwest received detailed measure spending data from Energy Trust, and this spending 
data for the various energy measures were then mapped to over 20 different IMPLAN sectors. 
Energy Trust also supplied detailed energy savings estimates, broken out by fuel type 
(electricity, natural gas) for program participants. For residences, lower energy costs will 
increase Oregon households’ disposable income. As such, the estimated energy cost savings 
were input into a consumption function representing the spending pattern of a middle-income 
household in Oregon, which mapped the spending to over 500 IMPLAN sectors.4  


Energy savings for commercial/industrial participants were identified by Standard Industrial 
Classification (SIC) code and ECONorthwest used this detailed energy savings information to 
allocate energy savings to approximately 100 different business sectors in the IMPLAN model. 
From an input-output perspective, energy savings will indirectly affect Oregon businesses by 
lowering their production costs. To estimate the economic impacts associated with these lower 
energy costs, ECONorthwest used an elasticity-based approach to measure the likely change in 
                                                   


4 This consumption function was modified to exclude spending on electricity. 







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 6  ECONorthwest 


output. That is, this approach assumes that lower energy costs increase the competitiveness of 
Oregon businesses, allowing them to decrease price, and increase output.5 


Finally, the energy savings for households and businesses translate into lower revenues to 
utilities, refiners, and other providers of energy services. ECONorthwest used estimated energy 
savings, by fuel type, to reduce revenues to utilities, refiners and other providers of energy 
services.  


ENERGY TRUST SPENDING IMPACTS 
The gross economic impacts of Energy Trust programs for 2006 are shown in Table 3. Spending 
related to Energy Trust programs increased economic output by $99 million in 2006, which 
includes an increase of $31.1 million in wage income and $5.6 million in business income within 
Oregon. This activity also created 932 jobs in Oregon. It is important to reiterate that these are 
gross impacts and therefore do not take into consideration alternative uses of Energy Trust and 
participant spending related to these programs. These net impacts are addressed in the next 
section.  


Table 3: 2006 Energy Trust Gross Impacts 


Impact Type 2006 
Output $99,032,300 


Wages       $31,100,300 


 Business Income $5,594,700 


 Jobs 932 


Source: ECONorthwest. 


5. NET ECONOMIC IMPACTS 
All of the economic impacts reported in this section of the report are net impacts and reflect 
economic benefits over and above what would have occurred had Energy Trust programs not 
existed. To calculate net impacts, the economic impacts of the Base Case scenario are estimated 
first, which assumes that the money that is currently spent on Energy Trust programs is instead 
allocated to ratepayers of the utilities. The economic impacts resulting from the Base Case 
scenario are then subtracted from the gross impacts discussed in the previous section to 
determine net impacts.   


Table 4 shows the net economic impacts attributed to Energy Trust programs in 2006. The net 
economic impacts are positive and (by design) are significantly less than the gross economic 
impacts reported previously. The gross economic impacts included the assumption that revenues 


                                                   


5 Because we do not have price elasticity of demand coefficients for each of the 100 business sectors (and their 
commodities) that benefited from reduced energy costs, ECONorthwest assumed that the price elasticity of demand 
for each industry’s output was -1.0, i.e., unitary elastic. A 1 percent decrease in costs would, therefore, translate into 
a 1 percent decrease in price and a 1 percent increase in output. 







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 7  ECONorthwest 


to utilities, refiners and other providers of energy services decline as a result of the energy 
savings by households and businesses. To this, we have now included the Base Case spending 
scenario that assumes that all Energy Trust funds are instead spent by ratepayers of the utilities 
according to the spending patterns of a typical Oregon household.  


For 2006, Energy Trust programs had a net effect of increasing Oregon’s economic output by 
$37.8 million relative to the Base Case scenario. This includes an increase of $2.9 million in 
business income and $11.9 million in wage income within Oregon. Energy Trust programs also 
had a positive net impact on employment in Oregon, with 404 jobs created in 2006. Again, this 
reflects jobs over and above what would have been created in the Base Case scenario.  


Table 4: 2006 Net Economic Impacts 


Impact Type 2006 Impacts  
Output $37,820,800 


Wages $11,866,600 


Business Income $2,915,400 


Jobs 404 


Source: ECONorthwest. 


 


6. ENERGY SAVINGS-RELATED ECONOMIC IMPACTS OVER TIME 
For many projects, the installations occur in the same year that the equipment and program costs 
are incurred. The energy savings from these measures, however, extend into future years as most 
measures have expected useful lives of eight to 16 years (or more). The cost savings from these 
measures for homes and businesses also extend into future years (with some degradation as 
equipment ages) after the initial purchase costs and tax credit costs have ended. These cost 
savings continue to benefit the economy, as households spend less on electricity and more on 
other consumer products and businesses are able to produce goods and services more efficiently. 
As a consequence, the net effects from the first year when the equipment and program spending 
occur only capture a fraction of the overall benefit of these programs. 


Table 5 shows the gross economic benefits due to the total 2006 energy cost savings from energy 
efficiency projects alone (i.e., they do not account for new generation from renewable sources). 
These estimates were calculated using the input-output model to estimate the economic impacts 
of reduced energy costs while setting all other costs (i.e., equipment purchase and program 
implementation costs) equal to zero. To truly isolate the impact of the energy cost savings, we 
also assumed that there were no lost utility revenues resulting from the measures installed and 
that utilities would be able to sell the unused power to other customers. This provides an estimate 
of energy efficiency benefits based solely on the reduced energy costs to the economy and 
excludes any additional benefits due to the spending on these programs and measures.  


As shown in Table 5, 26 aMW of energy savings from energy efficiency in 2006 increased 
economic output by $19.6 million, which includes an increase of  $7 million in Oregon wages.  
This increased output also led to the creation of 193 jobs. 







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 8  ECONorthwest 


Table 5: Economic Impacts Due to 2006 Energy Savings Alone 


Economic Impact 
Measure 


Impact Due to 
2006 Savings Only 


Output $19,554,136 


Wages $7,025,316 


Business Income $775,639 


Jobs 193 


Source: Calculated by ECONorthwest using 2006 Energy Trust spending and energy savings impacts. 


The following figures illustrate how the effects of continued improvements in efficiency would 
accumulate in the future, assuming that annual efficiency improvements in future years continue 
at the level observed in 2006 for Energy Trust programs. These figures highlight the fact that the 
incremental benefit of any single year is only a fraction of the cumulative effect of efficiency 
gains achieved in prior years. It should also be noted that 2006 includes few impacts from 
renewable energy projects, as the larger scale wind projects are developed across multiple years. 
When the effects of the larger renewable energy projects are included, the cumulative impacts 
will be significantly greater than what is shown here using only the savings and generation 
created in 2006.  


Figure 1 shows the cumulative energy savings resulting from Energy Trust energy efficiency 
program activities in 2006. This exhibit assumes that the 26 aMW in savings observed for 2006 
is achieved in future years. Given that the average measure life for equipment covered by Energy 
Trust programs is over 10 years, the potential for sustained cumulative savings benefits is quite 
large.  







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 9  ECONorthwest 


Figure 1: Cumulative Savings Over Time 


26


52


78


104


26


26


26


26


26


0


20


40


60


80


100


120


140


2006 2007 2008 2009 2010


aM
W


 S
av


in
g


s


New Savings


Savings From Prior
Years


 


Figure 2 illustrates a similar cumulative effect over time for the economic output impacts that 
result from energy cost savings. As before, energy savings are assumed to continue at the 2006 
levels observed for Energy Trust programs. In 2006, net economic output in Oregon increased an 
additional $19.6 million based on the energy cost savings achieved in 2006. This trend continues 
each year that the programs exist and consequently the cumulative benefits expand over time. By 
the end of 2010, Oregon’s economic output increases by $100 million in that year due solely to 
efficiency gains made over the past five years.  







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 10  ECONorthwest 


Figure 2: Cumulative Output Effects Based on 2006 Savings 


$20


$40


$60


$80


$20


$20


$20


$20


$20


$0


$20


$40


$60


$80


$100


2004 2005 2006 2007 2008


$ 
M


ill
io


n
s


New Output


Output Effects from
Prior Years


 


Figure 3 illustrates the potential cumulative impact of energy cost savings on employment in 
Oregon. When energy cost savings persist over time, businesses are able to direct spending away 
from energy costs to other factors of production. By lowering their costs, businesses are able to 
increase output. Similarly, less residential spending on energy also contributes to increased 
employment as spending shifts to other goods and services in sectors that have a greater impact 
on the Oregon economy.  


As shown in Table 5 and Figure 3, the savings that resulted from Energy Trust’s 2006 program 
activities results in the creation of 193 jobs in subsequent years based solely on the benefit of 
energy cost reductions. If these savings can be sustained over time, then the employment impacts 
should persist as well, at least in the short term.6  The combined effect of energy savings out to 
2010 is an increase of 965 new jobs for Oregon, with an additional 193 new jobs added each 
subsequent year if the savings trends are maintained. After the first year, there would be 
essentially no cost associated with achieving these energy savings, either in terms of equipment 
costs or program costs, as all the equipment and program costs have been included in the first 
year. 


                                                   


6 The extrapolation from 2006 impacts is presented here as an approximation of the potential employment impacts in 
the short term. Over the long term, shifts in the Oregon economy and changes in efficiency in other regions will alter 
the employment impacts. Estimating the long-term impacts taking into account regional changes in energy 
efficiency and the subsequent impact on economic output requires a much more extensive dynamic modeling 
exercise that is beyond the scope of this project.  







ETO: 2006 Economic Impacts 11  ECONorthwest 


Figure 3: Cumulative Employment Impacts Based on 2006 Savings 


193


386


579


772


193


193


193


193


193


0


200


400


600


800


1000


1200


2006 2007 2008 2009 2010


Jo
b


s


New Jobs


Jobs From Prior
Years


 


 


 








R00407 12/21/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 12/21/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 11/30/07 Page 1 of 4


Contractor Description


Administration


Prudential Insurance Company of 


America


Space Lease 1/7/05 12/31/11 2,684,920  666,692  2,018,228


Conservation Services Group, Inc. FastTrack programming 


services


7/1/06 12/31/07 215,000  102,639  112,361


Debbie Goldberg Menashe Legal Services 2/1/06 1/31/08 97,500  75,157  22,343


Amanda Reynolds Bookkeeping  Services 1/1/07 12/31/07 80,000  65,310  14,690


Borek & Associates, Inc. Great Plains Support 1/1/06 12/31/07 51,000  34,562  16,438


Virtual Information Executives, 


LLC.


IT professional services 10/1/07 4/15/08 50,000  22,725  27,275


J. D. Williams, Attorney Legal Services 12/22/05 12/31/07 50,000  37,056  12,944


Perkins & Company, P.C. 2007 Audit and 990 prep 10/18/07 10/18/08 33,500  1,000  32,500


Team HR, LLC Operations 1/1/04 12/31/07 32,345  23,751  8,594


Business Objects Americas, Inc. Business Objects Software 12/19/05 12/31/07 29,083  29,083  0


Sound View Recording Meeting Audio Services 1/1/04 12/31/07 28,715  21,463  7,252


Business Objects Americas, Inc. Business Objects License/maint 12/22/06 12/31/07 27,000  0  27,000


SAC Software Solutions, Inc. eQuest wizards 2/20/07 1/30/08 25,100  17,375  7,725


Business Objects Americas, Inc. Business Objects Support 11/9/07 11/7/08 21,000  0  21,000


Tri-Met 2007-08 Bus Passes 9/1/07 8/31/08 20,000  18,718  1,282


Associated Business Systems MP5500 copier 


lease/maintenanc


10/25/07 10/25/09 20,000  875  19,126


Robert Half Management 


Resources


P Catching 10/18/07 12/31/07 20,000  20,000  0


Sue Muck Management coaching & 


develop


1/1/07 12/31/07 17,840  12,635  5,205


Associated Business Systems Ricoh 2051 S/P copier maint. 10/27/05 11/30/07 15,000  4,133  10,867


Key Equipment Finance Ricoh 2051 copier lease 10/27/05 12/1/07 13,600  13,388  212


MBL Group LLC HR Services 10/16/05 10/31/07 12,965  9,122  3,843


Initial Tropical Plants Plant Service 2/23/05 2/17/08 12,182  11,278  905


Numara Numara Track-it software 10/16/07 10/15/08 10,931  0  10,931


Associated Business Systems MP2500C copier lease 7/31/07 8/1/09 8,758  1,559  7,199


Honeywell Security Monitoring Security for 6th Avenue space 12/1/04 8/30/08 8,092  5,666  2,426


D&B ADP Renewal 3/31/05 3/30/08 2,700  1,350  1,350


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Green Tag purchase for office 1/1/07 12/31/07 1,792  1,344  448


Gateway Solutions, Inc. Professional Services - IT 6/1/05 8/30/08 1,500  150  1,350


Administration Total:  3,590,523  1,197,029  2,393,494


Communications & Outreach


The Iris Group PR services 1/1/06 12/31/07 150,000  112,887  37,114


ONE/Northwest What Counts emailing service 8/1/05 7/31/08 100,000  720  99,280


Delaris, LLC Website & Tech support 5/1/07 12/31/07 68,345  61,753  6,592


Melanie Leaf Communications consulting 1/1/06 12/31/07 67,550  47,180  20,370


Creative Media Development, Inc. NW Natural Fall Media Buy 9/14/07 12/31/07 63,500  0  63,500


Portland Monthly, Inc. Portland Monthly Magazine 1/1/07 12/31/07 42,336  38,808  3,528


Cascade Direct, Inc. Direct mail services 1/1/07 12/31/08 35,000  32,999  2,001


Portland Business Journal Portland Business Journal 2007 1/1/07 12/31/07 29,000  23,324  5,676


Jerome Hart Photography Photographer 5/1/06 4/30/08 27,000  21,729  5,271


Susan Vogt Communications Communications Prof. Svcs. 3/1/04 12/31/07 22,000  7,275  14,725


Oregon Publications Corp dba 


Portland Tribune


Portland Tribune ads 2007 1/1/07 12/31/07 20,394  14,741  5,654


MediAmerica, Inc. Oregon Home Green Living ads 1/1/07 12/31/07 19,500  19,500  0


MediAmerica, Inc. OR Business Magazine 1/1/07 12/31/07 19,390  19,390  0


AOI Business Viewpoint AOI Business Viewpoint Ads 1/1/07 12/31/07 15,000  16,849 -1,849


Sustainable Industries Journal Sustainable Industries Ads 1/1/07 12/31/07 15,000  11,630  3,370


Chinook Book Chinook Book 2008 ad 10/25/06 12/31/07 14,000  10,400  3,600


Smith Creative Group, LLC Professional Services 6/23/05 12/31/07 11,970  6,798  5,173


Real Urban Geographics, LLC GIS Mapping Services 1/25/06 12/31/07 11,460  8,898  2,562







R00407 12/21/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 12/21/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 11/30/07 Page 2 of 4


Contractor Description


Dipaola Photography, Inc. Photography services 1/1/06 12/31/07 8,350  6,809  1,541


Nielson Creative, Inc. Professional Services - MKTG 5/2/07 4/30/08 6,500  6,035  465


Kathleen Bauer Marketing Consultant 5/1/05 12/31/07 5,250  3,854  1,396


Rob Werfel Photography Photography Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 2,225  1,680  545


Theresa Hagerty Marketing & communications 5/2/07 12/31/07 1,600  1,089  511


Andrea Hand Marketing Services, 


Inc.


Marketing services 7/16/07 6/30/08 1,200  1,105  95


Communications Total:  756,570  475,452  281,118


Energy Efficiency Programs


Aspen Systems Corporation Production Efficiency PMC 7/1/05 12/31/07 26,116,590  25,534,304  582,285


Conservation Services Group, Inc. Home Energy Savings PMC 6/1/05 12/31/07 23,445,804  15,223,268  8,222,536


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/10 19,090,000  9,646,711  9,443,289


Aspen Systems Corporation Building Efficiency PMC 7/1/05 12/31/07 13,015,208  12,793,876  221,332


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. New Homes and Products - 


PMC


1/1/07 12/31/08 6,316,544  6,131,659  184,884


Science Applications International 


Corporation


NBE - PMC 1/1/06 12/31/07 6,180,047  6,006,934  173,113


Nexus Energy Software Internet Energy Audit 4/27/04 4/26/08 584,000  544,429  39,571


Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process 


Eval


10/11/07 6/30/09 355,000  0  355,000


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/08 300,000  150,000  150,000


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 6/30/09 290,000  0  290,000


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/08 261,586  90,436  171,150


Research Into Action, Inc. PE Process & Impact 


Evaluation


8/6/07 4/30/08 220,000  95,871  124,129


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. 5/25/07 2/28/08 210,000  32,314  177,686


ADM Associates, Inc. BE Impact Evaluation 1/26/06 11/30/07 190,000  135,808  54,192


HST&V, LLC PE Impact Evaluation 12/1/05 9/30/07 180,000  178,547  1,453


ADM Associates, Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation 8/1/06 11/30/07 150,000  68,876  81,124


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 8/15/10 137,500  60,228  77,272


J. Hruska Global HES QA Services 2/21/06 12/31/07 100,000  84,120  15,880


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 90,000  48,997  41,003


Opinion Dynamics Corporation ENH Process Evaluation 11/15/06 12/31/07 75,500  75,530 -30


Northern Enterprises, LLC dba 


Sears DS No. 3409


Low Income Refrigerators 7/1/07 11/30/07 74,250  0  74,250


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


6/20/06 12/31/07 74,000  58,000  16,000


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 9/30/08 57,000  3,158  53,842


Blue Ocean Events LLC Better Living Show 2008 11/1/07 12/31/08 50,000  3,000  47,000


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 3/31/08 39,300  19,703  19,597


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Reg'l Technical Forum Sponsor. 2/28/07 2/27/08 35,000  35,000  0


Catherine Scott Residential contractor 10/8/07 12/31/08 32,000  3,217  28,784


Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 1/31/09 30,000  0  30,000


KEMA Incorporated Change A Light Evaluation 9/1/07 12/31/07 20,000  1,040  18,960


DE Solutions, Inc. Planning Services 11/12/07 10/31/08 20,000  0  20,000


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


4/19/07 6/30/08 17,000  0  17,000


HST&V, LLC Monitor SP Newsprint 


Megaprjct


4/1/07 12/31/07 15,000  3,114  11,886


Lane Community College Scholarship agreement 1/1/07 12/31/07 14,400  3,600  10,800


Lewis Consulting, LLC Six Sigma training program PE 8/27/07 11/30/07 13,600  1,700  11,900


Conservation Services Group New Construct HVAC Pilot 1/1/07 11/30/07 11,610  11,061  550


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship 3/27/07 3/26/08 5,000  5,000  0


Landerholm, Memovich, Lansverk 


& Whitesides P.S.


Cascade Natural legal advise 5/30/07 12/31/07 5,000  4,770  230







R00407 12/21/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 12/21/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 11/30/07 Page 3 of 4


Contractor Description


Ecos Consulting NEEA compressed air training 10/10/07 12/31/07 4,500  4,500  0


Entercom Portland, LLC Radio Commercials w/PECI 7/15/07 12/15/07 2,750  13,750 -11,000


Energy Efficiency Total:  97,828,188  77,072,521  20,755,667


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services 5/1/04 4/30/08 1,435,000  644,434  790,566


Quantum Consulting, Inc. Evaluation Services 8/1/04 8/31/07 350,000  330,094  19,906


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment 2007 8/21/07 3/31/08 93,150  660  92,490


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/07 62,000  30,037  31,963


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 56,440  21,361  35,079


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 3/31/08 48,110  11,637  36,473


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/08 42,500  35,425  7,075


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 4/30/08 33,040  33,040  0


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 17,550  9,945  7,606


Brien Sipe Professional Services 5/1/07 12/31/07 15,000  11,550  3,450


Dorothy Payton Solar services 12/23/05 12/31/07 15,000  13,966  1,034


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/08 15,000  1,936  13,064


Joint Programs Total:  2,182,790  1,144,084  1,038,706


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 6/18/07 6/30/28 6,000,000  0  6,000,000


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East 9/20/06 12/31/07 4,500,000  0  4,500,000


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 7/21/26 1,685,088  0  1,685,088


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 2/17/25 475,000  0  475,000


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 3/13/28 362,000  0  362,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 2/21/08 341,266  324,831  16,435


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program 10/1/02 9/30/08 235,906  235,906  0


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


9/1/05 9/1/25 186,910  186,910  0


Evergreen Energy Corporation RE consultant services 4/1/06 12/31/07 127,200  98,041  29,159


SmartPower, Inc. Market Research Consultant 6/26/07 10/31/07 93,000  74,827  18,173


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/07 87,700  74,261  13,439


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/1/26 79,815  37,671  42,144


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


Professional Services - RE 5/10/07 4/30/08 60,000  37,075  22,925


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


(5) PGE PV Demo Projects 9/25/06 12/31/07 55,500  22,200  33,300


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 3/31/08 50,500  9,450  41,050


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 7/14/08 49,600  10,989  38,611


RHT Energy Solutions RE Consultant Services 12/1/06 12/31/07 42,500  32,900  9,600


Clean Power Research, LLC Solar PV software/services 9/1/06 8/31/08 40,500  14,725  25,775


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) 7/1/07 6/30/08 38,391  15,996  22,395


Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 7/31/08 37,000  2,550  34,450


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind System 4/28/05 4/28/25 36,117  0  36,117


Hood River County Biomass Feasibility Study 12/27/06 12/14/07 36,000  0  36,000


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School 12/10/04 12/10/29 35,000  0  35,000


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services 4/27/07 4/30/08 34,200  34,200  0


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 5/25/27 32,500  0  32,500


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/08 28,200  23,828  4,373


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Anaerobic digester study 10/1/07 11/15/07 25,000  0  25,000


City of Astoria Public Works Dept Astoria Hydro/Wind feasibility 3/8/07 12/31/07 25,000  0  25,000


Multnomah Board of County 


Commissioners


Wind Power feasibility study 8/29/07 6/1/08 25,000  0  25,000


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 12/31/22 24,125  0  24,125







R00407 12/21/2007Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 12/21/2007Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 11/30/07 Page 4 of 4


Contractor Description


Greater Applegate Community 


Development Corporation


Applegate Biopower Feasibility 10/2/06 12/21/07 23,963  0  23,963


Inland Pacific Energy Center LLC IPEC Biomass Feasibility Study 11/7/06 12/14/07 23,000  0  23,000


Hood River County Hydropower Feasibility Study 1/30/07 1/15/08 22,000  0  22,000


Water Environment Services, A 


Dept. of Clackamas County


Clackamas Water  biofeasibilty 6/4/07 9/30/07 21,500  0  21,500


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study 2/15/07 3/1/08 20,000  0  20,000


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/07 19,845  7,355  12,490


Columbia Energy Partners, LLC Anemometer Sale 11/14/07 12/31/07 19,450  0  19,450


HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 6/30/08 16,619  0  16,619


Oregon Cherry Growers, Inc. bio feasibility study 8/28/07 1/15/08 16,188  0  16,188


Town of Lakeview, Oregon Geothermal generator study 10/17/07 2/29/08 15,000  0  15,000


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/07 15,000  4,984  10,016


David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 5/31/28 13,391  0  13,391


City of Woodburn Woodburn WWTP Feasibility 6/7/07 12/1/07 13,266  0  13,266


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/1/20 13,150  1,070  12,080


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/07 13,000  10,753  2,247


Northwest SEED Gervais Biopower USDA App. 12/1/06 12/31/07 12,467  12,467  0


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/07 11,400  5,637  5,763


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Transmission Assessment 


Study


11/9/07 12/31/07 10,150  0  10,150


Boise White Paper, LLC bio cogen feasibility study 9/12/07 12/31/07 9,540  0  9,540


Stimson Lumber Company bio cogen feasibility study 9/13/07 12/31/07 9,127  0  9,127


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 5/31/08 8,000  0  8,000


OSEIA-Oregon Solar Energy 


Industries Assoc


OSEIA Funding Grant 5/25/07 1/31/08 6,000  6,000  0


Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 8/31/08 5,600  0  5,600


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund 


MOU


10/4/06 10/31/08 5,000  0  5,000


China Hollow, LLC China Hollow 9006 grant 4/2/07 12/31/07 4,400  3,960  440


David W. McClain RETAA 5/11/07 4/30/08 3,125  0  3,125


Sherman County Alley Community Wind Farm 9/4/07 10/31/07 2,500  2,500  0


Sherman County Brown Community Wind Farm 9/4/07 10/31/07 2,500  2,500  0


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 9/30/08 1,590  0  1,590


Advanced Energy Systems, LLC Community Wind contractor 9/25/07 8/31/08 960  960  0


Renewable Energy Total:  15,206,749  1,294,545  13,912,204


 119,564,821  81,183,632  38,381,189Grand Totals:








 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
January 22, 2008, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, John Reynolds, Caddy McKeown (by telephone), Margie Harris, Fred 
Gordon, Steve Lacey, Peter West, Betsy Kaufman and John Volkman 
 
1. Information items 
 
 Jason reported that the OPUC approved PacifiCorp’s tariff for supplemental efficiency 
funding today. 
 
 The committee discussed a complaint that has been filed at the OPUC from an 
inspector who contends that Energy Trust is assigning too much work to a larger contractor 
and not enough to smaller contractors. Staff is investigating and evaluating. 
 
 Margie reported that PGE is filing a tariff for supplemental efficiency funding without 
funds for low income or schools, and without a cost-recovery mechanism. The utility expects to 
continue to negotiate these items with interested parties and address them next year.  
 
2. Utility data transfer agreements 
 
 The utility data transfer agreements and the Energy Trust information/confidentiality 
policy pose certain obstacles to effective customer service, administrative operations, program 
marketing and green tag reporting. In discussing the increased level of collaboration that will be 
required with SB 838 supplemental efficiency funds, staff mentioned this to PGE, PacifiCorp and 
OPUC staff, and suggested that we discuss ways of streamlining the agreements and policy. The 
committee discussed the type of information that we would like to get from or provide to the 
utilities. Jason observed that it will be important to understand OPUC concerns in this area 
early in the discussion. 
 
3. Treatment of interest income 
 
 OPUC staff has raised concerns about how Energy Trust treats interest income. As you 
know, interest income is the primary source of funds for Energy Trust’s reserve account and 
unexpected program needs. As first formalized by the board in the action plan approved in 
December, 2006, we use these funds to meet organizational needs regardless of the source of 
the principal. Current interest income, moreover, has been ear-marked to meet various 
organizational needs over the next couple of years. The OPUC has not proposed anything 
formally, but it is possible Energy Trust would be asked to track interest separately by utility, 
renewable versus efficiency, and SB 838 supplemental efficiency fund interest versus SB 1149 
electric fund interest. The concern is that this would eliminate flexibility to meet urgent or 
unexpected needs, increase accounting complexity, cost more in banking fees and reduce 
investment returns. The committee explored options, e.g., accounting for interest in three 
categories (SB 1149, gas and SB 838 funds) going forward. Another option would be to develop 
a board policy ensuring that Energy Trust is cognizant of the source of interest earnings when 
these funds are allocated. Staff will discuss this further with OPUC staff and keep the committee 
apprised.  







Policy Committee notes            January 22, 2008 


2 


 
4. Swalley project  
 
In August, the board approved a resolution to provide up to $916,386 for the 750-kilowatt, 
$10,436,585 Swalley Irrigation District hydropower project, expected to be completed in mid-
2008. The board resolution provided that payments would be made over 15 years. Swalley has 
asked that Energy Trust instead pay all of the funds upon project commissioning. Swalley has 
agreed to the standard payback provisions we require for an upfront payment. The change 
would not change the amount of funding provided, just the timing. The only financial impact on 
Energy Trust would be that there would be no interest from escrowing the funds. Staff 
anticipates taking this matter to the board in February. The committee expressed no concerns. 
 
Staff anticipates briefing the RAC tomorrow on a similar but much larger project (3.27 
megawatts, $1 million incentive) with the Central Oregon Irrigation District. 
  
5. Avoided cost/discount rate  
 
Staff would like to ask the board in February to revise the cost-effectiveness policy adopt a 5.2% 
discount rate. The background: In recent months, staff has been talking to the OPUC and 
utilities about avoided costs, levelized costs, discount rate, and other factors. The goal has been 
to increase analytical consistency between Energy Trust and utilities, which helps the OPUC in 
integrated resource planning. Subject to further discussion with NW Natural, we think we have 
achieved a reasonable resolution regarding values that the Energy Trust can use for program 
planning, B/C analysis, and reporting: 
 


1. We would use a 5.2% discount rate 
2. Avoided costs would: 


• Include T&D investment and avoided power delivery losses  
• continue the 10% conservation advantage 
• include a new hedge factor for electric efficiency, based on Power Council analysis 


(5 mills for retrofit and 10 mills for lost opportunities) 
• be fairly close to values used by utilities for IRP 
• flat load shape avoided cost are based on the PGE and PacifiCorp average 
• differences in value by electric load shape and gas avoided costs are based on Power 


Council values (the gas companies are comfortable with those values); and 
• include a forecasted cost of carbon emissions 


  
Even with a higher discount rate, the avoided levelized cost and net-present value (NPV) of 
avoided cost are higher than those we use now, which means that most efficiency programs are 
more highly valued. The only exceptions are certain long-lived gas measures.    
  
We are still discussing OPUC performance measures, but are waiting for the OPUC analysis of 
costs in other resource plans. The OPUC staff understands that we need higher levelized cost 
performance measures in order to develop more aggressive programs. We have every 
expectation that the OPUC will adjust the levelized cost performance measures upward, which 
should make efficiency programs more attractive.  
  
Revising the cost-effectiveness policy to adopt a 5.2% discount rate would allow us to use the 
new avoided costs to analyze new measures and initiatives and work on new supply curves. If 
we wait for agreement on performance measures, we would have to informally calculate values 







Policy Committee notes            January 22, 2008 


3 


using the new assumptions and use the old values in formal communications and stakeholder 
discussions. We think this would be confusing. 
 
The committee had no concerns about staff taking this matter to the board. 
 
6. Briefings: 
 
 - January 9 carbon credit meeting. The committee has discussed on several 
occasions whether Energy Trust should protect for ratepayers the potential value of greenhouse 
gas (GHG) reduction credits attributable to Energy Trust energy efficiency measures. Jason and 
staff organized a meeting on January 9 to discuss this with utilities, the OPUC, ODOE and 
Climate Trust. The meeting was well timed (the week the Western Climate Initiative was 
meeting in Portland), and well attended. It did a good job of focusing people’s attention on the 
role of efficiency in climate policy. There was no consensus that Energy Trust should or should 
not take steps to preserve rights in greenhouse gas emissions credits, but generated a number 
of ideas and options. The committee concluded that the legislature is likely to clarify key 
questions in this area, and the question can be tabled until the legislative picture is clearer. 
 
 - NW Natural service in Washington. NW Natural would like Energy Trust to 
serve customers in Clark County. The proposal is different from that of Cascade’s 2007 
proposal in that Clark County is contiguous with our current service territory, and would 
require only an incremental expansion of our programs. Jason has the impression that at least 
one of the Washington Utility and Transportation Commissioners views the idea favorably. NW 
Natural needs to discuss the proposal with the OPUC. 
 
 - Strategic planning. The longer time horizon of the public purpose fund and 
changes in Energy Trust’s mission due to the Renewable Energy Act mean that the 2007-2012 
strategic plan is no longer current. Staff is evaluating areas in which the plan might change, and 
spent a day brainstorming strategic planning issues on Jan. 15. We would flesh these issues out 
in 2008 and propose actual changes in 2009. The committee thought this process was fine, but 
was not sure that taking a full two years to change the plan would meet board expectations.   
 
 - West-Coast Initiative. Oregon, Washington, and California PUC commissioners 
and executives of conservation delivery organizations asked their staffs to explore ways to 
coordinate efficiency and on-site renewable energy initiatives. Staff participated in these 
discussions and has developed four prospectuses to prompt discussion and analysis: prospects 
for zero-net-energy buildings, zero-net-energy homes, accelerated appliance efficiency and LED 
lighting. These initiatives could significantly accelerate savings, but may require regulatory or 
policy changes, and all would involve significant activity, coordination and risk. The potential 
energy benefits are greatest from the most difficult initiatives – the zero-net-energy initiatives. 
The schedule and decision-making process are as yet unclear. The prospectuses are available for 
review. Jason observed that we need a clear framework for determining when and how much to 
invest in longer-term prospects such as these, as opposed to investments with shorter-term but 
possibly more modest payoff. Fred noted that in a recent brainstorming session with BPA, there 
was a high priority on establishing long-term relationships with trade allies and efficiency 
contractors, and on a more strategic approach to research and development. 
 
 - Grant agreement. The OPUC is working on a mark-up of the grant agreement, 
based on proposals Energy Trust staff submitted earlier.  
  







Policy Committee notes            January 22, 2008 


4 


 - ODOE board advisor. Bill Nesmith has left ODOE and the board will need to 
consider a replacement. 
 








 
 
Finance Report 
December 31, 2007 
 
Review December 2007 year to date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 
 


December’s balance sheet reflected an increase in activity for the month. The most significant 
change is reflected in the cash account as we paid $6 million to PGE for the Biglow Canyon wind 
farm. Accounts payable increased for end of year incentives paid in early January, by a total of 
$3.3 million. The balance sheet also reflects the expensing of approximately $145k of the 
prepaid for the “Fall Change a Light Campaign”, the recording of a $41k receivable for the 
Cascade WA study, a full month’s NEEA expense of $375k as well as some fixed asset 
purchases of phone equipment and new solar project management software. The balance sheet 
also shows the discharge of board designated ($12.5 million) and temporarily restricted ($226 
thousand) net assets resulting from the combination of two PGE projects: payment of Biglow 
Canyon and funding the escrow agreement for Warm Springs biomass project. 


 
Income Statements 
 


With the exception of PGE, public purpose revenues for the month tracked pretty closely with 
budget again this month. On a year-to-date basis, total revenue continues to exceed budget by 
about $3.9 million, with PGE representing $3.5 million of that variance. PGE’s previous forecasts 
did not include the additional collections for the residential rate credit decision which was 
reversed earlier this year.  
Expenses in December were approximately 84% of budget. The increase in total expenses 
compared to prior months reflects the projected “hockey stick” effect at the end of the year, 
with $12.9 million in incentive expense recorded for the month of December. Of this, $6 million 
is a single PGE wind project, the remaining $6.9 million is roughly 4 times the average of the 
other 11 months of the year.  


  
 Revenue 


• Public purpose revenue above budget by $4.4 million (7% variance).  
o PGE 2007 YTD  December 


§ EE revenue variance $2.8 million 
§ RE revenue variance $.6 million 


o PacifiCorp 2007 YTD December 
§ EE revenue variance $.5 million 
§ RE revenue variance $.1 million 


o NW Natural YTD December 
§ EE revenue variance $.4 million 


o Cascade YTD December 
§ EE revenue variance $.04 million 


o Avista YTD December 
§ EE revenue variance - $.1 million less than budget 


• Conservation rate credit revenue variance was consistent through the end of the year 
o Remained below budget by $1.35 million 
o Court ruling on BPA’s residential exchange program will increase variances for 


remainder of year, unless overturned 
o Only received $550,000 of budgeted $1.1M in PGE revenue 







Finance Report  December 30, 2007 


 2 


o Received none of budgeted $800,000 revenue from PacifiCorp 
o Not incurring/reporting any CRC related expenses for either utility 


• Interest income exceeded budget by $863 thousand (37% variance) 
o Higher invested balances than expected; result of reduced spending and more revenue 


   
Expenses 


• Expenses overall below budget by $11.1 million (16% variance from budget) 
o By line item 


§ Program management, delivery, marketing $619 thousand (6% of expense 
variance) 


• Delivery is under budget in commercial and residential sectors and over 
budget in industrial. The overage in industrial is an expected cost of 
transition from using an external PMC who was winding up activities 
simultaneous with new program delivery contractors gearing up for 
2008.  


• PMC marketing costs are over budget in the commercial sector, 
particularly in the existing buildings program where efforts are 
continuing to improve and maintain the pipeline of projects. 


• Program management costs are $54 thousand over budget in the 
residential sector despite the downturn in the housing market.  


§ Incentives $6.8 million (61% of expense variance) Overall, the Energy Efficiency 
program exceeded the total best case electric goal, and the total conservative 
gas goal, despite spending almost 20% less on incentives.  


• Commercial sector (28% of incentive variance) 
o Existing buildings 


§ Existing buildings-although underspent, program doing 
well in acquiring savings through lighting projects. 
Buildings in this transition market are not doing 
expensive mechanical projects as expected, keeping 
incentive payments lower than budgeted. 


• Industrial sector (37% of incentive variance) 
o Program focusing on rebuilding pipeline and securing future 


commitments. Program has 45% of 2008 incentive budget 
committed. 


• Residential sector (18% of incentive variance) 
o New home construction underspending due to slumping market 


conditions 
o Lighting and washer campaigns initiated last spring continuing to 


do very well, offsetting electric underspending in New Homes. 
o Retrofit projects also much better than expected, particularly in 


gas projects 
• Renewable energy (17% of incentive variance) 


o Solar, Wind & Open Solicitation each under budget by 80%, 
94% and 85%, respectively, while Utility Scale nearly doubled its 
budget. In Solar, incentives are below budget primarily due to 
decisions by businesses to delay installations until legislation to 
increase the state Business Energy Tax Credit from 35% to 50% 
was enacted. In PGE service territory new caps and new 
incentive offerings are being implemented to improve solar 
uptake. In Wind, feasibility studies are lagging and turbine 







Finance Report  December 30, 2007 


 3 


availability continue to contribute to delays. In the Open 
Solicitation Program feasibility studies are also lagging. 


 
§ Professional services $3 million (26% of expense variance) 


• Over 42% of variance is in evaluations and planning—delays in 
scheduling of some large evaluations  


o EB, NB and PE—work began in Fall 
• Renewables inspection and project analyses still delayed 
• Delayed contracting of IT consultants resulting from delay in letting of 


contract for enterprise architecture study and its results 
• Administrative units-postponement of analysis and implementation 


based on study results and system evaluations; still evaluating possibility 
of salvaging accounting and contracting systems 


 
o By division 
§ Energy efficiency 
§ $8.9 million under spent from budget (16%) 


• Electric efficiency under spent $8.6 million 
• Gas efficiency under spent $.3 million 


§ Renewable energy   
• $2.2 million under spent from budget (18%)—solar, wind open solicitation and 


biopower programs all underspent 
• Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 


o 6%, budgeted at 8.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
o Last year December was 6.5%. Last month’s rate was 6%. 








 
 
Board Decision 
Amending Cost-Effectiveness Policy  
February 13, 2008 


Summary 
 
Amend the Energy Trust cost-effectiveness policy to approve the use of a 5.2 percent discount rate in 
Energy Trust analysis. 


 
Background 
 


• For several months, staff has been discussing avoided costs, levelized costs, discount rate, and 
other factors with the Oregon Public Utility Commission (OPUC) staff and utilities. Some of 
these factors are still under discussion, but we think we have reached a reasonable resolution of 
the discount rate. 


 
• Essentially, discount rates allow us to compare the value of energy resources with different lives 


and costs over time.  
 


• For example, most of the cost of energy efficiency is paid at the time of installation. In contrast, 
the cost of fuel for a gas-fired power plant is paid each year as it is used. If the same discount is 
used to calculate the value of the two equal investments over time, energy efficiency will look 
artificially low because more of its cost is discounted over a shorter time period. However the 
energy efficiency measure’s benefit is a function of the savings over the life of the measure and 
the associated avoided costs. 


 
• Energy Trust calculations qualify measures and programs for funding and evaluate success. 


Energy Trust has used a low 3% discount rate to estimate the cost of efficiency over time. 
Utilities, in contrast, use higher discount rates for efficiency and other resource options. While 
each utility uses a slightly different rate, they are all close to 5.2%. 


 
• When Energy Trust and utilities use different discount rates, the OPUC and utilities have a hard 


time evaluating efficiency costs compared to other resources in integrated resource planning.  
  
• The problem becomes more significant with the passage of the Oregon Renewable Energy Act, 


which authorizes the utilities to seek supplemental efficiency funds. The OPUC intends to 
evaluate those filings using IRP data and analysis. 


 
• Because a higher discount rate makes efficiency investments look more expensive, a higher rate 


could reduce Energy Trust programs if the OPUC did not raise the levelized cost performance 
measure it uses to evaluate Energy Trust efficiency programs. 


 







R464_Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy  February 13, 2008 


2 


Analysis 
 


• In our discussions with the OPUC staff and utilities, we agreed on a 5.2% (real) discount rate, 
which is higher than Energy Trust’s 3% and lower than utility rates in IRP.  We have also 
reached consensus on new avoided costs for both gas and electric programs to be used by ETO 
in program and measure screening and reporting of savings. Both the proposed new discount 
rate of 5.2% and the new avoided costs are now more in line with those used by the utilities for 
IRP purposes.  


 
• Using a 5.2% discount rate makes a relatively small difference for Energy Trust measures with 


shorter lives (like compact fluorescent bulbs), and more for measures with longer lives (like 
insulation). Even with a higher discount rate, the new avoided costs are higher than those we 
use now, which means that most efficiency programs are more highly valued. The only 
exceptions are certain long-lived gas measures 


 
• We have reached agreement with OPUC staff and utilities regarding changes to other economic 


inputs to benefit/cost and levelized cost calculations (including avoided fuel and construction 
costs, savings from avoided transmission and distribution construction, avoided power delivery, 
CO2 benefits, the 10% conservation advantage from the regional power act, and hedge value of 
efficiency). These will result in higher avoided utility system and societal costs, which are likely 
to make efficiency measures more cost-effective. The net result is that with all the proposed 
changes, including the discount rate, all electric measures have higher benefit-cost ratios. Gas 
measures also have higher benefit-cost ratios except for those with long (45 or 70 year) lives.  
All current programs and measures still pass the cost-effectiveness test. 


 
• We are still discussing OPUC performance measures. OPUC staff understands that we need 


higher levelized cost performance measures to develop more aggressive programs. Staff has 
every expectation that the OPUC will increase the levelized cost performance measures, which 
should make efficiency programs more attractive.  


  
• Revising the cost-effectiveness policy to adopt a 5.2% discount rate would allow us to use the 


new avoided costs to analyze new measures and initiatives and work on new supply curves. If 
we wait for agreement on performance measures, we would have to informally calculate values 
using the new assumptions and use the old values in formal communications and stakeholder 
discussions, which would be confusing. 


 


Recommendation 
 
Amend the cost-effectiveness policy to incorporate a 5.2% discount rate, by adopting resolution number 
464. The proposed amendment was favorably reviewed by the Policy Committee in January, 2008. 


 







R464_Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy  February 13, 2008 


3 


RESOLUTION #464 


APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE ENERGY TRUST 
COST EFFECTIVENESS POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust uses a three percent discount rate to evaluate 
efficiency programs for purposes of analyzing new measures 
and initiatives, developing supply curves and reporting on 
results. Utilities, in contrast, use higher discount rates for 
efficiency and other resource options. 


2. When Energy Trust and utilities use different discount rates, 
the OPUC has a hard time evaluating efficiency costs 
compared to other resources in integrated resource planning. 
The problem becomes more significant with the passage of the 
Oregon Renewable Energy Act, which authorizes the utilities 
to seek supplemental efficiency funds. The OPUC intends to 
evaluate those filings using IRP data and analysis. 


3. Energy Trust has discussed discount rate with OPUC and 
utility staffs in the context of other factors that affect the 
avoided cost of resource, factors such as avoided fuel and 
construction costs, savings from avoided transmission and 
distribution construction, avoided power delivery, CO2 
benefits, the 10% conservation advantage from the regional 
power act, and hedge value of efficiency. 


4. Energy Trust has communicated to the OPUC the importance 
of increasing the levelized cost performance measure that the 
OPUC uses to evaluate Energy Trust program performance. 
Without such an increase, using a higher discount rate could 
prejudice Energy Trust programs. 


5. Assuming a higher levelized cost performance measure and 
considering the other avoided cost factors mentioned above, 
increasing the discount rate Energy Trust uses to qualify and 
evaluate measures and programs to 5.2% should not have a 
significant effect on Energy Trust programs. 


THEREFORE, the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. board of directors 
amends the Energy Trust cost-effectiveness policy as follows: 







R464_Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy  February 13, 2008 


4 


4.06.000-P Cost-Effectiveness Policy and General 
Methodology for the Energy Trust of Oregon 
 
History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review 
Date 


Board Decision February 27, 2002 Approved (R83) March 22, 2002 
Board March 22, 2002 Reviewed, Revised  April 3, 2002 
Board April 3, 2002 Reviewed, Revised 


(Minutes) 
April 2005 


Board September 7, 2005 Revised (R353) September 2008 
Board February 13, 2008 Revised (R464) February 2011 


 
Introduction 
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon seeks a future that includes sufficient, stable, and affordable power 
available to all customers through sustained investment in energy efficiency and renewable 
resources that reduce the economic and environmental costs of using gas and electricity. To 
properly evaluate such investments, the Energy Trust of Oregon (Trust) evaluates energy saving 
projects and measures and analyzes how to compare their economic cost compares to 
alternative sources of gas and electric energy. In the past the Oregon Public Utility Commission 
(OPUC), the Northwest Power and Conservation Council (NWPPCC) and the Northwest 
Energy Efficiency Alliance (Alliance) have all used similar approaches and assumptions to analyze 
the cost-effectiveness of energy efficiency investments. This policy encompasses three generic 
perspectives – Consumer, Utility System, and Societal. It describes the key variables or 
economic model inputs that define these perspectives and allow the analyst to compare the cost 
of energy efficiency to conventional sources of gas and electrical energy.  
 
Policy  
 
The Energy Trust of Oregon adopts the Utility and Societal perspectives, as described below, as 
its primary perspectives for evaluating energy efficiency projects. It will also use the utility-
system perspective as an additional tool to assure that the kWh saved per dollar invested by the 
Trust is reasonable. The Consumer perspective is used to help design projects. 
 
The societal cost definition is in alignment with the OPUC docket no. UM-551’s definition of 
Total Resource Cost (Societal) perspective as including total costs and total benefits in cost 
effectiveness calculations. The following costs will be included in the societal perspective: 


1. Trust incentives paid to the participant  
2. Trust administrative costs  
3. Monitoring, evaluation and non-incentive costs of PMCs and Energy Trust staff  
4. Oregon and local government  administrative costs associated with incentives 
5. The participants remaining out-of-pocket costs for the installed cost of the measures 


 
The cost of tax credits to the State of Oregon will not be included, because they are considered 
to be a transfer, not a net cost to society. However, to the extent that they are significant, the 
administrative costs of those tax credits will be considered. 
 







R464_Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy  February 13, 2008 


5 


The Energy Trust will include the following benefits: 
1. the value of the electrical and/or gas energy saved based on (1) the Regional Technical 


Forum long-term forecast of wholesale market prices for electricity and (2) the NW 
Natural gas price forecast for gas, as long as it is reasonably consistent with the Regional 
Technical Forum forecast of gas prices for power plant fuel.  


2. non-energy benefits as quantified by a reasonable and practical method and described in 
situations where they cannot practically be quantified  


3. for electricity, bulk system transmission capacity benefits (both line loss and avoided 
transmission construction.  


4. for electricity, transmission and distribution benefits, both line losses and avoided 
Transmission and Distribution construction.  


5. natural gas capacity benefits are of a lesser magnitude and difficult to quantify, so the 
Energy Trust will not quantify them. Natural gas delivery loss benefits are also modest in 
magnitude. Local delivery losses will be considered to the extent that they are included 
in NW Natural price forecasts. Gas transmission losses are difficult to quantify and will 
be described.  


 
In addition, the Energy Trust will apply in its analysis the 10% credit for energy efficiency as 
required under the Northwest Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551. This credit 
recognizes the benefits of conservation in addressing risk and uncertainty. 
 
Both the Power Act and OPUC docket no. UM-551 also suggest consideration of external costs 
such as environmental costs associated with air pollution. The Trust will initially use a credit of 
$15.00 per ton of carbon dioxide and will update that figure as information improves. 
 
Methodology 
 
The following additional decisions have been made about implementation of this policy: 
• For the near-term, the Pro-cost model, using marginal costs from the Aurora model, will be 


used to analyze the costs and savings of efficiency programs. The selection and specifics of 
these tools will be updated as time, resources, and opportunities permit to maximize 
transparency, time-dependent variations in resource value, and reasonableness. 


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will adopt a 3% discount rate for comparing the costs and 
benefits of efficiency investments to other investments.  


• The Energy Trust of Oregon will develop estimates of line losses specific to Oregon based 
on prior utility filings if this provides an improvement over Regional Technical Forum 
estimates, and then update these with better information when it is available. 


 
The Energy Trust of Oregon will investigate the use of data from prior PGE and PacifiCorp 
filings to enhance estimates used by the RTF for avoided transmission and distribution costs 
attributable to efficiency measures. The Energy Trust of Oregon will work over the next several 
months with PGE, PacifiCorp, the NWPPC, and others to improve these estimates. 
 
The economic comparison will be presented as a benefit-to-cost ratio except for the consumer 
perspective that (for reference) will be presented as a two simple payback, one with non-
electric benefits and one without non-electric benefits. The final decision on cost effectiveness 
will be based on the benefit-to-cost ratio for the Societal and Utility System perspectives (must 
pass both if data permits use of both) over the appropriate project period along with 
description and Board consideration of non-quantified costs and benefits. The Energy Trust will 







R464_Amending Cost Effectiveness Policy  February 13, 2008 


6 


also consider other factors in selecting programs, as specified in the various strategic and action 
planning documents of the Energy Trust. 
 
The cost-effectiveness analysis will include impact on the action of customers who do not 
directly participate and long term market effects (e.g., impact on long-term price, sales, or 
efficacy of efficient technologies beyond the direct program participants) for projects where 
such effects are a significant and likely result. 
 
In conclusion, an Energy Trust project should be reviewed from both the Utility system and the 
Societal perspectives, and if the Societal benefit-to-cost ratio is greater than 1.0, it should be 
considered cost effective. 
 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








DEC NOV DEC Change from Change from
2007 2007 2006 Prior Month Prior Year


Current Assets
  Cash* 52,994,983 59,526,472 47,517,666 (6,531,488) 5,477,317
  Program Deposits held in Escrow 12,096,649 12,055,330 6,747,454 41,319 5,349,195
  Receivables 62,208 16,837 51,759 45,372 10,450
  Prepaid Expenses 77,175 227,370 71,500 (150,195) 5,676
  Advances to Vendors 846,327 470,760 1,002,823 375,567 (156,496)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
   Total Current Assets 66,077,343 72,296,768 55,391,202 (6,219,425) 10,686,141


Fixed Assets
  Computer Hardware and Software 885,669 860,748 789,290 24,921 96,379
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                      -                      
  Office Equipment and Furniture 41,323 31,805 70,721 9,518 (29,398)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,040,334 1,005,895 973,353 34,439 66,981
  Less Depreciation (905,274) (898,453) (812,573) (6,820) (92,700)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 135,061 107,442 160,780 27,619 (25,719)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 36,412 -                      (10,412)
  Deferred Compensation Asset 48,151 46,438 24,657 1,713 23,493


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Other Assets 74,151 72,438 61,069 1,713 13,082


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Assets 66,286,555 72,476,648 55,613,051 (6,190,093) 10,673,504


=========== =========== =========== ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 6,492,789 2,188,955 6,071,359 4,303,833 421,430
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 275,553 275,206 230,656 348 44,897
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue -                  -                  5,000 -                      (5,000)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 6,768,342 2,464,161 6,307,015 4,304,181 461,326


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 171,430 172,838 188,318 (1,407) (16,888)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 48,151 46,438 24,657 1,713 23,493
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 12,386 12,386 16,322 -                      (3,936)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 231,967 231,662 229,298 305 2,669


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Liabilities 7,000,309 2,695,823 6,536,313 4,304,486 463,996


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 17,885,860 15,672,845 12,532,824 2,213,015 5,353,036
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 12,096,649 12,055,330 6,747,454 41,319 5,349,195
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE -                  12,500,000 12,500,000 (12,500,000) (12,500,000)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 29,303,736 29,325,964 17,069,774 (22,228) 12,233,963
  Temp. Restricted Net Assets-Beg. of Year -                  226,686 226,686 (226,686) (226,686)


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Net Assets 59,286,246 69,780,825 49,076,738 (10,494,579) 10,209,508


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 66,286,555 72,476,648 55,613,051 (6,190,093) 10,673,504


=========== =========== =========== ============= =============
*Committed to Approved Programs


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2007


(Unaudited)







 January February March April May June July August September October November December Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,935,995$      4,713,766$      3,733,210$      3,257,960$      2,244,730$      767,185$         501,447$         (206,834)$        605,993$         1,170,750$      (20,115)$         (10,494,579)$   10,209,508$       


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 23,338             23,099             23,100             7,501              7,170              9,673              6,766              6,621              5,890              6,063              5,576              6,821              131,618             
Deferred Rent Amortization (1,406)             (1,408)             (1,408)             (1,407)             (1,407)             (1,408)             (1,407)             (1,407)             (1,408)             (1,407)             (1,407)             (1,408)             (16,888)              


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable (2,333)             (11,344)           8,535              (5,843)             9,599              (3,922)             (6,213)             20,528             (3,751)             (16,493)           20,734             (4,375)             5,122                 
Other Receivables 16,967             5,067              (4,871)             (5,500)             972                 2,623              (9,708)             62                   4,036              15,775             -                  (40,996)           (15,572)              
Advances to Vendors 309,115           301,027           (541,037)          224,790           (638,949)          311,239           202,773           345,545           (544,676)          217,904           344,332           (375,567)          156,496             
Other Assets 7,512              5,142              5,914              7,234              (30,582)           3,676              13,861             (478,060)          48,059             6,515              243,489           148,482           (18,758)              
A/P - Program Subcontracts 44,061             (478,910)          65,862             270,423           1,432,136        (611,586)          986,924           741,779           (895,972)          (1,462,943)       (51,908)           948,209           988,075             
A/P - Incentives (3,435,761)       -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  (406,300)          -                  40,000             (40,000)           3,271,013        (571,049)            
A/P - Professional Services (15,222)           16,781             (13,143)           (9,489)             20,644             (28,483)           27,189             (8,497)             (2,022)             (9,578)             (2,793)             (958)                (25,571)              
A/P - Operations (75,882)           31,845             (54)                  18,070             57,697             (66,776)           (22,716)           41,992             (1,508)             3,771              (47,034)           85,569             24,974               
Payroll and related accruals 6,620              27,020             (10,839)           15,311             (6,262)             (3,315)             9,842              (11,155)           (2,795)             22,999             18,905             2,058              68,389               
Other long-term liabilities -                  (2,646)             -                  -                  16,944             1,296              (18,740)           75                   -                  (665)                (200)                -                  (3,936)                


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 813,004           4,629,439        3,265,269        3,779,050        3,112,692        380,202           1,690,018        44,349             (788,153)          (7,308)             469,578           (6,455,730)       10,932,409         


Investing Activites:


Acquisition/(Disposal) of Capital Assets (35,874)           -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  (3,356)             -                  -                  (22,728)           (9,500)             (34,439)           (105,897)            
Cash used in Investing Activities (35,874)           -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  (3,356)             -                  -                  (22,728)           (9,500)             (34,439)           (105,897)            


Cash at beginning of Period 54,265,120      55,042,250      59,671,689      62,936,958      66,716,008      69,828,700      70,208,902      71,895,564      71,939,913      71,151,760      71,121,724      71,581,802      54,265,120         


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 777,130           4,629,439        3,265,269        3,779,050        3,112,692        380,202           1,686,662        44,349             (788,153)          (30,036)           460,078           (6,490,169)       10,826,512         


Cash at end of period 55,042,250$    59,671,689$    62,936,958$    66,716,008$    69,828,700$    70,208,902$    71,895,564$    71,939,913$    71,151,760$    71,121,724$    71,581,802$    65,091,632$    65,091,632$       


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2007







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-06 and 2008-B-02


2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,041,711        7,119,632        6,525,491        5,727,906        5,502,427        4,467,534        4,438,611        4,664,309        4,733,285        4,524,664        4,694,922        5,437,579      


  Investment Income 224,763          198,968          261,255          259,515          283,915          272,704          293,953          310,367          280,557          277,270          279,663          250,524        


Total cash in 6,266,474        7,318,600        6,786,746        5,987,421        5,786,342        4,740,238        4,732,564        4,974,676        5,013,842        4,801,934        4,974,585        5,688,103      


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 799,167          1,280,281        1,674,685        592,812          499,731          1,616,952        220,068          1,077,433        2,514,563        2,653,941        1,121,016        1,700,281      


    Incentives 4,021,536        825,038          1,283,071        1,032,259        1,394,232        1,932,340        2,083,920        3,111,688        2,603,918        1,389,664        2,554,601        9,387,188      


    Salaries and related expense 318,210          331,121          336,260          337,468          354,640          339,038          325,359          350,351          375,272          357,466          362,015          350,057        


    Professional services 146,199          198,709          152,383          201,102          308,139          332,535          321,770          250,599          253,657          263,824          278,123          584,737        


    General operating expenses 204,232          54,012            75,078            44,730            116,908          139,171          94,785            140,256          54,585            167,076          198,752          156,009        


Total cash out 5,489,344        2,689,161        3,521,477        2,208,371        2,673,650        4,360,036        3,045,902        4,930,327        5,801,995        4,831,970        4,514,507        12,178,272    


Net cash flow for the month 777,130          4,629,439        3,265,269        3,779,050        3,112,692        380,202          1,686,662        44,349            (788,153)         (30,036)           460,078          (6,490,169)     


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 54,265,120      55,042,250      59,671,689      62,936,958      66,716,008      69,828,700      70,208,902      71,895,564      71,939,913      71,151,760      71,121,724      71,581,802    


Ending cash & MM 55,042,250      59,671,689      62,936,958      66,716,008      69,828,700      70,208,902      71,895,564      71,939,913      71,151,760      71,121,724      71,581,802      65,091,632    


Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2007 - December 2008
Based on Actual, 2007-F-06 and 20


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
January February March April May June July August September October November December


6,510,957        6,964,634        6,532,790        5,989,955        5,110,125        4,892,367        4,695,038        4,905,005        4,948,356        4,776,640        4,803,275        5,522,022        


215,540          213,491          213,884          211,941          210,363          207,545          203,418          198,423          189,784          179,431          168,710          155,557          


6,726,497        7,178,125        6,746,674        6,201,896        5,320,487        5,099,912        4,898,457        5,103,428        5,138,140        4,956,071        4,971,985        5,677,580        


(194,758)         2,654,960        2,309,261        1,394,889        1,395,289        2,393,307        1,481,977        1,482,177        2,436,822        1,551,140        1,551,140        2,367,914        


6,419,046        3,405,410        3,768,372        4,352,380        2,881,961        2,940,416        3,229,600        4,416,072        4,684,843        5,231,239        5,673,793        6,628,274        


579,165          510,779          510,779          510,779          510,779          510,779          510,779          510,779          510,779          510,779          510,779          510,779          


(312,485)         583,779          485,693          485,693          485,693          582,310          552,360          556,360          563,643          563,643          567,143          547,482          


(37,286)           167,933          157,827          222,394          214,528          214,312          173,166          166,451          186,793          160,456          155,314          150,117          


6,453,682        7,322,861        7,231,933        6,966,136        5,488,250        6,641,124        5,947,881        7,131,838        8,382,880        8,017,257        8,458,169        10,204,566      


272,815          (144,736)         (485,259)         (764,239)         (167,763)         (1,541,212)       (1,049,424)       (2,028,410)       (3,244,740)       (3,061,186)       (3,486,184)       (4,526,986)       


65,091,632      65,364,447      65,219,711      64,734,452      63,970,213      63,802,450      62,261,238      61,211,814      59,183,404      55,938,664      52,877,478      49,391,294      


65,364,447      65,219,711      64,734,452      63,970,213      63,802,450      62,261,238      61,211,814      59,183,404      55,938,664      52,877,478      49,391,294      44,864,308      


Budget 2008-B-02 (no 838)







December YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,807,268 2,356,300 450,968 32,414,944 28,952,915 3,462,029


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,672,629 1,727,266 (54,637) 20,196,049 19,569,605 626,444


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 820,693 803,842 16,850 9,622,649 9,247,863 374,786


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 123,919 111,539 12,381 934,266 889,636 44,631


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 13,070 27,800 (14,730) 160,163 278,000 (117,837)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 5,437,579 5,026,747 410,832 63,328,071 58,938,019 4,390,053


Conservation Rate Credit - PGE -                -                -                550,000 1,100,000 (550,000)


Conservation Rate Credit - Pacificorp -                -                -                -                800,000 (800,000)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Conservation Rate Credit -               -               -               550,000 1,900,000 (1,350,000)


Revenue from Investments 254,898 193,753 61,145 3,188,330 2,325,038 863,292
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 5,692,477 5,220,500 471,977 67,066,401 63,163,057 3,903,345
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 2,231,927 1,890,476 (341,452) 16,482,331 17,101,588 619,257


Incentives 12,918,657 14,019,304 1,100,647 31,556,675 38,362,090 6,805,415


Salaries and Related Expenses 352,114 367,397 15,283 4,205,644 4,423,166 217,522


Professional Services 583,779 508,156 (75,623) 3,266,205 6,189,933 2,923,728


Supplies 3,618 3,354 (264) 27,269 48,750 21,481


Telephone 3,812 6,346 2,533 40,021 76,150 36,129


Postage and Shipping Expenses 787 3,413 2,626 48,436 52,150 3,714


Occupancy Expenses 25,069 25,654 585 357,723 359,882 2,159


Noncapitalized Equipment and Depreciation 32,111 36,606 4,495 295,576 362,594 67,018


Call Center 10,237 20,353 10,116 151,281 225,000 73,719


Printing and Publications 2,308 11,925 9,617 111,542 163,500 51,958


Travel 5,522 15,961 10,439 96,332 203,535 107,203


Conference, Training and Meeting Expenses 9,854 19,138 9,283 119,110 227,480 108,370


Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                1,500 1,500 338 18,050 17,712


Insurance 5,500 5,000 (500) 57,006 60,000 2,994


Miscellaneous Expenses 1,001 2,124 1,124 3,196 24,322 21,126


Dues, Licenses and Fees 760 4,641 3,881 38,201 59,130 20,929


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 16,187,056 16,941,348 754,290 56,856,886 67,957,320 11,100,434


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (10,494,579) (11,720,848) 1,226,267 10,209,515 (4,794,263) 15,003,779
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 39,721,886 8,317,121 48,039,007 -                           48,039,007
Payroll and Related Expenses 934,794 665,108 1,599,902 1,028,865 395,254 1,424,119 3,024,021
Outsourced Services 1,735,393 564,513 2,299,906 236,238 223,966 460,204 2,760,110
Planning and Evaluation 666,563 80,209 746,772 13,829 13,829 760,601
Customer Service Management 315,210 30,775 345,985 -                           345,985


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 43,373,846 9,657,726 53,031,572 1,278,932 619,220 1,898,152 54,929,724


Program Support Costs


Supplies 5,000 3,935 8,935 5,538 3,124 8,662 17,597
Postage and Shipping Expenses 40,947 1,111 42,058 3,462 1,132 4,594 46,652
Telephone 3,765 2,835 6,600 2,701 701 3,402 10,002
Printing and Publications 64,498 8,846 73,344 4,778 26,825 31,603 104,947
Occupancy Expenses 80,534 58,061 138,595 75,151 35,269 110,420 249,015
Insurance 12,834 9,253 22,087 11,976 5,620 17,596 39,683
Equipment 3,180 6,812 9,992 2,967 1,420 4,387 14,379
Travel 31,968 18,714 50,682 24,683 3,798 28,481 79,163
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 25,620 10,979 36,599 58,533 5,515 64,048 100,647
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 250 250 88 88 338
Depreciation & Amortization 6,212 5,825 12,037 5,797 2,721 8,518 20,555
Dues, Licenses and Fees 22,848 1,608 24,456 5,701 4,077 9,778 34,234
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,211 240 1,451 1,048 251 1,299 2,750
IT Services 804,702 134,045 938,747 201,612 66,841 268,453 1,207,200


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,103,319 262,514 1,365,833 404,035 157,294 561,329 1,927,162


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 44,477,165 9,920,240 54,397,405 1,682,967 776,514 2,459,481 56,856,886


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 6.0%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $25,123,961 $15,514,799 $9,622,649 $934,266 $160,163 $51,355,838 $7,290,983 $4,681,250 $11,972,233 $63,328,071
Conservation Rate Credit 550,000 550,000 550,000
Revenue from Investments 3,188,330 3,188,330


------------------- -------------------- ------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------- --------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 25,673,961 15,514,799 9,622,649 934,266 160,163 51,905,838 7,290,983 4,681,250 11,972,233 3,188,330 67,066,401
------------------- -------------------- ------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------- --------------------


EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 4) 1,200,000 839,789 695,987 59,540 22,494 2,817,812 441,297 223,813 665,110 3,482,922
  Program Delivery 5,991,161 4,564,280 1,866,018 175,508 79,717 12,676,684 29,937 81,486 111,423 12,788,107
  Incentives 11,005,944 7,374,141 4,653,307 279,543 38,045 23,350,980 7,218,303 987,392 8,205,695 31,556,675
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 655,606 442,065 302,443 17,987 4,416 1,422,516 66,586 35,611 102,197 1,524,713
  Program Marketing/Outreach 837,611 563,133 937,632 59,199 28,485 2,426,060 183,250 39,427 222,677 2,648,737
  Program Legal Services 5,556 3,770 4,639 250 57 14,272 22,417 4,703 27,120 41,392
  Program Quality Assurance 38,157 25,637 33,640 2,300 734 100,469 0 0 0 100,469
  Outsourced  Services 130,016 59,911 57,723 2,089 102 249,841 204,577 88,153 292,730 542,571
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 114,222 74,840 120,431 5,046 671 315,211 15,518 15,257 30,775 345,986
  IT Services 345,377 228,247 210,089 16,017 4,973 804,702 90,300 43,745 134,045 938,747
  Other Program Expenses 109,482 100,355 70,243 17,924 614 298,618 82,625 45,843 128,468 427,086


------------------- -------------------- ------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------- --------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 20,433,133 14,276,169 8,952,152 635,403 180,308 44,477,165 8,354,808 1,565,432 9,920,240 54,397,405
------------------- -------------------- ------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------- --------------------


ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 3) 632,168 441,681 276,965 19,658 5,578 1,376,051 258,484 48,432 306,916 1,682,967
  Communication & Outreach (Note 2 &3) 312,098 188,601 116,975 11,357 1,947 630,977 88,631 56,906 145,537 776,514


------------------- -------------------- ------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------- --------------------


  Total Administrative Costs 944,266 630,282 393,940 31,015 7,525 2,007,028 347,115 105,338 452,453 2,459,481
------------------- -------------------- ------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------- --------------------


  TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXP. 21,377,399 14,906,451 9,346,092 666,418 187,833 46,484,193 8,701,923 1,670,770 10,372,693 56,856,886
------------------- -------------------- ------------------- -------------- --------------- ------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------- --------------------


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 4,296,562 608,348 276,557 267,848 (27,670) 5,421,645 (1,410,940) 3,010,480 1,599,540 3,188,330 10,209,515
====================== =========== ======== ======== =========== =========== ====================== ========= ===========


Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/06 (Note 5) 11,385,547 (8,445,630) 6,870,551 93,292 117,839 10,021,599 25,517,626 9,189,002 34,706,628 4,348,508 49,076,735
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


====================== =========== ======== ======== =========== =========== ====================== ========= ===========


 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 17,422,109 (6,677,282) 7,147,108 361,140 90,169 18,343,244 24,106,686 13,899,482 38,006,168 2,936,838 59,286,250


Note 1)  Management and General (Administrative) Expenses have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2)  General Communication and Outreach expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on Public Purpose Revenue from each Territory.
Note 3)  Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 4)  Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 5) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2006 has been adjusted to reflect audited results.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program / Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 3,914,753 2,541,232 6,455,985 4,746,928 146,882 4,893,810 11,349,795 13,757,550          2,407,755           
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 3,898,839 2,594,498 6,493,337 2,482,890 402,718 187,833 3,073,441 9,566,778 10,152,336          585,558              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 681,601 513,176 1,194,777 -                         1,194,777 1,108,543           (86,234)               


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Residential 8,495,193     5,648,906     14,144,099     7,229,818     549,600  187,833  7,967,251        22,111,350   25,018,429   2,907,079     


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 2,350,829 1,693,598 4,044,427 1,348,382 75,564 1,423,946 5,468,373 7,984,848           2,516,475           
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 2,825,702 1,335,835 4,161,537 731,476 41,254 772,730 4,934,267 5,564,083           629,816              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 945,530 711,888 1,657,418 -                         1,657,418 1,803,872           146,454              


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Commercial 6,122,061     3,741,321     9,863,382       2,079,858     116,818  -          2,196,676        12,060,058   15,352,803   3,292,745     


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 6,218,782 5,108,631 11,327,413 36,416 36,416 11,363,829 13,947,751          2,583,922           
Market Transformation (NEEA) 541,363 407,593 948,956 -                         948,956 1,059,668           110,712              


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Industrial 6,760,145     5,516,224     12,276,369     36,416          -          -          36,416             12,312,785   15,007,419   2,694,634     


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 21,377,399   14,906,451   36,283,850     9,346,092     666,418  187,833  10,200,343      46,484,193   55,378,651   8,894,458     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 429,736 61,262 490,998 -                         490,998 1,530,096           1,039,098           
Open Solicitation 454,028 90,181 544,209 -                         544,209 2,130,696           1,586,487           
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 1,243,465 1,252,736 2,496,201 -                         2,496,201 3,019,111           522,910              
Utility Scale Projects 6,420,353 13,232 6,433,585 -                         6,433,585 4,542,972           (1,890,613)          
Wind 154,341 253,359 407,700 -                         407,700 1,355,794           948,094              


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 8,701,923     1,670,770     10,372,693     -               -          -          -                   10,372,693   12,578,669   2,205,976     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 30,079,322   16,577,221   46,656,543     9,346,092     666,418  187,833  10,200,343      56,856,886   67,957,320   11,100,434   


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2007







MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH
QUARTER YTD QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


Outsourced Services $43,559 $91,159 $47,600 $206,504 $411,135 $204,631 $43,308 $39,625 ($3,683) $223,966 $239,925 $15,960


Legal Services 5,623 26,460 20,837 29,734 105,840 76,106 960 960 3,840 3,840


Salaries and Related Expenses 266,249 247,919 (18,330) 1,028,866 1,006,075 (22,791) 98,733 86,794 (11,939) 395,253 347,177 (48,076)


Supplies 148 2,762 2,614 895 11,050 10,155 150 150 946 600 (346)


Telephone 332 338 6 1,207 1,350 143 1,500 1,500 6,000 6,000


Postage and Shipping Expenses 780 788 8 2,229 3,150 921 554 650 97 554 13,800 13,247


Noncapitalized Equipment 10,000 10,000 300 300 28 1,200 1,172


Printing and Publications 59 150 92 220 600 380 2,810 1,975 (835) 24,686 32,300 7,614


Travel 3,638 13,525 9,887 24,674 54,100 29,426 2,057 1,625 (432) 3,794 6,500 2,706


Conference, Training & Mtngs 11,461 30,140 18,679 58,527 121,560 63,033 1,620 2,875 1,255 5,512 11,500 5,988


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 4,500 4,500 88 18,050 17,962


Miscellaneous Expenses 667 300 (367) 1,016 1,200 184 150 (150) 236 (236)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 482 1,231 749 4,998 8,365 3,367 689 1,191 503 3,747 4,765 1,018


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 21,664 26,743 5,079 108,568 116,282 7,714 10,588 10,815 227 50,952 47,024 (3,928)


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 59,653 68,172 8,519 201,612 284,898 83,286 19,777 22,601 2,824 66,841 94,453 27,612


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 3,194 4,944 1,750 13,829 19,970 6,141


---------------- ----------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ---------------- ----------------- -------------------- ---------------- ----------------- ---------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 417,508 519,130 101,622 1,682,967 2,173,625 490,658 180,286 171,062 (9,225) 776,514 809,084 32,570
========= ========= =========== ========== ========== =========== ========= ========= =========== ========= ========= ===========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-003


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Three Months and Year to Date Ended December 31, 2007
(Unaudited)







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-
$10,000
$20,000
$30,000
$40,000
$50,000
$60,000
$70,000
$80,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


Dec
em


be
r


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2007


$-
$2,000
$4,000
$6,000
$8,000


$10,000
$12,000
$14,000
$16,000
$18,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


Dec
em


be
r


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s)


Total Revenue Budget
Total Revenue Actual
Total Expenses Budget
Total Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2007


$-


$2,000


$4,000


$6,000


$8,000


$10,000


$12,000


$14,000


$16,000


Ja
nu


ary
Feb


rua
ry


Marc
h


Apri
l


May
Ju


ne Ju
ly


Aug
us


t
Sep


tem
be


r
Octo


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


Dec
em


be
r


(in
 th


ou
sa


nd
s) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2007


$-
$5,000


$10,000
$15,000
$20,000
$25,000
$30,000
$35,000
$40,000
$45,000


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May
Jun


e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


Dec
em


be
r


(i
n 


th
o


us
an


ds
)


Budget


Actual








 
 
Board Decision 
Changing Timing of Funding the Swalley Irrigation 
District Hydropower Project  
February 13, 2008 


Summary 
 
Swalley Irrigation District has asked Energy Trust to pay its $895,609 incentive for this project at 
the time the project begins commercial operation, rather than paying on production over time.  


Background 
 
• In August, 2007, the board agreed to fund the Swalley Irrigation District project, which would 


generate electricity from a 750 kW generator at the end of the 5.1-mile irrigation pipe. 
Swalley plans to install the pipe in an irrigation canal that diverts water from the Deschutes 
River in Bend.  


 
• Under the terms the board approved, Energy Trust would pay the incentive based on 


production over a fifteen year period based on actual generation.  
 
• Recently, Swalley asked if Energy Trust could pay the entire incentive amount at the time the 


project begins commercial operation. The change would reduce the amount of Swalley needs 
to borrow for the project.  


 


Discussion 
 
• Staff finds the proposal reasonable, and has explained to Swalley that it would have to agree 


security arrangements to ensure that Energy Trust is paid back if the project fails to meet 
minimum production levels.  


 
• The change would change only the timing of the incentive payment, not the amount of 


funding. The only financial impact on Energy Trust would be that there would be no interest 
from escrowing the funds. 


 
• The policy committee endorsed the request. 
 
 Recommendation 
 
Approve advance funding for the project by adopting resolution number 467:







Changing Timing of Funding for Swalley Irrigation District (R467)             February 13, 2008 


 


Page 2  


RESOLUTION #467 


APPROVING A CHANGE IN THE TIMING OF FUNDING FOR THE 
SWALLEY IRRIGATION DISTRICT HYDROPOWER PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. In August, 2007, the board agreed to provide $916,386 for the 
Swalley Irrigation District project, which would generate 
electricity from a 750 kW generator at the end of the 5.1-mile 
irrigation pipe. Under the terms the board approved, Energy 
Trust would pay the incentive based on production over a 
fifteen year period based on actual generation. 


2. Swalley has asked if Energy Trust will pay the entire incentive 
amount at the time the project begins commercial operation. 
The change would affect only the timing, not the amount of 
funding. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 
The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the 
Executive Director to amend and execute a contract with the Swalley 
Irrigation District to pay up to $916,386 of the above-market costs of 
the electric generation aspect of this project, consistent with the 
terms approved in August, 2007, with the following change: 


1. Payment of the full incentive may be made upon 
commissioning of the project; and  


2. Swalley must agree to security arrangements to ensure that 
Energy Trust is paid back if the project fails to meet minimum 
production levels.  


 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 
 








R00407 1/25/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 1/25/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 12/31/08 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total:  3,664,248  1,156,710  2,507,539


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  648,925  428,649  220,277


Energy Efficiency Programs


Conservation Services Group, Inc. Home Energy Savings PMC 6/1/05 12/31/07 23,445,804  15,616,081  7,829,724


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/10 19,090,000  9,991,043  9,098,957


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. New Homes and Products - 


PMC


1/1/07 12/31/08 6,316,544  6,658,949 -342,405


Science Applications International 


Corporation


NBE - PMC 1/1/06 12/31/07 6,180,047  6,148,519  31,528


Nexus Energy Software Internet Energy Audit 4/27/04 4/26/08 584,000  544,429  39,571


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 520,000  0  520,000


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 500,000  0  500,000


Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process 


Eval


10/11/07 6/30/09 355,000  39,655  315,345


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/08 300,000  150,000  150,000


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 6/30/09 290,000  92,764  197,236


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/08 261,586  97,639  163,947


Research Into Action, Inc. PE Process & Impact 


Evaluation


8/6/07 4/30/08 220,000  157,735  62,265


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 215,000  0  215,000


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. 5/25/07 2/28/08 210,000  40,479  169,521


ADM Associates, Inc. BE Impact Evaluation 1/26/06 11/30/07 190,000  159,918  30,082


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 8/15/10 137,500  60,228  77,272


J. Hruska Global HES QA Services 2/21/06 12/31/07 100,000  94,788  5,213


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 90,000  48,997  41,003


J. Hruska Global HES QA services 1/1/08 12/31/08 80,000  0  80,000


Opinion Dynamics Corporation ENH Process Evaluation 11/15/06 12/31/07 75,500  75,560 -60


Northern Enterprises, LLC dba 


Sears DS No. 3409


Low Income Refrigerators 7/1/07 11/30/07 74,250  0  74,250


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


6/20/06 6/30/08 74,000  62,400  11,600


Dethman & Associates Global warming & EE report 1/4/08 4/30/08 58,000  0  58,000


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 9/30/08 57,000  4,343  52,657


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 3/31/08 52,300  22,574  29,726


Blue Ocean Events LLC Better Living Show 2008 11/1/07 12/31/08 50,000  3,000  47,000


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


Reg'l Technical Forum Sponsor. 2/28/07 2/27/08 35,000  35,000  0


Catherine Scott Residential contractor 10/8/07 12/31/08 32,000  5,100  26,901


Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 1/31/09 30,000  440  29,560


KEMA Incorporated Change A Light Evaluation 9/1/07 6/30/08 20,000  2,600  17,400


DE Solutions, Inc. Planning Services 11/12/07 10/31/08 20,000  0  20,000


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


4/19/07 6/30/08 17,000  17,000  0


HST&V, LLC Monitor SP Newsprint 


Megaprjct


4/1/07 12/31/07 15,000  4,974  10,026


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2008 Emerging Tech Sponsor 12/12/07 3/31/08 12,000  0  12,000


ECONorthwest New Building services 12/1/07 11/30/08 10,000  0  10,000


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


2007 EE survey sponsorship 3/27/07 3/26/08 5,000  5,000  0


Entercom Portland, LLC Radio Commercials w/PECI 7/15/07 12/15/07 2,750  16,500 -13,750


Energy Efficiency Total:  59,725,281  40,155,713  19,569,568


Joint Programs


Active Telesource, Inc. Call Center Services 5/1/04 4/30/08 1,435,000  654,671  780,329







R00407 1/25/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 1/25/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 12/31/08 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment 2007 8/21/07 3/31/08 93,150  7,777  85,373


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/07 62,000  30,037  31,963


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 56,440  21,561  34,879


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 3/31/08 48,110  11,637  36,473


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/08 42,500  35,425  7,075


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 4/30/08 33,040  33,040  0


Brien Sipe Professional Services 5/1/07 6/30/08 30,000  12,680  17,320


Community Newspapers Inc. 2008 Advertising Contract 1/1/08 12/31/08 19,440  0  19,440


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/07 17,550  9,945  7,606


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/08 15,000  3,704  11,296


Joint Programs Total:  1,852,230  820,477  1,031,753


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 6/18/07 6/30/28 6,000,000  0  6,000,000


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East 9/20/06 7/1/08 4,500,000  0  4,500,000


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 7/21/26 1,685,088  0  1,685,088


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 2/17/25 475,000  0  475,000


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 3/13/28 362,000  0  362,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 2/21/08 341,266  329,772  11,494


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program 10/1/02 9/30/08 235,906  246,773 -10,867


RIMCO, LLC OHSU River Campus 58 kW 


PV


9/1/05 9/1/25 186,910  186,910  0


SmartPower, Inc. Market Research Consultant 6/26/07 1/31/08 103,500  103,500  0


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


Professional Services - RE 5/10/07 4/30/08 90,000  43,825  46,175


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/08 87,700  74,261  13,439


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/1/26 79,815  37,671  42,144


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 3/31/08 58,000  16,125  41,875


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


(5) PGE PV Demo Projects 9/25/06 12/31/07 55,500  44,400  11,100


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 7/14/08 49,600  20,281  29,319


Clean Power Research, LLC Solar PV software/services 9/1/06 8/31/08 40,500  2,929  37,571


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services 4/27/07 4/30/08 40,200  34,200  6,000


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) 7/1/07 6/30/08 38,391  19,195  19,196


Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 7/31/08 37,000  3,100  33,900


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind System 4/28/05 4/28/25 36,117  0  36,117


Hood River County Biomass Feasibility Study 12/27/06 12/14/07 36,000  0  36,000


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School 12/10/04 12/10/29 35,000  0  35,000


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 5/25/27 32,500  0  32,500


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/08 28,200  23,828  4,373


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Anaerobic digester study 10/1/07 11/15/07 25,000  0  25,000


Multnomah Board of County 


Commissioners


Wind Power feasibility study 8/29/07 6/1/08 25,000  0  25,000


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 12/31/22 24,125  0  24,125


Greater Applegate Community 


Development Corporation


Applegate Biopower Feasibility 10/2/06 12/21/07 23,963  0  23,963


Hood River County Hydropower Feasibility Study 1/30/07 2/15/08 22,000  0  22,000


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study 2/15/07 3/1/08 20,000  0  20,000


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/08 19,845  7,355  12,490


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/08 16,900  5,637  11,263


HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 6/30/08 16,619  6,725  9,894


Oregon Cherry Growers, Inc. bio feasibility study 8/28/07 1/15/08 16,188  0  16,188


Compression Engineering 


Corporation


Geothermal generator study 10/17/07 2/29/08 15,000  0  15,000


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/07 15,000  4,984  10,016







R00407 1/25/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 1/25/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 12/31/08 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC Solar services 11/12/07 10/31/08 14,500  683  13,818


David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 5/31/28 13,391  0  13,391


City of Woodburn Woodburn WWTP Feasibility 6/7/07 1/15/08 13,266  0  13,266


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/1/20 13,150  1,070  12,080


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/07 13,000  10,753  2,247


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Transmission Assessment 


Study


11/9/07 12/31/07 10,150  0  10,150


Boise White Paper, LLC bio cogen feasibility study 9/12/07 12/31/07 9,540  0  9,540


Stimson Lumber Company bio cogen feasibility study 9/13/07 2/15/08 9,127  0  9,127


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 5/31/08 8,000  0  8,000


Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 8/31/08 5,600  0  5,600


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund 


MOU


10/4/06 10/31/08 5,000  0  5,000


Evergreen Energy Corporation Renewable energy consultant 12/17/07 12/31/08 5,000  0  5,000


China Hollow, LLC China Hollow 9006 grant 4/2/07 12/31/07 4,400  3,960  440


David W. McClain RETAA 5/11/07 4/30/08 3,125  0  3,125


Sherman County Alley Community Wind Farm 9/4/07 10/31/07 2,500  2,500  0


Sherman County Brown Community Wind Farm 9/4/07 10/31/07 2,500  2,500  0


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 9/30/08 1,590  0  1,590


Advanced Energy Systems, LLC Community Wind contractor 9/25/07 8/31/08 960  960  0


Renewable Energy Total:  15,008,632  1,233,897  13,774,735


 80,899,316  43,795,445  37,103,871Grand Totals:








 
 
Board Decision 
Approving Terms of Funding for the Juniper Ridge 
Hydropower Project  
February 13, 2008 


Summary 
 
Approve basic terms of an agreement providing $1,000,000 in incentive funds for the Central 
Oregon Irrigation District’s Juniper Ridge hydropower project.    


Background 
 


• Central Oregon Irrigation District (COID) proposes to construct the Juniper Ridge 
Hydroelectric Project. The project will have a nameplate capacity of 3.27 megawatts, 
will operate during a 6.5 month irrigation season, and generate 13,435 megawatt-hours 
(MWh) per year.  


 
• The Facility will be installed at the end of an irrigation pipe that COID is installing in its 


Pilot Butte Canal, which runs from Bend north to near Terrebonne, Oregon. The 
project is expected to be completed in April, 2010. 


 
• The piping will eliminate water loss through the canal and restore over 20 cubic feet per 


second of water to the Deschutes River permanently. This water will benefit the river 
habitat and the ESA listed steelhead recently reintroduced downstream from Bend. 
Increased flows will also enhance water quality conditions. 


 
• The total project cost is $22,305,593. Because the piping portion of the project carries 


watershed benefits beyond the ability to generate hydropower, COID has $7 million in 
grants either pending or secured in support of the project from sources including the 
city of Bend and the Oregon Watershed Enhancement Board.  


 
Discussion 
 


• Like the Swalley project, Juniper Ridge is another example of a multi-partner/multi-
benefit hydropower project in a water-challenged part of the state. 


 
• Capital and installation costs for the project are expected to total $22,305,593. A 


$1,000,000 Energy Trust’s incentive would cover 73.8% of the above-market costs of 
the project. At a cost of $653,594 per average megawatt, the project would be the most 
cost-effective hydropower project Energy Trust has funded. 


 







Changing Timing of Funding for Swalley Irrigation District (R466)             February 13, 2008 


 


Page 2 


• Payment of the incentive would be made upon project commissioning or over time 
Energy Trust would take title to the first 75% of the project’s green tags over 20 years. 


 
• The Renewable Advisory Committee endorsed the request. 


 
 Recommendation 
 
Approve funding for the project by adopting resolution number 466: 
 


RESOLUTION #466 


FUNDING FOR THE JUNIPER RIDGE HYDROPOWER PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. Central Oregon Irrigation District proposes to construct the 
Juniper Ridge Hydroelectric Project. The project will have a 
nameplate capacity of 3.27 megawatts, will operate during a 
6.5 month irrigation season, and generate 13,435 megawatt-
hours (MWh) per year. 


2. The piping will eliminate water loss through the canal and 
restore over 20 cubic feet per second of water to the 
Deschutes River, which will benefit the river habitat, ESA-
listed steelhead, and water quality. 


3. At a cost of $653,594 per average megawatt, the project would 
be the most cost-effective hydropower project Energy Trust 
has funded. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 
The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., authorizes the 
Executive Director to amend and execute a contract with the Central 
Oregon Irrigation District (COID) to pay up to $1,000,000 of the 
above-market costs of the electric generation aspect of this project, 
consistent with the following terms: 


1. Payment of the incentive may be made upon commissioning of 
the project or over time. COID will agree to the standard 
Energy Trust security arrangements appropriate for the final 
form of the incentive payment. 


2. Energy Trust will take title to the first 75% of the project’s 
green tags over 20 years. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       







Changing Timing of Funding for Swalley Irrigation District (R466)             February 13, 2008 


 


Page 3 


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated January 8, 2008 
 
Administrative Costs 


• Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 
and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 1/08/2008 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 1/08/2008 


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 







Financial Glossary updated 1/08/2008 


4 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 


to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 
Indirect Costs 


• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 
charges to programs.  


• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 







Financial Glossary updated 1/08/2008 


5 


IT Support Services  
• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 


contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer maintenance and 


general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-


specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 


etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 
Program Marketing/Outreach 


• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 
communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 


• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 







Financial Glossary updated 1/08/2008 


6 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


Ø Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
Ø Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
• Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
• Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric measure 


savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 







Financial Glossary updated 1/08/2008 


7 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 
True Up 


• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 
energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 
 


 
 
 
 


Staff Report 
February 13, 2008 


This report from Margie Harris is on behalf of all staff and spans the period November 26, 2007, 
through January 25, 2008. Items not otherwise addressed in this board packet are described 
here. 


General 
• Renewable programs added 46.9 aMW in new generation in 2007. 
• Preliminary 2007 year-end results show 33.8 average megawatts of electricity saved, 


exceeding our best case goal of 32.8 average megawatts. 
• Preliminary year-end gas savings of 2.2 million annual therms are well above the 


conservative case goal of 1.8 million annual therms and short of the 2.4 million annual 
therm best case goal.  


• Electric spending for the year was ~19% below budget, again demonstrating our ability 
to acquire more electric savings at lower cost.  


• Gas spending was under budget by only 3.2%, suggesting gas savings cost slightly more 
to acquire than anticipated.  


• NW Natural has approached the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission 
(WUTC) with a proposal to decouple their rates from profits. NW Natural is 
interested in potentially engaging a contractor to deliver gas efficiency services in 
Vancouver, Washington and has approached Energy Trust to complete a preliminary 
analysis of this opportunity. Energy Trust plans to enter into a contract with NW 
Natural to analyze the feasibility of providing services in southwest Washington. This 
opportunity is different from what was previously considered for Cascade Natural Gas 
in Washington. 


• We started 2008 with an all-staff work session focused on strategic themes and issues 
related to growth and transition. Four topics were identified for further discussion in 
2008, we expect to feed these into the board strategic planning session in June 2008 and 
ultimately the new strategic plan for 2009-2014:  


1. How to balance innovation and risk, especially in regard to emerging 
technologies and utility integrated resource planning 


2. How do we define and measure success 
3. Whether to expand or diversify services, including for other utilities or in other 


locales 
4. How to strengthen stakeholder relationships and attract new partners to work 


with us on achieving desired results 
• Staff continues to work with the OPUC and WUTC regarding potential opportunities 


to collaborate with California on aggressive new energy efficiency initiatives. The two 
most likely topics to be explored include appliance efficiency standards and zero net 
energy commercial buildings.  


• The Corvallis Energy Challenge will launch March 3 and is the topic of a special 
presentation at the February board meeting. A representative from the Corvallis 
Sustainability Coalition will undergo Home Energy Reviews during the kick-off week.  


• Transition of the Production Efficiency program in house has been completed. Two new 
staff are on board and the contract with Lockheed Martin has ended. 


• The IT team has reorganized, and several positions have transitioned from contractor or 
intern to Energy Trust staff. Recruitment for several other vacant or newly approved 
positions is underway. 







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 2  


• Following the adoption of a new and smaller structure, Margie Harris is now a member 
of the NW Energy Efficiency Alliance board of directors and a member of the strategic 
planning committee. 


• Along with Mike Grainey, Margie spoke about new Oregon energy legislation at the 
BASE Summit. 


• Tom Foley and Margie Harris presented the 3rd Quarter report to the OPUC. 
• The annual performance review process was initiated for all employees. 


Program Planning and Evaluation 
• We are close to agreement with the OPUC and others on a new, higher discount rate 


for cost-effectiveness calculations and avoided costs that approximate rates used by 
utilities when developing their integrated resource plans. Impacts of changes were 
shared with the board policy committee and Conservation Advisory Committee, where 
they received support.  


• Changes to the cost-effectiveness policy will be proposed to incorporate a 5.2% 
discount rate, resulting in an improved benefit/cost ratio for all programs and measures 
with the exception of the benefit/cost ratio for gas-saving measures with lives of 45 and 
70 years, which declines.  


• Attended a BPA-sponsored regional forum to brainstorm options for accelerating 
efficiency in the Northwest, focusing on four prospectuses (net zero energy homes, net 
zero energy commercial buildings, high efficiency appliances, and LED lighting) and 
related to possible collaboration by Oregon and Washington with California’s initiatives 
in these areas. Opportunities to collaborate on regional research and development, 
coordinated incentives and marketing, longer term partnerships with contractors, trade 
allies and customers were also discussed. A series of regional meetings will follow this 
spring to generate common actions.  


• Debbie Kitchin represented Energy Trust at a regional collaboration discussion 
convened by Puget Sound Energy (PSE), where similar topics and opportunities were 
discussed. A matrix describing key areas for coordination will be prepared by PSE and 
will address marketing coordination, staffing/recruitment, demand response and fuel 
choice issues. 


Residential 
• A pilot study of Home Energy Monitors was launched to install a limited number of 


monitors during Home Energy Reviews with another limited number to be made 
available for purchase at a reduced price through the Energy Trust website. The pilot 
project follows the now-completed field test of the reliability and potential usefulness of 
the monitors.  


Commercial and Industrial 
• A cost-effective analyses for new lighting measures and revised lighting measures for 


existing businesses was completed and included reduced wattage T8’s as well as 2’, 3’, 
U-shaped lamps, and various control measures and exit signs at higher incentive levels.  


• Merged multifamily and commercial lighting benefit/cost tools used for screening 
individual opportunities in the field. 







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 3  


NW Alliance Evaluations 
• Commenced work with the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance, the region’s utilities, 


and the Power Planning Council on an update of the regional survey of commercial 
buildings. 


Efficiency Programs 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® New Homes 
• Signed five new builders in December, four of whom have committed to building 100% 


ENERGY STAR homes. A total of 25 new builders signed up in the last quarter of 2007. 
• Launched new tools for the manufactured homes program that led to a 32% increase in 


the number of incentives received over third quarter. 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® Products 
• Wrapped up the Solar 4R Schools contest, which resulted in sales of 2,963 CFL bulbs, 


earning $3,735.50 for the participants. 
• Randomly selected Gladstone High School as the Solar 4R School contest winner, 


resulting in a 1 kilowatt solar electric system and live data kiosk will be installed at the 
school in early 2008. 


• Finalized the fall Change a Light, Change the World twister and specialty CFL 
promotions, resulting in savings of almost 27,000,000 kilowatts (3aMW). 


Home Energy Solutions—Existing Homes 
• Single family project volume hit a record high of 3,777 in December. In addition, 3,606 


Energy Saver Kit requests and 483 Home Energy Reviews resulted from a Pacific Power 
mailing. 


• 964 single family participants used fall promotion or package bonus opportunities to 
install multiple measures in their homes. 


• The multifamily program completed 70 projects, resulting in over 3.5 million kWh and 
over 6,000 therms saved. Administration was successfully transitioned from the City of 
Portland’s Office of Sustainable Development to CSG. 


• Completed the refrigerator pilot with Community Action Program of East Central 
Oregon, the Pendleton area low-income weatherization agency, resulting in the 
replacement of 183 inefficient refrigerators and installation of 1,073 CFLs, saving 
288,053 kWh/year. 


Business Energy Solutions—New Buildings  
• Updated forms and marketing materials for 2008 program changes, including incentive 


cap increases and project streamlining. 
• Contracted with Evergreen Consulting LLC for outreach to lighting contractors in the 


commercial new construction market. 
• Worked with ECONorthwest to develop a financial calculator tool for energy efficiency. 


Business Energy Solutions—Existing Buildings 
• Received a 2008 ENERGY STAR Award for excellence in energy efficiency program 


delivery in the commercial foodservice equipment category. 
• The fifth largest foodservice equipment dealer in the country invited Energy Trust to 


their 2008 national sales rally to train their entire sales staff on energy efficient 
commercial foodservice equipment. 







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 4  


• Continued to coordinate closely with Bonneville Power Administration on efforts in the 
hospitality and foodservice markets. 


• Hosted lighting trade ally seminars the week of January 14 in Portland, Coos Bay, 
Medford and Bend, co-sponsored with the Production Efficiency, New Buildings and 
Multifamily programs, Bonneville Power Administration, local public utility districts, co-
ops and municipal utilities. Attendance at all locations set new records. 


Business Energy Solutions—Production Efficiency 
• The 2008 program incentive budget is 60% committed, with the program pipeline on 


target. 
• Accepted the first of many new trade allies for the small industrial initiative’s 


compressed air measures. Irrigation and dairy equipment vendors will be added as trade 
allies this winter. 


NW Energy Efficiency Alliance 
• Awaiting April 1 start for Oregon’s new residential building code, which will require 


new Oregon homes to achieve roughly the same energy savings as homes with the 
current Northwest ENERGY STAR® label. The progress of the ENERGY STAR Homes 
program was a key factor leading to adoption of the Oregon Residential code change.  


• Recorded 519,342 CFLs sold in Energy Trust territory through the Fall Change A Light 
CFL buy-down program. 


• Supported NORPAC Foods, Inc, one of the region's major food processing plants, in 
implementing a Continuous Energy Improvement strategy, one of several models the 
Alliance uses to encourage development of energy saving strategies in industrial 
operations.  


• Supported the Legacy Health System in finalizing its Strategic Resource Management 
Plan in November; with expectations to achieve a 30% reduction in energy use over 
three years. 


• Through the Oregon Integrated Design Lab, supported design teams planning the new 
State Psychiatric Hospital campus and the OHSU South Waterfront campus. 


Renewable Energy 


Open Solicitation 
• Completed analysis of Central Oregon Irrigation District’s Juniper Ridge hydropower 


project, endorsed by the Renewable Energy Advisory Council at its January meeting. 
• Started planning a March 5 workshop for municipalities in the PGE service territory on 


solar installations and purchasing green power. 
• Completed hydropower scoping studies for Gresham and Sheridan. 
• Initiated solar scoping studies for Lincoln City and Portland Community College. 
• Made presentation to Oregon Tilth conference on organic agriculture.  
• Met with Oregon Department of Corrections to discuss its solar Request for 


Information and offer assistance. 


Utility Scale 
• Bigelow project on line at full capacity of 125.4 MW; $6 million paid to PGE as required 


by the Master Agreement. 
• PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills project was delayed until 2008; completion by June of this 


year is expected. 







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 5  


Wind 
• Completed wind resource reports for the tall towers in Morrow and Umatilla counties.  
• Completed transmission feasibility study in Gilliam County.  


Biopower 
• Launched Dairy Power website, including standard incentive calculator. 
• Received application for 14-megawatt wood cogeneration project. 
• Inspected and approved Rough & Ready wood cogeneration project. 
• Completed six feasibility studies: Stahlbush Island Farms and Oregon Cherry Growers 


(food waste biogas); Applegate Partnership and Hood River County (wood waste and 
forest thinnings); Boise White Paper (wood waste and various); and City of Woodburn 
(sewage treatment biogas). 


Solar 
• With Oregon Department of Energy, delivered a joint update to the solar industry, 


explaining 2008 incentive, tax credit and legislative changes for solar in Oregon. 
• Conducted our solar electric trade ally training via new webinar format with 26 


contractors in attendance. 
• Presented Energy Trust solar installation standards to International Brotherhood of 


Electrical Workers (IBEW) solar electric training class.  
• Received recommendations from market research consultant Smart Power to work 


with banks and offer solar loans and to revise collateral messaging.  
• Participated in a panel discussion about third party ownership models for solar electric 


systems hosted by nwcurrent.com. 
• Established a contract with a new Portland-area solar inspector, Jerry Henderson, to 


perform quality assurance inspections on solar installations. 
• Participated in the City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development interviews for its 


new Solar Program Manager position. 


Communication, Marketing and Outreach 
Center/Customer Service 


• Reviewed and updated RFP for call center services for release in February.  
• Trained call center staff on new promotions. 
• Provided outbound calling support for trade ally renewal for CSG. 
• Participated in two tribal energy events, and began planning for 2008 outreach. 
• Began using Web Trends for web reporting.  
• Contracted with northeast Oregon outreach consultant.  


  







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 6  


Call Volume through December 2007 
  


 
Website 


• Posted new and changed incentives for 2008 for various programs. 
• Posted updated Spanish pages for the clothes washer promotion and new Spanish pages 


for the refrigerator promotion. 
• Created an online solar comment form to be posted at the bottom of each solar web 


page. 
• Posted pages for the new dairy initiative.  
• Posted the 2008 U.S. Department of Agriculture web pages. 
• Put up the new refrigerator promotion including pages on choosing an ENERGY STAR 


qualified refrigerator and how to recycle your old one. 







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 7  


Website Visits through December 2007 


 
  
Trade Ally Initiative  


• Oriented and trained the new trade ally coordinator. 
• Finalized new trade ally agreements.  
• Worked with CSG to establish meeting dates for trade ally renewal training.  
• Held meetings with sector managers and PMC staff to review trade ally processing. 
• Developed and sent out trade ally renewal packets. 


Community Energy 
• Met twice with Corvallis Sustainability Coalition’s subcommittee for the community 


energy project. Brought representatives of solar, biopower and existing buildings 
programs to meet with Corvallis public works staff; reviewed nine areas of potential 
collaboration and identified next steps. Further refined elements of the program and a 
kick-off week plan.  


• Named the community energy effort the "Corvallis Energy Challenge." 
• Attended quarterly meeting of the Sustainability Coalition; signed up 60 homes for 


Home Energy Reviews during kick-off week March 3-8; rewarded these leaders with a 
Kill-a-Watt meter to start saving electricity at home. 


• Hired writer to refine and write a communications plan and materials for the Corvallis 
Energy Challenge.  


Events, Speaking Engagements and Sponsorships 
• Participated in 27 energy/conservation-related events and trainings. 
• Hosted a booth at the Build, Remodel & Landscape Show. 
• Sponsored Green Building Week in association with the Homebuilders Association. 
 







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 8  


Creative Products 
• Created 12 new and resized advertisements: 8 commercial, 2 residential, 1 renewable, 1 


general.  
• Produced and released 3 newsletters: Synergy (general, monthly), Insider (for trade 


allies, bimonthly) and Pit Stop (internal, monthly).  
• Created 3 new case studies representing the Production Efficiency and New Buildings 


programs.  
• Created 1 new fact sheet representing the wind program.  
• Developed a new suite of materials to present 2008 ENERGY STAR Products incentives 


for refrigerators and clothes washers. 


News Releases and Media Events 
• Distributed 3 press releases: $6 million incentive to Biglow Wind project, launch of 


dairy power initiative, and 2008 incentive changes for residential and commercial 
programs. 


• Responded to media inquiries on energy issues. 
• Continued to build a pipeline of stories and press releases for 2007 and 2008. 
• Continued to garner news coverage about Energy Trust programs in local newspapers 


around the state, including Clackamas Review (Multnomah County solar plans, 
Gladstone High Change  A Light award), The Oregonian (Lucky Labrador brewing beer 
with help from solar water heating system), KPIC/Roseburg (Energy Trust participating 
in UCAN Energy Extravaganza), Gresham Outlook (high efficiency clothes washer, 
mention of Energy Trust incentive). 


Utility Co-promotions 
• Cascade Natural Gas: December bill insert on Home Energy Analyzer; December Warm 


Neighbor News article on Bend Rinnai tankless water heating sweepstakes winner; 
January bill insert on energy efficiency opportunities in the new year.  


• Pacific Power: Energy Star clothes washer and dryer sweepstakes with story in Nov/Dec 
Voices newsletter; Coos Bay customer selected as winner in December . 


• PGE: December residential e-newsletter story on Home Energy Analyzer; January 
Marathon electric water promotion with cover story in January Update newsletter; 
collaboration on press releases about Biglow Canyon and new incentives (electric water 
heaters).  


• All utilities: Completed planning for 2008 collaborative communications and promotions. 


Operations, Contracts, Human Resources, Finance and 
Information Technology 


Finance 
• Completed the budget for 2008 and the projection for 2009. 
• Prepared November and December financial statements with preliminary results for 


2007. 
• Completed the end of year incentive process, with an additional $3.3 million paid out in 


the ten days following December 31st. 
• Processed over 2000 incentives at year end.  
• Researched and facilitated early compliance plan for new Oregon Identity Theft 


Protection Act. 







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 9  


• Continued work on the accounting system replacement needs analysis and the option to 
retain Great Plains software. 


• Began preparation of materials for the 2007 financial statement audit, with field work to 
begin February 19, 2008. 


• Developed method for accounting of Renewables project specific costs within the 
existing accounting framework. Included revised chart of accounts for new “project-
specific” expenses related to the Renewable Act. 


• Researched time and attendance software options.  
• Updated energy efficiency reporting. 
• Developed validation tools for processing 2007 1099 forms for mailing January 31st. 
• Continued review of vendor listings and W-9 information for 1099 preparation. 
• Completed recipient portion of Form 1099 preparation for 2007.  
• Monitored weekly incentive imports.  
• Checked on the accuracy of submitted incentive reversals and corrections from PMC. 
• Followed up with participants whose checks are over 6 months old and were not yet 


cashed; began reissuing replacement checks related to this process 
• Prepared new templates including timesheets and other tracking spreadsheets for 2008 
• Set up all new payroll and benefit tracking worksheets for 2008. 
• Implemented new I-9 form. 
• Implemented new fee structure with COBRA vendor. 
• Prepared for implementation of new benefit contract for January 5, 2008 payroll. 
• Began Q4 2007 FastTrack audit. 
• Reconciled 401(k) uploads with Invesmart for Q4 2007. 
• Participated in insurance requirements workshop. 


Human Resources 
• Concluded benefit renewal process and oriented staff to changes. Maintained level of 


service and lowered costs by switching to new dental provider and offering new life and 
disability coverage. 


• Accepted the resignation of Adam Serchuk, senior program manager on the renewables 
team. Adam will begin a new position with wind turbine manufacturer Vestas Americas 
in February, here in Portland. 


• Promoted Aaron Zahler to FastTrack lead position and Karl Whinnery to infrastructure 
lead position in the IT department, with both actions consistent with the Moss Adams 
report and the draft IT strategic plan. 


• Hired Ryan Eubanks from intern to network technician and Steven Jonas from intern to 
help desk technician, again consistent with the Moss Adams report and the draft IT 
strategic plan. 


• Hired Teresa Scott as lead business systems analyst in IT; Teresa’s last position was as a 
senior business systems analyst at Kroger/Fred Meyer, Inc. 


• Hired Bethany Atkins as office assistant/receptionist; Bethany is a recent graduate from 
Pacific Lutheran University with a major in political science and global studies. 


• Hired Lakin Garth as an intern in Planning & Evaluation; Lakin received his bachelor’s 
degree from University of Georgia in business administration and is currently enrolled at 
Portland State University in the masters program studying Economics. 


• Engaged Joe Kraus as part of the University of Oregon Law School’s in-house counsel 
externship program; while in law school Joe co-founded Law Students for Sustainable 
Business, a group devoted to renewable energy and energy efficiency law. Joe spent last 







Staff Report February 13, 2008 


Page 10  


summer in Wisconsin interning at Great Lakes Biofuels, a small research and 
development start-up. 


• Recruiting in Planning & Evaluation for a planning engineer and a market research and 
evaluation analyst. 


• Recruiting in Marketing for a communications and marketing coordinator. 
• Recruiting in Renewables for a renewable energy project manager and a renewable 


energy program manager. 


Legal and Contracts 
• Addressed in other department reports.  


Information Technology 
• As described above, completed reorganization of IT department, creating sub-groups for 


business systems, FastTrack, and infrastructure, each with its own lead. Conversion of 
the database administrator position from contract to employee is pending. 


• Held web forms/application process simplification brainstorming session with 
representatives from all Energy Trust departments and PMCs, leading to designation of 
Aaron Zahler as project manager for the web forms/application process simplification 
project. 


• Prepared draft IT strategic plan, which is currently undergoing internal review and 
editing. 


• Installed and began utilization of Track-it Helpdesk software to automatically create help 
desk tickets from e-mails and route the tickets to the support staff.  


• Conducted annual physical inventory of capital items, computer equipment, and 
furniture. 


• Completed 2008 re-definition of FastTrack measures including updates to contract 
savings realization factors, deployment of new measures for 2008, and closing of 
obsolete 2007 measures. 








 1 


 
 


 
 
Evaluation Committee Report 
January 18, 2008 
 
Evaluation Committee Notes 
 
The Evaluation Committee met on October 19, 2007, with Debbie Kitchin, chair; Alan Meyer, 
board member;  Philipp Degens, Evaluation Manager; Phillip Kelsven, Evaluation Analyst;  Fred 
Gordon Director of Planning and Evaluation; Brien Sipe ; contractor; Matt Braman; Planning 
Analyst; Tom Eckman, Northwest Power and Conservation Council;  Ken Keating,  Evaluation 
Expert. The meeting began at 12:00 PM with an overview of the meeting’s agenda.   
 
Phil Degens presented the billing analysis process that is being developed by Energy Trust.  
Presented and discussed were: 


• Processes used in and outcomes of billing analysis 
• Purpose of billing analysis at Energy Trust 
• Potential issues surrounding billing analysis and ways to resolve them 
• Current  billing data gathering protocols 
• Billing analysis methods: Annualized and pooled data  
• Examples of billing methods using two programs 


 
Staff recommendations: 


• Perform billing analysis on programs/measures that are not included in an evaluation 
• Perform billing analysis to obtain preliminary savings estimates 
• Consider doing long term billing analysis to research persistence of savings 
• In Q2 2008 hire evaluation team to review internal billing analysis protocols and 


processes 
 
Discussion about the study included: 


• Data currently provided by gas and electric utilities 
• Scope of current data collection and planned billing analyses 


 
The Evaluation Committee meeting concluded at 1:40 PM. 
 
The next Evaluation Committee is scheduled for February 22, 2008 from 10:00-1:00. 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 


 








  
 
 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting January 23, 2008 


 
Attending from the Council:            
Steve Bicker, NW Natural 
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Joe Esmonde, IBEW #48 
Charlie Grist, Northwest Power & Conservation Council 
Andrea Jacobs, Office of Sustainable Development  
Don Jones, Jr. Pacific Power 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Karen Meadows, BPA  
Mathew Northway, EWEB 
Stan Price, NEEC 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
   
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Pete Catching 
Christian Conkle 
Diane Ferington 
Fred Gordon 
Danielle Gidding 
Joe Kraus 
Steve Lacey 
Alan Meyer, Board of Directors 
Spencer Moersfelder 
John Reynolds, Board of Directors  
Jan Schaeffer 
Kendall Youngblood 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Verlea Briggs, PGE 
Phil Chang, Central Oregon Intergovernmental Council 
Chad Davis, Sustainable Northwest 
Tom DuBos, Apogee 
Cam Hamilton, McKinstry Co. 
Nick Parsons, Lockheed Martin 
 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions. He reviewed the meeting schedule for 
the year. Eight meetings are scheduled. He reviewed the CAC roster. He noted that bylaws state 
council members are required to attend at least one meeting each year. Members who did not attend 
last year will be dropped from the roster unless they indicate intention to attend and demonstrate 
attendance in the next six months.  
 
2. Preliminary results of 2007 
Steve reviewed results and noted that the programs exceeded the best case electric goal by 3% and 
came in 10% shy of the best case gas goal. He went on to review the individual program savings 
performance. 







CAC Notes – January 23, 2008     


 2


Steve Bicker asked how the conservative and best case goals are defined. Steve said the best case goal is 
the stretch target we shoot for and the conservative goal is 75% of the best case goal.  
 
Andrea asked how the NEEA accomplishments differ from our program achievements. Steve said their 
numbers are the Energy Trust service territory’s share of regional market transformation savings. He 
added that when Energy Trust provides direct measure incentives then the Energy Trust claims the 
savings under the individual funding program. In no case are savings for the same measure or activity are 
claimed by both organizations. 
 
Steve reviewed dollars per therm and average megawatt for each program.  
 
He noted we ended up at 33.8 aMW at a cost of $46.5 million, which works out to be a little less than 
$1.1 million per aMW. This very good performance is largely a function of a very large project, SP 
Newsprint.  
 
Don asked where this puts us on our path to 300 aMW. Steve said he believed this puts us at about 50% 
of the target and that this will be defined in the Q4 report.  
 
Steve reported Pacific Power will add about $8 million to our coffers through SB 838. Their filing was 
approved at an OPUC hearing yesterday.  
 
Karen Meadows noted our costs are low. Steve said they may go up, depending on whether we end up 
with a megaproject in 2008.  
 
Stan asked what the cost per aMW would have been minus the Alliance numbers. Steve asked Pete 
Catching to calculate this.  Later in the meeting Steve reported that the cost, absent Alliance 
contribution, would increase from $1.07M/aMW to 1.24M/aMW. 
 
 
2.  Biofuel efficiency projects  
Steve reviewed the question of whether Energy Trust should fund projects that use biofuels or biogas to 
supplant the thermal load supplied by natural gas or electricity. He defined biofuel as a solid, liquid or gas 
fuel consisting of or derived from living and recently dead biological materials that can be used as fuel for 
heating and industrial production.  
 
He noted issues discussed at the last meeting and invited further discussion, and introduced Chad Davis 
of Sustainable Northwest. This organization, Chad said, is an advocate for rural organizations. He 
supports funding community-scaled thermal applications that use locally derived woody biomass to 
replace natural gas or electricity. He said thermal applications are realistic, tangible and cost effective. 
Their benefits include helping communities become more energy independent, spurring economic 
development and local jobs, improved forest health, increased wildfire resiliency, and net decrease of 
carbon emissions. He noted interest in woody biomass thermal applications.  
 
Phil Chang described his work for the Central Oregon Partnership for Wildfire Prevention. He 
described a proposal to replace one of three gas boilers heating two Crook County schools with a 
wood-fired boiler that would carry 90% of the load and save $80,000/year in energy costs. He described 
Prineville Sawmill Co.’s installation in 2006. He said this is a mothballed sawmill rebuilding its equipment. 
It is using sawmill residue to produce steam in a kiln to dry lumber. He said they are looking at a lot of 
other projects like these. He said there is a big supply of woody biomass available as fuel supply.  
 







CAC Notes – January 23, 2008     


 3


Steve asked if he is talking to Oregon Department of Energy about the school projects. They have public 
purpose funding for schools. Maybe ODOE has wrestled with this issue. Cam Hamilton, McKinstry, 
made a case supporting projects of this type, naming Enterprise School District. Steve asked and Kim 
noted these projects are eligible for the 50% BETC.  
 
John Reynolds asked if Cascade Natural Gas industrial customers pay into the public purpose fund. Steve 
said large volume users that purchase transport gas do not contribute.  
 
Steve Bicker asked about particulates and other emissions. Cam said emissions are relatively small. 
Someone else said combusting woody wastes emit a quarter of the pollutants of conventional fossil fuel.  
 
Steve noted Energy Trust policy has been not to support projects that aren’t served by one of our 
utilities. It is possible for potential projects to offset natural gas use 100% and preclude a gas meter being 
installed. Mat Northway thinks this is a form of fuel switching that might not necessarily be combined 
with energy efficiency improvements and therefore take away funds that should be used to improve the 
efficiency of facilities before undertaking fuel conversion projects. Steve said we might require 
investment in efficiency concurrently.  
 
Alan Meyer asked what benefits from efficiency accrue to natural gas users. Steve Bicker made reference 
to societal benefits. Alan thinks it would not be fair to ask ratepayers to fund a project for which they 
do not get any system benefit enhancements. He also thinks it would not be fair to collect a public 
purpose charge from an entity who is not benefiting from natural gas.  
 
Fred asked if this was a good analogy to self directors, who can tap our incentives at 50% but do not pay 
in. There was discussion on this point.  
 
Steve Bicker said if we are talking about a new plant that might want to get natural gas for domestic hot 
water or backup, his company would have to do a feasibility study. If gas use were only for backup, and 
hot water, the costs to extend a line might not pencil out and the gas company would likely not serve 
them.  
 
Steve said he thinks the group is further along but not near making a decision. Steve Bicker suggested a 
pilot program to see what the issues are. Steve Lacey said he might bring back “rules of engagement” for 
such a pilot next month. If CAC concurs then, he would feel comfortable bringing this to the board.  
 
Joe Esmonde suggested this might be a good idea as an Energy Trust outreach effort to reach small rural 
markets. Don Jones thinks the decision should be made on the merits of the policy rather than as an 
outreach strategy.  
 
Lori Koho suggests Energy Trust should not take on the challenge of a new pilot program when dealing 
with the influx of new funding from SB 838. Fred noted the possibilities extend beyond wood waste to 
other biofuels.  
 
Steve Bicker would like the group to consider how the involvement of NW Natural’s smart power 
biogas program would interact with this pilot.  
 
Stan Price said the projects seem compelling but thought a cost effectiveness analysis would help inform 
the discussion. Karen Meadows agreed.  
 







CAC Notes – January 23, 2008     


 4


Steve said his team will bring this back some analysis and a straw proposal for further discussion to next 
meeting.  
 
 
3. 2008 OPUC performance measures and avoided costs 
Pete Catching noted our avoided costs and discount rate have gotten stale. With the passage of the SB-
838 legislation, which drives efficiency through utility IRPs, the need to use similar criteria to utilities 
made particular sense.  
 
For four months a group of stakeholders including the utilities and the PUC staff have been examining 
how to freshen them up and are close to closure. What is included in avoided cost has changed a little, 
coming closer to assumptions by IOUs. For electricity, we summarize avoided generation value, add in 
value from reducing line and transformer losses in delivering power, add in a small value for deferring 
T&D construction, and multiply the sum of these values by 110% to determine value to the utility 
system. In calculating value to society, that number is increased by hedge value (which was discussed at a 
previous CAC meeting) and non-energy benefits. Answering Karen’s question, he said the value of 
avoided carbon is embedded in the utility avoided costs.  
 
He reviewed analysis of the impacts of new avoided costs and discount rate on net present value for an 
illustrative set of programs. For electricity, with the new avoided costs and the increase of discount rate 
to 5.2%, the net present value of savings is modestly higher for measures with a variety of measure lives 
and load shapes. On a levelized basis, the value of avoided cost is higher with the new assumptions.  
Benefit cost analysis will use the net present value, so B/C ratios for the same measure or program will 
increase modestly. 
 
Pete reviewed gas avoided cost analyses. The steps to building the value of avoided costs are simpler 
because there are no line losses and we haven’t figured out hedge value yet. Since the carbon value is 
not imbedded in the data we received on utility avoided costs, we added it into the societal value. 
 
The net present value of savings and the Levelized value both increase for a range of measure lives and 
load shapes. However, these measures of value go down for measures with 45 and 70 year measure 
lives. This partly reflects the impact of the higher discount rate. It also reflects a decision to assume that 
at the end of the 30 year forecasts from the Power Council, avoided costs will be flat in real terms. We 
previously had trended them up to 75 years, but decided that since nobody knew anything about cost 
trends in that period, a flat projection was a more neutral assumption. The third reason is that we 
haven’t yet been able to compute a gas hedge value. 
 
Fred explained the likely impacts on programs are the reduced value for long-lived measures. Based on a 
preliminary analysis we expect the following impacts of this modest decrease in value: 
1. The cost-effectiveness of the gas Home Energy Solutions Program may go down by about 8%. 
However the B/C of the electric HES program is going up so there is no total drop. 
2. We expect that insulation and windows, the only measures with 45 year measure lives, will still pass. 
3. For the 2009 new home package that is being put together, insulation and windows are the only 
measures with 70 year lives, and there are no measures with 45 year lives. We have not done the 
analysis but it might be slightly more difficult to justify windows and insulation increases as part of this 
package. But because the code already requires quite efficient windows and insulation, these would be a 
modest part of the overall bundle. So if these measures do not pass, it may make is slightly harder to 
develop a package with 15% additional savings over Oregon code, but the amount of savings at stake are 
small. 
 







CAC Notes – January 23, 2008     


 5


Fred said we expect to go the board to propose a change to the higher discount rate. The board had 
wanted to see effects on avoided cost.  If they approve we will revise discount rates and avoided costs 
at the same time. 
 
Alan Meyer said he’s puzzled by the data on levelized electricity showing little effect of higher discount 
rate. Fred explained that the carbon cost is only included in the later years. The shape of the curve of 
avoided costs over time was also different from the old forecast. Pete added that he’s done a number of 
scenarios and sensitivity runs using different shapes of avoided cost streams. Whether it’s smooth or 
bumpy makes a considerable difference. He said going from 3 to 5.2% does not effect a big change when 
other costs are held constant.  
 
Fred explained that the impact of discount rate on Levelized cost is modest because the discount rate is 
used both to get a present value of savings and to reflect the costs penalty for paying up front for 
efficiency. The two uses seem to balance out so that Levelized cost is insensitive to discount rate. He 
emphasized that the decisions about investments are made based on Net Present Value, and Levelized 
cost is a simplified point of reference. 
 
Seeing no objections or concerns, Steve concluded he will bring this forward to the board.  
 
 
4. Online Home Energy Analyzer options 
Christian presented an overview of the two options for the Home Energy Analyzer, the benefits of each 
and the obstacles to switching to a new vendor. ETO recommendation is to switch from Nexus to 
Apogee. 
 
Suzanne asked if we had gotten feedback from customers on the online audit and if there was a 
correlation to incentives. Christian replied that PGE does have user analysis, and said that 714 of about 
7,000 customers went on to complete other measures after completing the online audit, and about 800 
had already completed measures before the online audit. 
 
Don said that they’ve run Nexus in WA and views it purely as a marketing tool. He asked if we put the 
cost in as a marketing expense and yanked the CFLs, would it still float? Steve replied that it is 
categorized as a marketing cost, and that it is used to drive customers to the Existing Homes program. 
Diane affirmed that the cost of Nexus is currently 100% marketing cost in her program. Fred said that 
another benefit is that it provides an alternative for customers who aren’t eligible to get the in-home 
review. Don said that he is wondering about the possibility of lowering costs spent on CFLs due to 
increased sensitivity on the issue. 
 
Karen asked if it was possible to offer a measure of greenhouse gas in the application. Christian 
responded that both options already offer that.  
 
John R voiced the concern that the option with more screens would collect more data and be more 
accurate, and wondered if anyone had compared the two side-by-side. Lauren responded that PGE had 
compared the two side-by-side using the same home model and that they were comparable given that 
most users rely on default answers. 
 
Alan asked about the possibility of giving another incentive instead of CFLs. Christian and Diane have 
talked about that possibility and will continue to think about other options. 
 







CAC Notes – January 23, 2008     


 6


Lori voiced a concern about collecting personal information and turning people off to going further with 
the application. Christian presented numbers of drop-off users at each level. 
 
Charlie asked if there would be a gap during the transition. Christian responded that worst-case there 
would be a short time where the free CFLs are not a part of the offer, but the audit would be available.  
 
Charlie asked if there is a cost to the utilities in transitioning. Steve Bicker said that based on ETO’s 
initial choice to Nexus, they had bought a license for their WA customers and other companion 
applications. Steve Lacey said that there is no cost to utilities for the application or maintenance. Lauren 
commented that there are minor costs for putting it up on the utility websites. 
 
Steve said that if we are happy with the new product, we will continue, and if not we still have Nexus as 
a fall-back. It was asked if there were other comparable competitors, and Christian said that it really 
only came down to these two between all of the options he looked at. 
 
Steve Bicker asked about Apogee’s carbon assumptions for estimating carbon output, and Tom Debos 
responded that they ask for that information from each individual utility. 
 
Steve asked to go around and ask if each person supported. The responses were: 
Charlie--Yes 
Joe--Yes 
Susan--Yes 
Matt Northway--Yes 
Stan—no problem if other parties are ok with it. 
Karen--echoed Stan 
Don--Yes 
Steve Bicker--says NW Natural has reservations due to associated cost 
Andrea--agrees with Stan 
 
5.  Business Energy Solutions program updates (Existing Buildings, Production Efficiency) 
Nick Parsons presented new changes in the existing building program. Emphasis is on changes in lighting 
incentives and discussed the excitement from the Trade Allies surrounding these changes. There was 
discussion on the expensive aspects of controls. Nick believes going up to 15 cents from 12 cents will be 
enough to spur the market. Maintaining minimum energy savings requirement but proposing to increase 
the measure incentive cost cap from 25% to 30% as necessary to spur the market. 
 
Alan asked if it would make more sense to raise cost from 12 cents to 70 cents instead of just changing 
the maximum cap to 30% if we want to give them more money. Roger responded that actual maximum 
project cap is 50%; the 30% is for custom measures only. 
 
Why is there a lower cap on custom projects? Nick responded that the generic measures are easier to 
sell, and the prescription incentives are more involved and require more work. Roger says the general 
feedback is that if we raise the cost just a bit, we will see more projects coming in. We are ramping up 
slightly but do not want to oversell the program. 
 
Alan is concerned that with the raised cents per kWh will just mean hitting the cap sooner.  
 
Many people needed clarification on the new incentives and caps. There were many questions on 
specifics about measures and savings requirements. Lauren said that it is important to explain what is 







CAC Notes – January 23, 2008     


 7


happening with marketing as well as within the program incentives to paint the bigger picture more 
clearly for the people present in the room. 
 
Karen commented that she is supportive of anything that helps synchronize incentives for the trade 
allies. Fred said that it is still very cost-effective even with the change. Steve pointed out that it is also 
defensive to keep trade allies from going to other service territories that have more attractive 
incentives. 
 
Joe asked if the program was targeting specific parts of the market? Nick responded that the lighting 
program is trade ally driven and it’s dependent on the trade allies and the markets they the serve. 
  
Steve asked if there was any objection to making these changes in March. There were no objections. 
 
6. Existing Homes program update  
This item was put off until next month. 
 
The next meeting will be February 20th.  
 





